## Ontogeny of Rat CYP2E1 and CYP1A2: A Characterization and a Pharmacokinetic Model

A Thesis

Submitted to the College of Graduate Studies and Research In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the Division of Pharmacy, College of Pharmacy and Nutrition University of Saskatchewan Saskatoon

> By Fawzy Ahmed Elbarbry

© Copyright Fawzy Elbarbry, August 2006. All rights reserved.

#### **PERMISSION TO USE**

In presenting this thesis in partial fulfillment of the requirements for a Postgraduate degree from the University of Saskatchewan, I agree that the Libraries of this University may make it freely available for inspection. I further agree that permission for copying of this thesis in any manner, in whole or in part, for scholarly purposes may be granted by the professor or professors who supervised my thesis work or, in their absence, by the Head of the Department or the Dean of the College in which my thesis work was done. It is understood that any copying or publication or use of this thesis or parts thereof for financial gain shall not be allowed without my written permission. It is also understood that due recognition shall be given to me and to the University of Saskatchewan in any scholarly use which may be made of any material in my thesis.

Requests for permission to copy or to make other use of material in this thesis in whole or part should be addressed to:

Head of the Department of Pharmacy University of Saskatchewan Saskatoon, Saskatchewan (S7N5C9)

#### ABSTRACT

Infantile exposure to xenobiotics, e.g. from breastfeeding, poses a serious toxicity risk. Since the toxicokinetic mechanisms that principally determine exposure outcomes undergo a significant developmental maturation, infants may respond to exposures in a different way than adults. Hence, suitable model systems are required to provide risk relevant information in pediatric populations. This dissertation's primary goal was to provide a critical evaluation of two such model systems; first, a pharmacokinetic model that may predict an infant's capacity to eliminate toxicants by cytochrome P-450 (CYP) mechanisms and second, the developing rat as a model of human CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 ontogeny.

The first objective was to evaluate underlying assumptions of a pharmacokinetic model that describes the ontogeny of hepatic CYP activity using the rat. The study recognized some discrepancies with the stated assumptions. The impact of these discrepancies on the potential applicability of the model is discussed. As proof-of-concept, the observed data were fit to a model describing rat CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 ontogeny. A reasonable correlation (r = 0.75) was observed between observed and predicted oral clearance values of a CYP2E1 substrate indicating the potential applicability of such a model in risk assessment.

The second objective was to conduct an extensive characterization of rat hepatic CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 ontogeny at mRNA, protein, activity and intrahepatic expression levels. The results were compared to available human data to determine the appropriateness of the rat for assessment of toxicokinetic mechanisms underlying age-dependent differences in susceptibility to toxicity. Similarities in age-dependent changes in mRNA, activity and zonal hepatic expression patterns were noted between the rat and human prior to weaning. Unlike human data, rats show good correlation between changes in CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 activity and transcript levels, but not with the immunoquantifiable protein. Recognizing such similarities and differences between rats and human regarding onset, rate and pattern of CYP ontogeny will

ii

improve the accuracy of rat-to-human extrapolation of developmental toxicokinetic data.

Overall, the dissertation research provides mounting and supportive evidence for the use of such model systems in providing risk-relevant information in pediatric populations and to identify toxicokinetic mechanisms underlying age-dependent differences in susceptibility to toxicity.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Initially I would like to thank my supervisor (Dr. Jane Alcorn) for her excellent guidance and supervision throughout my graduate program. I equally thank the members of my advisory committee, Drs. Krol E., Olkowski A., Janz D., and Zello G. for their helpful instructions and advices. I am grateful to the staff at the animal resource center (ARC) for providing rats and teaching me the various techniques of surgery, canulation, oral dosing and blood collection. I am also indebted to the fellow graduate students at the College of Pharmacy and Nutrition who supported me throughout my PhD program. In particular, I express gratitude to Jennifer, Erica, Erin, Brian and Sam for their support and fruitful scientific, political and social discussions. Thanks to all summer students who gave me the opportunity to teach them, and also learn from them.

I can not forget the significant role that my small family in Canada played in this achievement. My wife (Nehad) and my son (Moaaz) were encouraging me all the time and tried their best to create a suitable place for me to think, read and write. I express my gratitude to my parents in Egypt who raised me and fostered me with the skills I need to achieve this success.

I acknowledge the research funding from Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council (NSERC), Pfizer Canada and University of Saskatchewan. This study would not have been possible without such funding.

iv

#### PUBLISHED AND SUBMITTED MATERIALS

A modified version of Section 3.2.4 along with Section 4.1.2.2 has been previously published:

**Elbarbry F**, Wilby K and Alcorn J. Validation of a liquid chromatographic assay of *p*-nitrophenol hydroxylase activity in rat hepatic microsomes: a marker for cytochrome P450 2E1 activity, *J Chromatogr. B. 2006.* 834 (1-2) 199-203.

Modified versions of this dissertation have been presented in abstract forms:
Elbarbry F, Alcorn J. Validating the Assumptions of an Ontogeny Model of Hepatic CYP2E1 and CYP1A2-mediated Drug Clearance. Society of Toxicology in Canada (STC), 38th Annual Symposium, Montreal, Quebec. Dec 5-6, 2005.

**Elbarbry F**, Alcorn J. Validating the Assumptions of an Ontogeny Model of Hepatic CYP2E1 and CYP1A2-mediated Drug Clearance. **The Canadian Society for Pharmaceutical Sciences (CSPS), 8th Annual Symposium,** Toronto, ON. May 29-June 2, 2005.

**Elbarbry F**, Alcorn J. Validating the Assumptions of an Ontogeny Model of Hepatic Drug Clearance Mechanisms. 7<sup>th</sup> International ISSX Meeting, Vancouver, BC. Aug 29-Sept 2, 2004

**Elbarbry F**, Alcorn J. Maturation of Cytochrome P450 2E1 and Glutathione-S-Transferases. **Association of Faculties of Pharmacy of Canada (AFPC) Conference**, Vancouver, BC. June 10 – 12, 2004.

**Elbarbry F**, Alcorn J. Maturation of Cytochrome P450 2E1 and Glutathione-S-Transferases. Poster presented at **the 10<sup>th</sup> Annual Life Science Research Day**, Saskatoon, SK. May 15-16, 2003 A modified version of Sections 3.2.3, 3.2.7, 3.2.8, 3.2.9 has been submitted for publication:

**Elbarbry F**, McNamara P and Alcorn J. Ontogeny of CYP1A2 and CYP2E1 Expression in Rat Livers. (Submitted to *Toxicol. Sciences*).

A modified version of Section 4.1 is in process for submission:

Alcorn J., **Elbarbry F** and McNamara P. Evaluation of the Assumptions of an Ontogeny Model of Hepatic Cytochrome P450 using CYP2E1 and CYP1A2. (will be submitted to *Drug Metabolism and Disposition*).

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

PERMISSION TO USE	i
ABSTRACT	ii
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	iv
PUBLISHED AND SUBMITTED MATERIALS	v
TABLE OF CONTENTS	vii
LIST OF TABLES	xiv
LIST OF FIGURES	XV
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS, SYMBOLS AND ACRONYMS	xviii
1. LITERATURE REVIEW	1
I. INTRODUCTION	1
II. BACKGROUND	3
1. Breastfeeding and Infant Exposure to Chemicals	3
1.1 Breastfeeding and its benefits	3
1.2 Infant Exposure to Drugs and Chemicals in Breast Milk	4
1.3 Assessment of Infant Exposure Risk	7
1.3.1 Duration of Exposure (Acute versus Chronic)	7
1.3.2 Milk to Serum (M/S) Ratio	8
1.3.3 Infant Dose as a Percentage of Absolute Maternal Dose	9
1.3.4 Infant Steady State Serum Concentration (C <sub>SS,Inf</sub> )	10
1.3.5 Exposure Index Related to Maternal Concentration (EI $_{(con.)}$ )	13
2. Infant Systemic Clearance as a Determinant of C <sub>SS,Inf</sub>	14
2.1 Hepatic Clearance (Cl <sub>H</sub> )	14
2.1.1 Hepatic Blood Flow	15
2.1.2 Plasma Protein Binding	16

2.1.3 Hepatic Biotransformation	17
2.1.3.1 Ontogeny of Hepatic CYP Enzymes	19
2.1.3.1.1 Human CYP Enzymes	19
2.1.3.1.2 Rat CYP Enzymes	21
2.1.3.1.3 CYP2E1 Enzyme	23
2.1.3.1.4 CYP1A2 Enzyme	25
2.1.3.2 Ontogeny of Phase II Enzymes	28
2.1.3.2.1 Glucuronide Conjugation	28
2.1.3.2.2 Sulfate Conjugation	29
2.1.3.2.3 N-acetylation	29
2.1.3.2.4 Glutathione-S-Transferases (GST)	30
3. Relevance of CYP Ontogeny to Developmental Toxicity	32
4. Methods Used to Study the Ontogeny of Hepatic Drug Metabolizing Enzymes	33
4.1 In Vivo Approach	34
4.2 In Vitro Approach	34
4.2.1 mRNA Expression Level	35
4.2.2 Protein Expression Level	35
4.2.3 Catalytic Enzyme Activity	36
5. Developmental Changes in Zonal Expression of CYP Enzymes	37
6. Approaches to Predict Hepatic Clearance	37
6.1 Prediction from <i>In Vitro</i> Data	37
6.2 Allometric Scaling	38
6.3 Physiologically-Based Pharmacokinetic (PBPK) Models	40
	_

7. Development of a Pharmacokinetic Model of Hepatic CYP-Mediated Elimination...41

8. Use of Rats as an Animal Model in Studying CYP Ontogeny	42
9. Relevance of the Project to Paediatric Health and Developmental Toxicology	44
2. PURPOSE OF THE PROJECT	46
3. MATERIALS AND METHODS	49
3.1 Materials	49
3.1.1 Animals	49
3.1.2 Chemicals and Reagents	50
3.2 Methods	50
3.2.1 Preparation of Hepatic Microsomes and Cytosols	50
3.2.2 Determination of Microsomal and Cytosolic Protein Content	51
3.2.3 Microsomal Incubation with CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 Probe Substrates	51
3.2.3.1 CZX hydroxylation activity	53
3.2.3.2 PNP hydroxylation activity	53
3.2.3.3 Methoxyresorufin-O-dealkylase (MROD) activity	53
3.2.3.4 Phenacetin-O-dealkylase (POD) activity	54
3.2.4 HPLC Analyses	54
3.2.4.1 CZX hydroxylation activity	55
3.2.4.2 PNP hydroxylation activity	56
3.2.4.3 Methoxyresorufin-O-dealkylase (MROD) activity	57
3.2.4.4 Phenacetin-O-dealkylase (POD) activity	57
3.2.5 Measurement of General Glutathione-S-Transferases (GST) Activity	58
3.2.6 Age-Dependent Scaling Factors and Model Development	59
3.2.7 Protein Expression Analyses	60
3.2.8 mRNA Expression Analyses	61
3.2.8.1 RNA isolation	61
3.2.8.2 Primer design	61

3.2.8.3 Real-Time RT-PCR	62
3.2.9 Immunohistochemical Analyses	63
3.2.10 Oral Clearance Study with Chlorzoxazone	64
3.2.10.1 Animals	64
3.2.10.2 Study design	65
3.2.10.3 HPLC assay of CZX	66
3.2.11 Kinetic and Statistical Analyses	67
4. RESULTS	68
4.1 Validation of the Assumptions of a CYP Model of Ontogeny	68
4.1.1 Age-Dependent Changes in Hepatic Scaling Factors (HSF)	68
4.1.1.1 Total Body and Liver Weights	68
4.1.1.2 Hepatic Microsomal Protein Content	69
4.1.1.3 Hepatic Scaling Factor (HSF)	70
4.1.1.4 Age-Dependent Changes in Total CYP Protein Content	71
4.1.2 Enzyme Kinetic Studies in Rat Hepatic Microsomes	72
4.1.2.1 Assessment of the Optimum Incubation Conditions	72
4.1.2.2 Validation of the HPLC Methods	73
4.1.2.3 Developmental Changes in K <sub>M</sub> Value	75
4.1.2.4 Developmental Changes in V <sub>max</sub> Value	77
4.1.2.5 Developmental Changes in $V_{max}$ Value Using a Second Probe Substitution	rate
	78
4.1.2.6 Correlation between Age-Dependent Changes in Catalytic CYP Act	ivity
and Immunoreactive Protein Levels	82
4.1.2.7 Eadie-Hofstee Plots	84
4.2 Development of an Ontogeny Model of CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 Enzymes in	Rats.
	85
4.2.1 Developmental Maturation of CYP Activity	85

4.2.1.1 Age-Specific Infant Scaling Factors	85
4.2.1.2 Model Development	87
4.2.1.3 Model Selection	87
4.2.2 Age-Dependent Changes in Chlorzoxazone Oral Clearance in Rats	90
4.3. Characterization of the Ontogeny of CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 in Rats	94
4.3.1 Ontogeny of Rat Hepatic CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 mRNA	94
4.3.1.1 Optimization of Real-Time RT-PCR Conditions	94
4.3.1.2 Age-Dependent Changes in mRNA Expression of Rat Hepatic CYP2	E1
and CYP1A2	94
4.3.2 Ontogeny of Rat Hepatic CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 Protein Expression	95
4.3.3 Ontogeny of Rat Hepatic CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 Activity	97
4.3.4 Correlation between Different Ontogeny Patterns of CYP2E1 and CYP1	A2
Enzymes in Rats	98
4.3.4.1 CYP Immunoreactive Protein and its mRNA Level	98
4.3.4.2 CYP Immunoreactive Protein and its Catalytic activity	98
4.3.4.3 CYP mRNA and its Catalytic Activity	98
4.3.5 Ontogeny of Zonal Expression of Rat Hepatic CYP2E1 and CYP1A2	
Activity	. 101
4.3.6 Ontogeny of Rat Hepatic Glutathione-S-Transferases (GST) Activity	104
4.3.6.1 Age-Dependent Changes in Cytosolic Protein Content	. 105
4.3.6.2 Age-Dependent Changes in Total Cytosolic GST Activity	. 105
5. DISCUSSION	106

5.1 Evaluation of the Assumptions of an Ontogeny Model of CYP Enzy	me Activity
Model	
5.1.1 Development and Relevance of the Model	
5.1.2 Developmental Changes in Hepatic Scaling Factors (HSF)	
5.1.2.1 Developmental Changes in Microsomal Protein (MP) Conten	nt in Rat
Livers	
5.1.2.2 Developmental Changes in Rat Liver Wight (LW) and Body	Weight
(BW)	
5.1.2.3 Consequences on the Model	110
5.1.3 Developmental Changes in Metabolic Intrinsic Clearance (Cl <sub>int</sub> )	110
5.1.3.1 Developmental Changes in Substrate Affinity (K <sub>M</sub> )	111
5.1.3.1.1 Inefficient probe substrate specificity	112
5.1.3.1.2 Non-specific protein binding in hepatic microsomes	
5.1.3.1.3 Microsomal Membrane Composition	
5.1.3.2 Developmental Changes in Functional Enzyme Activity ( $V_m$	ax) and
Correlation to Functional CYP Protein	
5.1.3.3 Consequences on the Model	118
5.1.4 Correlation between CYP Enzyme Activity Levels Determined	Using Two
Probe Substrates	119
5.1.5 Conclusion	119
5.2 Development of a Pharmacokinetic Model of Rat CYP2E1 and CYF	°1A2 120
5.3 Characterization of Rat CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 Ontogeny	
5.3.1 Ontogeny of mRNA Expression	
5.3.1.1 CYP2E1	
5.3.1.2 CYP1A2	
5.3.2 Ontogeny of immunochemical CYP Protein Expression	

5.3.2.1 CYP2E1	
5.3.2.2 CYP1A2	
5.3.3 Ontogeny of Catalytic CYP Enzyme Activity	131
5.3.3.1 CYP2E1	132
5.3.3.2 CYP1A2	132
5.3.4 Correlation between the CYP Ontogeny Profiles in Rats	133
5.3.5 Ontogeny of Zonal Expression of CYP2E1 and CYP1A2	
5.3.6 Toxicological Relevance of Characterization of CYP Ontogeny	135
5.4 Characterization of the Ontogeny of Cytosolic GST Enzymes	137
5.5 Conclusion and General Remarks	
6. REFERENCES	142
APPENDIX I	

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1 Example of maternally-administered medications that my have possible effective	ects
on the nursing infant.	5
<b>Table 1.2</b> Examples of substrates metabolized/bioactivated by CYP2E1	.24
Table 1.3 Examples of substrates metabolized/bioactivated by CYP1A2	.27
Table 1.4 Human GST isozymes.	. 31
Table 3.1 Selected enzymatic reactions mediated by CYP2E1 and CYP1A2	. 52
<b>Table 3.2</b> Primer sequences and amplicon sizes for real-time RT-PCR analysis	. 62
Table 3.3 General real-time RT-PCR protocol	. 62
Table 3.4 Sizes of feeding and blood sampling needles used in CZX in vivo oral	
clearance study	. 65
<b>Table 4.1</b> Age-dependent Changes in mean ( $\pm$ SD) body and liver weights for male	
Sprague-Dawley rats	. 68
Table 4.2 Results of preliminary experiments in male rat hepatic microsomes to asses	S
optimum incubation conditions	.73
<b>Table 4.3</b> Method validation parameters for the HPLC assays	.73
<b>Table 4.4</b> Age-specific infant scaling factor estimates for CYP2E1 and CYP1A2	. 80
<b>Table 4.5</b> Parameter estimates for the predictive models of CYP2E1 and CYP1A2-	
mediated hepatic clearance in rats	. 88
Table 4.6 Pharmacokinetic parameter estimates following a 30 mg/kg oral dose of CZ	ĽΧ
to male Sprague-Dawley rats at different developmental ages	. 92
<b>Table 4.7</b> Optimal annealing temperatures and standard curve ranges for CYP2E1,	
<i>CYP1A2</i> and $\beta$ -actin genes for real-time RT-PCR analysis	. 94

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1	Interrelationship between factors affecting infant exposure to drugs in breast
	milk and the resulting pharmacological/toxicological response
Figure 1.2	Average level of cytochrome P450 (CYP) enzyme content of adult human
	liver microsomes and the estimation of the contribution of individual CYP
	enzymes in the metabolism of drugs currently available on the market20
Figure 1.3	Strategy for extrapolation of in vitro intrinsic clearance to in vivo hepatic
	metabolic clearance
Figure 3.1	Glutathione-S-Transferases (GST)-mediated conjugation of 1-chloro-2,4-
	dinitrochlorobenzene (CDNB) with glutathione (GSH)
Figure 4.1	Wet liver weight (g) normalized to total body weight (g) in male Sprague-
	Dawely rats
Figure 4.2	Mean ( $\pm$ SD) hepatic microsomal protein content in male Sprague-Dawley
	rats
Figure 4.3	Mean (± SD) hepatic scaling factor (mg/g body weight) in male Sprague-
	Dawley rats
Figure 4.4	Mean (± SD) total hepatic microsomal CYP protein content (nmol/mg
	misrosomal protein) in male Sprague-Dawley rats72
Figure 4.5	Representative HPLC chromatograms of rat hepatic microsomes after
	incubation with A) chlorzoxazone, B) ρ-nitrophenol74
Figure 4.6	Representative HPLC chromatograms of rat hepatic microsomes after
	incubation with A) methoxyresorufin and B) phenacetin
Figure 4.7	Michaelis-Menten constant (K <sub>M</sub> ) estimates for CYP2E1-mediated
	chlorzoxazone hydroxylase activity (A) and CYP1A2-mediated
	methoxyresorufin-O-dealkylation (MROD) activity (B)76
Figure 4.8	$V_{max}$ estimates for CYP2E1-mediated chlorzoxazone hydroxylase activity (A)
	and CYP1A2-mediated methoxyresorufin-O-dealkylase activity (B) as a
	function of developmental age in male Sprague-Dawley rat
Figure 4.9	$V_{max}$ estimates for CYP2E1-mediated PNP hydroxylase activity (A) and
	CYP1A2-mediated POD activity (B) as a function of developmental age in
	male Sprague-Dawley rat

Figure 4.10 Correlation between infant scaling factor estimates for (A) $\rho$ -nitrophenol as
a function of chlorzoxazone ( $r = 0.80$ ); (B) Phenacetin as a function of
methoxyresorufin (r = $0.89$ )
Figure 4.11 Age-dependent changes in enzyme activity (open circle) as a function of its
immunoreactive CYP protein levels (closed circle) in rat hepatic microsomes
Figure 4.12 Eadie-Hofstee plots of CZX hydroxylation catalyzed by rat hepatic
microsomes from different ages
Figure 4.13 Eadie-Hofstee plots of MROD activity catalyzed by rat hepatic microsomes
from different ages
Figure 4.14 Infant scaling factors (ISF) as a function of age for CYP2E1 and CYP1A2.
Figure 4.15 Plot output of calculated and observed ISF data versus age using the model
given in equation 4.1 for CYP2E1 (A) and CYP1A2 (B)
Figure 4.16 Mean ±SD serum concentration versus time curves of chlorzoxazone after
30 mg/kg oral dose in male Sprague Dawley rats ( $n = 4$ ) at different
developmental ages
Figure 4.17 Age-related correspondence between calculated and observed CZX oral
clearance (Cl/F) values (A) and plot output of calculated versus observed
CZX Cl/F data using CYP2E1 ontogeny model
Figure 4.18 Age-related variations in rat hepatic CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 mRNA
expression levels
<b>Figure 4.19</b> Immunoblots of age-dependent rat hepatic microsomes and rat CYP2E1
purified protein
<b>Figure 4.20</b> Immunoblots of age-dependent rat hepatic microsomes and rat CYP1A2
purified protein
Figure 4.21 Age-related changes in rat hepatic CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 protein
expression
<b>Figure 4.22</b> Developmental changes in expression of (A) CYP2E1 and (B) CYP1A2
mRNA, protein and activity levels in rat livers

Figure 4.23 Age-dependent changes in CYP enzyme activity (open circle) as a function
of mRNA levels (closed circle) in rat hepatic microsomes
Figure 4.24 Immunohistochemical localization of CYP2E1 in representative rat livers
Figure 4.25 Immunohistochemical localization of CYP1A2 in representative rat livers
Figure 4.26 Mean ( $\pm$ SD) hepatic cytosolic protein content in male Sprague-Dawley rats.
Figure 4.27 Age-related changes in hepatic cytosolic GST activity in rats
Figure 5.1 Calculation of a human equivalent exposure dose from laboratory animal
toxicity data

## LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS, SYMBOLS AND ACRONYMS

±	plus or minus
°C	degree Celsius
AAG	alpha <sub>1</sub> -acid glycoprotein
ADME	Absorption, distribution, metabolism and elimination
AhR	aryl hydrocarbon receptor
AIC	akaike information criterion
$AUC_{\infty}$	area under the serum concentration-time curve
ARNT	aryl hydrocarbon receptor nuclear translocator
BW	body weight
BrW	brain weight
CAR	constitutive androstane receptor
CDNB	1-chloro-2,4 dinitrochlorobenzene
CI	confidence interval
Cl/F	oral clearance
Cl <sub>H</sub>	hepatic clearance
Cl <sub>int</sub>	intrinsic clearance
Cl <sub>S,Inf</sub>	infant systemic clearance
Cl <sub>S, Mat</sub>	maternal systemic clearance
	maximum serum concentration
	infant steady state serum concentration
Css <sub>,Mat</sub>	maternal steady state serum concentration
СҮР	cytochrome P450
CZX	chlorzoxazone
DAB	3,3 <sup>°</sup> diaminobenzidine hydrochloride
DME	drug metabolizing enzymes
Dose <sub>Inf</sub>	drug dose given to the infant
EDTA	ethylenediamine tetra acetate
EI <sub>(Conc)</sub>	exposure index related to maternal serum concentration
EI <sub>(Dose)</sub>	exposure index related to maternal dose
E <sub>H</sub>	hepatic extraction ratio
ËPA	US environment protection agency
ER	endoplasmic reticulum
EROD	ethoxyresorufin dealkylase
F	bioavailability
FDA	US Food and Drug Administration
FFA	free fatty acids
4-NC	p-nitrocatechol
f.,	fraction of the drug unbound in plasma
GH	growth hormone
GIT	gastrointestinal tract
GSH	glutathione
USII	giulannone

GST	glutathione-S-transferases
HAAs	heterocyclic aromatic amine
HC	Health Canada
HNF	hepatocyte nuclear factor
HPLC	High Pressure Liquid Chromatography
HSF	hepatic scaling factor
IHC	immunohistochemistry
ISF	infant scaling factor
ISF <sub>D</sub>	a fitted parameter for the model equation
IV	intravenous
k	first-order rate constant
K <sub>M</sub>	Michaelis-Menten constant
$\lambda_z$	terminal elimination rate constant
LOD	limit of detection
LOQ	limit of quantitation
LW	liver weight
MC	3-methylcholanthrene
MeIQx	2-amino-3,8-dimethylimidazole[4.5]quinoxaline
mg	milligram(s)
min	minute(s)
μL	microliter(s)
mL	milliliter(s)
μm	micrometer(s)
mm	millimeter(s)
mM	millimole(s) per liter
MLP	maximum lifespan potential
MP	microsomal protein
MR	methoxyresorufin
MROD	methoxyresorufin-O-dealkylase
(M/S)	milk to serum ratio
NADPH	nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (reduced)
NAPOI	N-acetyl-p-benzoguinoneimine
NAT	N-acetyl transferases
NF	nuclear factor
nM	nanomole(s) per liter
NSAIDs	non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs
OSF	ontogenv scaling factor
PAGE	polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
PAHs	polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons
PAPS	3'-phosphoadenosine-5'-sulphophosphate
PBPK	physiologically-based pharmacokinetic
PBS	phosphate buffered saline
PBSt	phosphate buffered saline with 0.05 % tween 20
PD	postnatal day
рH	negative logarithm of hydrogen ions to the base 10
PK	pharmacokinetics
	1

PNP	ρ-nitrophenol
POD	phenacetin-O-dealkylase
PP	periportal
psi	pounds per square inch
PV	perivenous
PVDF	polyvinylidene difluoride
PXR	pregnane-X-receptor
QC	quality control
Q <sub>H</sub>	hepatic blood flow
$r^2$	coefficient of determination
RHSF	relative hepatic scaling factor
RSD	relative standard deviation
RT-PCR	reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction
SD	standard deviation
SDS	sodium dodecyl sulfate
SULT	sulfotransferases
τ	infant nursing interval
t <sub>1/2</sub>	Elimination half life
TCDD	2,3,7,8 tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin
t <sub>max</sub>	time to reach maximum serum concentration
UDP	uridine 5'diphosphate
UGTs	uridine 5'diphosphate glucuronosyl-transferases
UMB	umbelliferone
UV	ultraviolet
V <sub>d</sub>	volume of distribution
V <sub>d,ss</sub>	apparent volume of distribution at steady-state
V <sub>max</sub>	maximal enzyme activity
V <sub>Milk</sub>	volume of milk ingested by infant

### **1. LITERATURE REVIEW**

## **I. INTRODUCTION**

Epidemiological research provides convincing evidence that breastfeeding is advantageous to the breast-fed infant, lactating mother and society. However, the ability of most drugs and chemicals to transfer from maternal plasma to breast milk puts the suckling infant under an uncertain exposure risk to harmful xenobiotics and raises concerns about breastfeeding safety. When a nursing mother is exposed to a xenobiotic(s), either from the environment or through drug therapy, a decision to discontinue the exposure (e.g. stop medication) or discontinue breast feeding is largely based on data regarding the ability of the drug to appear in breast milk, the amount transferred to the suckling infant and, more importantly, the ability of the suckling infant to handle such an exposure. Despite the growing information about the ability of chemicals to transfer into breast milk and the numerous methods developed to estimate the amount exposed to the suckling infant, very little is known regarding the ability of the infant to deal with the exposed dose. Following an external exposure dose, pharmacokinetic processes determine the concentration of a xenobiotic in the biophase. In many instances it is the capacity of the detoxification mechanisms to eliminate a xenobiotic that poses as the major underlying cause for a toxic outcome following an exposure.

Detoxification systems undergo significant maturation during postnatal development. In human paediatric populations, such age-related differences in elimination mechanisms are generally poorly understood. However, for a given dose, the rate and pattern of the ontogeny of elimination processes will alter the toxicological significance of a xenobiotic in an age-dependent manner and such developmental maturation will confound the extrapolation of toxicity data obtained in adults to the

1

developing infant. Although the recent establishment of the Children's PK Database (available at <u>http://www2.clarku.edu/faculty/dhattis</u>), a database presently under construction to identify differences in pharmacokinetics during development, facilitates extrapolation of risks between adults and infants, this database still falls short of providing sufficient information for the adequate extrapolation of toxicity data, particularly for environmental toxicants.

Interspecies extrapolation of toxicity studies performed with the developing animal is one potential approach proposed to elucidate the impact of the maturation of toxicokinetic processes on age-dependent differences in susceptibility to toxicity and to allow inclusion of risk-relevant information on the developing animal into risk assessment models. An animal model that can, at the very least, identify an underlying toxicokinetic mechanism for age-dependent differences in susceptibility to toxicity has great value in risk assessment. However, because of the interrelationship between genetic and environmental factors that influence the pattern and rate of xenobiotic elimination, a perfect animal model is unlikely to be found. Relevant differences will always exist between human and animal models and these differences will pose serious challenges for qualitative and quantitative predictions of human toxicological outcomes. Translating animal data to humans requires an understanding of how and where these systems are similar and different to evaluate their impact on extrapolation to human exposure risks.

This dissertation takes a systems level approach (i.e. evaluation of mRNA, protein and function) in the evaluation of two detoxification mechanisms, Cytochrome P450 (CYP) 2E1 and CYP1A2. This evaluation will provide critical descriptive information necessary to known information on human CYP ontogeny and to draw comparisons that determine the appropriateness of the developmental animal model system for assessment of toxicokinetic mechanisms underlying age-dependent differences in susceptibility to toxicity. Furthermore, this dissertation evaluates critical assumptions of a pharmacokinetic model that describes the ontogeny of CYP enzymes for its application as a risk assessment tool when infants are exposed to xenobiotics present in breast milk. Literature to date indicates that CYP enzymes in humans are regulated in a similar manner to rodents<sup>1</sup>. Therefore rodents are frequently used to provide initial information

2

about xenobiotic elimination in humans. Accordingly, a rat model system was used to evaluate the underlying assumptions of a pharmacokinetic ontogeny model of CYP enzyme-mediated clearance. Furthermore, rat and human CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 enzymes exhibit high homology and similar substrate profiles<sup>2-4</sup>. This could allow use of the rat as an appropriate model to study the developmental expression and function of human CYP2E1 and CYP1A2.

For the purpose of this literature review, the term infant encompasses ages from birth to 2 years and children from 2 years to 12 years of age in humans. However, the term neonate includes birth to postnatal day 21, weanling indicates postnatal days 21 to 28/35 and juvenile encompasses age from postnatal days 28/35 to 49/70 days for rat.

## **II. BACKGROUND**

### **1. Breastfeeding and Infant Exposure to Chemicals**

#### 1.1 Breastfeeding and its Benefits

Extensive epidemiological research has identified diverse and compelling advantages of breastfeeding for infants, mothers, families, and societies and the use of human milk for infant feeding<sup>5</sup>. These advantages include health, social, environmental, and economic benefits<sup>5</sup>. Thus, current guidelines set out by international (i.e. World Health Organization and United Nations Children's Fund) and national (i.e. Canadian Pediatric Society, Health Canada and Dietitians of Canada) organizations recommended that infants be exclusively breastfed for at least the first six months of life, and continue breastfeeding with complementary foods for up to two years of age and beyond<sup>6-8</sup>. Surveys in Canada and United States report that approximately 70% of women initiate breastfeeding and 30% continue to breastfeed their infants to 6 months of age<sup>5</sup>.

The unique components of human milk make it superior for infant feeding, and differs markedly from all substitute feeding preparations<sup>9</sup>. The nutrients, enzymes, growth factors, hormones and immunological and anti-inflammatory properties of

human milk contribute to reductions in the incidence and severity of acute infectious diseases such as sepsis/meningitis<sup>10</sup>, otitis media<sup>11</sup>, respiratory tract infections<sup>12</sup>, gastroenteritis<sup>11</sup> and necrotizing enterocolitis<sup>13</sup>. As well, studies correlate breastfeeding with reduced incidences of sudden infant death syndrome<sup>14,15</sup>, Crohn's disease, insulindependent diabetes, lymphoma and allergic diseases<sup>13,15,16</sup> and reduced prevalence of childhood obesity<sup>17,18</sup>. Furthermore, breastfeeding may enhance performance on tests of cognitive developments and achievement of better academic scores<sup>19,20</sup>. Such health benefits may increase with duration and exclusivity of breastfeeding<sup>21</sup>.

Breastfeeding and lactation have many important benefits for nursing women. These benefits include decreased postpartum bleeding and more rapid uterine involution<sup>22</sup>, reduced risk of epithelial ovarian cancer<sup>23</sup> and breast cancer<sup>24,25</sup>, reduced risk of hip fracture in old age<sup>26,27</sup> and faster return to the pre-pregnancy weight <sup>28</sup>. The act of breastfeeding delays resumption of ovulation and increases child spacing<sup>29</sup>. Finally, breastfeeding is associated with increased maternal-infant bonding and maternal sense of worth<sup>5</sup>.

Breastfeeding has important social, economic and environmental benefits. These benefits include reduced health care costs due to reduced risk of infant illness and duration of hospitalization<sup>11,13</sup>. Also breastfeeding is associated with increased family saving due to the greater cost of formula feeding compared to breastfeeding cost<sup>11</sup> in addition to lower parental absence from work, and reduced environmental load for disposing formula cans and bottles<sup>5</sup>. Some countries, including Canada, have recognized the potential economical savings from breastfeeding and provide a subsidy to low income mothers for each month of breastfeeding<sup>11</sup>.

#### 1.2 Infant Exposure to Drugs and Chemicals in Breast Milk

Almost all maternally administered drugs and environmental chemicals appear in breast milk and find their way into the breast-fed infant<sup>30-33</sup>. Consequently, breast milk constitutes a major exposure route to chemicals for nursing infants. Governmental and regulatory agencies have become gravely concerned about the presence of chemicals in breast milk, particularly in light of recent surveys that suggest approximately 90% of

women take at least one medication, more than 20% take at least two or more medications in the first week after delivery and more than 5% of nursing mothers receive long-term drug therapy<sup>30,34</sup> (Table 1.1).

**Table 1.1-** Example of maternally-administered medications that my have possibleeffects on the nursing infant. Adapted from references (37-39)

Drug	Reported or possible Effects on the Nursing Infant	
1. Cytotoxic Drugs		
Cyclosporine	Possible immune suppression, carcinogenesis	
Doxorubicin	Possible immune suppression, carcinogenesis	
Methotrexatae	Possible immune suppression, carcinogenesis	
2. Drugs of Abuse		
Amphetamine	Irritability, poor sleeping pattern	
Cocaine	Intoxication, irritability, seizures, diarrhea	
Heroin	Tremors, restlessness, poor feeding	
3. Cardiovascular Drugs		
Acebutolol	Hypotension, bradycardia, tachypnea	
Atenolol	Cyanosis, bradycardia	
Amiodarone	Possible hypothyroidism	
4. Antipsychotics		
Chlorpromazine	Drowsiness, decline in developmental scores, lethargy	
Haloperidol	decline in developmental scores	
5. Antibiotics		
Amoxicillin	None	
Nalidixic acid	Hemolysis in infants with glucose-6-phosphate-	
	dehydrogenase (G-6-PD)deficiency.	
Nitrofurantoin	Hemolysis in infants with (G-6-PD)deficiency.	
Tetracycline	Negligible absorption by infant	
6. Others		
Phenobarbital	Sedation, infantile spasms	
Sulfasalazine	Bloody diarrhea	
Caffeine	Irritability, poor sleeping pattern, slower elimination	

This table shows examples of these drugs that are usually taken by the nursing mother and could result in adverse effects to the developing infant.

These concerns have translated into recommendations to pharmaceutical companies to provide data about drug excretion in breast milk as a part of drug development and labeling<sup>35</sup>. Adherence to such recommendations will provide necessary and critical information about compounds newly introduced to the market. Nevertheless, the distribution of most other chemicals into breast milk and their actual milk levels remain largely unknown. Additionally, a recent FDA Task Force identified a need to advance research into mechanisms governing transfer of chemicals into milk and the factors influencing their milk levels<sup>36</sup>. Identification of such factors is critical in the determination of potential exposure doses and risk to the nursing infant<sup>16,31</sup>.

When maternal medication is necessary during lactation, breastfeeding parents and healthcare professionals are mainly concerned about infant exposure to the drug and how this may affect infant health in the long and short term<sup>16</sup>. Although many medications are considered compatible with breastfeeding<sup>37-39</sup>, recommendations are usually made to either discontinue breastfeeding or stop maternal therapy for fear of exposing an infant to drugs in mother's milk<sup>40</sup>. The American Academy of Pediatrics in its 2001 policy statement<sup>37</sup> reported lists of agents that transfer into breast milk and described their possible adverse effects on infants or on lactation. These lists should assist the physician in counseling a nursing mother regarding breastfeeding when the mother has a condition for which a drug is medically indicated.

Risk/benefit analyses facilitate decisions regarding breastfeeding during maternal medication. Such analyses must weigh the benefits (breastfeeding to infant and treatment of maternal illness) against the potential risks (infant exposure and withholding medication to the mother) to both the mother and the infant. Researchers have defined a number of different indices of exposure to provide assessments of risk (see section 13). Until recently, such exposure risk indices were based principally upon estimates of the amount of drug presented to the infant from breast milk<sup>41-43</sup>. Normally, drug dose presented to the infant from breast milk is compared to the normal paediatric dose rate, or to the maternal dose (relative to body weight) to assess the potential risk of

6

exposure to the infant<sup>43</sup>. However, even low level exposures may result in potential adverse effects when a nursing infant lacks the capacity to efficiently eliminate the exposed dose. Exposure risk indices, then, must make provision for an infant's capacity to eliminate compounds, i.e. these indices must incorporate infant systemic clearance as a critical factor defining exposure risk. This requirement presents a serious problem in risk assessment because we have limited knowledge of infant systemic clearance<sup>44-46</sup>.

#### 1.3 Assessment of Infant Exposure Risk

The literature reports numerous exposure indices used to predict and assess the potential risk of toxicity to the suckling infant following exposure to drugs from breast milk<sup>16,43,47-49</sup>. These indices consider duration of exposure (acute versus chronic) and include milk to serum ratio (M/S), infant dose relative to maternal dose, infant steady state serum concentration (Css, <sub>Inf</sub>), exposure index related to maternal dose (EI<sub>(Dose)</sub>).

Maternal dose and maternal systemic clearance determine the maternal plasma steady-state concentration which, in turn, acts as the driving force for drug concentration in mammary epithelial cells and ultimately, drug concentration in milk. The infant ingests a dose while nursing and the resulting serum concentration is a function of the pharmacokinetic processes absorption, distribution, biotransformation and elimination<sup>16</sup>. These processes undergo developmental changes as the infant grows<sup>50</sup>. A better risk assessment index will take into consideration all maternal and neonatal factors affecting the amount of drug presented to the suckling infant via milk and can predict the potential risk posed to the infant following exposure to this amount.

#### **1.3.1** Duration of Exposure (Acute versus Chronic)

Infant exposure risk to drugs present in the breast milk depends upon factors associated with the maternal dosage situation such as maternal dose, dosing frequency, duration of therapy and interval between dose administration and breastfeeding. Many literature reports suggest that adverse effects, if any, of acute and short term maternal dosage regimens are mild and pose little risk to infants<sup>51-53</sup>. In such cases, times of breastfeeding and medication administration can be manipulated to minimize any possible adverse effect on the nursing infant according to the half life of the administered drug<sup>47</sup>. For drugs with short half lives, nursing mothers are usually advised to breastfeed immediately before taking medication. Breastfeeding while on medications with long half lives requires careful consideration of the relationship between the nursing time and when maternal concentrations are greatest. In such cases breastfeeding could be interrupted, or even suspended, for a short period of time so that the infant is not exposed to milk during times of peak maternal plasma levels. The chronic or long-term drug exposure to nursing infants via breast milk poses the greatest concern<sup>37</sup>. For example, adverse effects have been observed in nursing infants following administration of cardiac glycosides drugs to nursing mothers<sup>54</sup>. As well, opiates that are commonly used as postoperative analgesics adversely affect nursing infants after maternal administration in the first week after birth<sup>55,56</sup>.

As noted above, most recommendations are based on the amount of drug transferred to the infant and duration of exposure. Even with short term exposure, the immature elimination mechanisms in the developing infant could result in drug accumulation and an increased risk of toxicity. On the other hand, with chronic exposure of the nursing infant to certain chemicals in breast milk, their detoxification mechanisms can handle the dose and consequently, it would be safe to continue both breastfeeding and maternal medication without any discontinuation or interruption.

## **1.3.2** Milk to Serum (M/S) Ratio

The ratio between drug concentration in milk and maternal serum is called the milkto-serum ratio (M/S). This ratio is used in several exposure indices to estimate the maternal dose transferred to the infant via breast milk<sup>41,53,56,57</sup>. On its own, (M/S) ratio indicates the extent of drug distribution into milk and was frequently used as an index of exposure such that drugs with (M/S) ratios greater than one were avoided or used with caution during breastfeeding<sup>32,33,42</sup>. Accurate and useful assessments of (M/S) ratio are made by assaying milk and serum concentrations following maternal drug administration to steady state or assaying the area under milk and serum concentration versus time curve after a single intravenous injection<sup>33,42</sup>. This value can be affected by many factors such as maternal pharmacokinetics, mammary physiology, physicochemical properties of the drug, variations in milk composition and pH, lactation period and maternal illness<sup>16,48</sup>. The value of (M/S) ratio only provides a measure of "input" without considering the multitude of additional factors that contribute to infant exposure risk (sections 1.3.3, 1.3.4 and 1.3.5)<sup>47</sup>.

#### **1.3.3** Infant Dose as a Percentage of Absolute Maternal Dose

Drug dose given to the infant during a nursing interval ( $Dose_{Inf}$ ) via breast milk may be calculated using (M/S) ratio using Equation 1.1.

Dose rate<sub>Inf</sub> = 
$$C_{ss, Mat}$$
 (M/S)( $V_{Milk}/\tau$ ) (1.1)

Where  $C_{ss, Mat}$  is the average concentration at steady state in maternal serum,  $\tau$  is the infant nursing interval and  $V_{Milk} / \tau$  is the volume of milk ingested by an infant per nursing interval, approximately 150 mL/kg/day<sup>42,48</sup>. The dose of drug ingested by the infant can then be compared with the maternal dose as a body weight adjusted dose (mg/kg) as depicted in Equation 1.2.

% Maternal dose = 
$$\left(\frac{\text{Dose}_{\text{Inf}}}{\text{Dose}_{\text{Mat}}}\right) \times 100$$
 (1.2)

This index normalizes the infant dose received via the breast milk to maternal dose and considers an average dosing rate with chronic exposure. An arbitrary cut-off level of predicted infant exposure of less than 10% of the weight adjusted maternal dose has been recommended<sup>43</sup>. This arbitrary level is applied to drugs that have no known inherent toxicity and taken by a mother at a normal therapeutic dose. Levels higher than 10% indicate a higher exposure risk<sup>43</sup>.

At steady state, the minimum maternal concentration occurs just before the next oral dose. Assuming milk concentration parallels serum levels, nursing the infant just before

the next dose will minimize the relative infant exposure<sup>58</sup>. While this method incorporates more variables involved in infant exposure to drugs via breast milk, the index still does not accurately assess the amount of drug which actually enters the infant's bloodstream (i.e. the bioavailable dose), nor does it predict the capacity of the infant to handle such amount.

Another way to express infant dose to maternal dose is by evaluating an  $EI_{(Dose)}$  (an exposure index related to maternal dose). This exposure index views infant dose as a percentage of maternal dose. Its relative value is inversely related to the maternal systemic clearance but proportional to maternal bioavailability ( $F_{Mat}$ ), (M/S) ratio and milk consumption rate, Equation 1.3.

$$EI_{(Dose)} = \frac{Dose_{Inf}}{Dose_{Mat}} = \frac{F_{Mat}}{Cl_{S,Mat}} \left(\frac{M}{S}\right) \left(\frac{V_{Milk}}{\tau}\right)$$
(1.3)

As shown in Equation 1.3, estimation of  $EI_{(Dose)}$  would require estimation of maternal bioavailability and systemic clearance in addition to (M/S) ratio and milk consumption rate. Mean values for all of these parameters can be obtained from the literature.

### **1.3.4** Infant Steady State Serum Concentration (C<sub>ss, Inf</sub>)

M/S values and infant dose as a percent of absolute maternal dose may incorrectly estimate the infant exposure risk as they do not take into consideration the contribution of infant pharmacokinetic (PK) factors in the infant response to a drug exposure. These PK parameters undergo continuous changes in the developing infant<sup>44,50</sup>. Therefore a particular dose (normalized to body weight) might result in different steady state concentrations ( $C_{ss, Inf}$ ) in the developing infant depending on the age. Pharmacological or toxicological effects in the infant, in most of the cases, correlate with drug concentration at the site of action<sup>47,50,59</sup>. Because of the difficulty in measuring drug concentrations in the bloodstream and at the site of action is assumed, such that serum concentration can be used as a surrogate measure to concentration at the site of action.

Steady state serum concentration in an infant following any route of drug administration can be described by Equation 1.4 in which ( $C_{ss, Inf}$ ) is a function of infant bioavailability ( $F_{Inf}$ ), infant systemic clearance (Cls, Inf) and dose (Dose<sub>inf</sub>).

$$C_{\rm ss, Inf} = F_{\rm Inf} \left( \frac{\text{Dose rate, Inf}}{\text{Cls, Inf}} \right)$$
(1.4)

When the infant is exposed to a drug in breast milk, Equation 1.4 is rewritten as:

$$C_{\rm SS,Inf} = \frac{F_{\rm Inf}}{Cl_{\rm S,Inf}} \Big[ C_{\rm SS,Mat} \, \left( M/S \right) \left( V_{\rm Milk} / \tau \right) \Big]$$
(1.5)

Assuming linear pharmacokinetics in the mother, Css,  $_{Mat}$  can be described as a function of maternal bioavailability ( $F_{Mat}$ ), maternal dose ( $Dose_{Mat}$ ) and maternal systemic clearance (Cls,  $_{Mat}$ ) as indicated in Equation 1.6.

$$C_{ss, Mat} = F_{Mat} \left( \frac{\text{Dose rate, Mat}}{\text{Cls, Mat}} \right)$$
(1.6)

Finally, by substituting the value of Css, <sub>Mat</sub> into Equation 1.5, Equation 1.7 can be derived.

$$C_{SS,Inf} = \frac{F_{Inf}}{Cl_{S,Inf}} \left[ \frac{F_{Mat} Dose_{Mat}}{Cl_{S,Mat}} (M/S) (V_{Milk} / \tau) \right]$$
(1.7)

Equation 1.7 provides insight into the factors that determine infant steady state serum concentration. Those factors can be divided into maternal factors (dose, bioavailability, systemic clearance and M/S ratio), infant factors (bioavailability and systemic clearance) and milk consumption rate (volume of milk and nursing interval). Figure 1.1 summarizes these factors resulting in the final infant response to a chemical present in breast milk.



**Figure 1.1-** Interrelationship between factors affecting infant exposure to drugs in breast milk and the resulting pharmacological/toxicological response.

Population estimates for maternal factors ( $F_{Mat}$ ,  $Dose_{Mat}$ ,  $Cl_{S,Mat}$ ) as well as milk consumption rate ( $V_{Milk}$  and  $\tau$ ) can be obtained from the literature<sup>42,48</sup>. (M/S) ratio can be predicted from various *in vitro* or *in vivo* models<sup>42,48,58</sup>. Consequently, infant bioavailability and infant systemic clearance remain the unknown determinants of Css, Inf. If a hundred percent infant bioavailability is assumed (the worst case-scenario for infant exposure),  $Cl_{S,Inf}$  remains the principal unknown determinant of Css, Inf. If the assumption that both the qualitative and quantitative nature of the pharmacodynamic response in the infant is the same as in adult holds true, then the resulting Css, Inf will produce the same pharmacological/toxicological outcome as observed in adults. Consequently, Css, Inf becomes an informative index of infant exposure.

#### **1.3.5** Exposure Index Related to Maternal Concentration (EI<sub>(Conc)</sub>)

A more recently elaborated exposure index relates the relevant exposure term  $C_{SS,Inf}$  to maternal steady state levels to give rise to  $(EI_{(Conc)})^{49}$ . Rearrangement of Equation 1.5 derives Equation 1.8, which presents the determinants of this exposure index. According to Equation 1.8, determinants of infant exposure risk are largely a function of infant PK (bioavailability and systemic clearance), the (M/S) value, and milk consumption rates.

$$EI_{(Conc)} = \frac{C_{SS,Inf}}{C_{SS,Mat}} = \frac{F_{Inf}}{Cl_{S,Inf}} \left(\frac{M}{S}\right) \left(\frac{V_{Milk}}{\tau}\right)$$
(1.8)

Although difficult to estimate, this exposure index is considered as the best estimate of infant exposure to chemicals present in breast milk<sup>16,47</sup>. As shown in Equation 1.8, estimation of (EI<sub>(Conc)</sub>) would require estimation of infant bioavailability and infant systemic clearance in addition to M/S ratio and milk consumption rate. Mean values for M/S and milk consumption rate can be obtained from the literature. Very little information is available regarding systemic clearance in infants due to logistic and ethical concerns<sup>60</sup>. Hence, understanding the mechanisms governing drug distribution into milk and developmental changes in infant PK, particularly systemic clearance, is very important for appropriate estimates of exposure level and the toxicological impact of this exposure.

## 2. Infant systemic Clearance as a Determinant of C<sub>ss. Inf</sub>

The pharmacological/toxicological response to a drug often correlates well with the steady state serum concentration ( $C_{ss}$ ) of the drug. Because systemic clearance is a principal determinant of  $C_{ss}$  (see Equation 1.4), infant systemic clearance constitutes a critical PK parameter in the determination of the pharmacological/toxicological response to a drug from breast milk or from the environment<sup>44,47</sup>. Systemic clearance ( $Cl_s$ ) describes the efficiency of the elimination pathways to irreversibly remove drugs from the body. Although many elimination pathways contribute to the determination of  $Cl_s$ , infants eliminate drugs principally through hepatic ( $Cl_H$ ) and renal ( $Cl_R$ ) clearance mechanisms (Equation 1.9). This dissertation is concerned more about hepatic clearance and the role of developmental maturation of hepatic drug metabolizing enzymes in determining the capacity of the developing infant to eliminate drugs or chemicals following exposure from breast milk.

$$Cl_{S,Inf} = Cl_{H} + Cl_{R}$$
(1.9)

#### **2.1 Hepatic Clearance** (Cl<sub>H</sub>)

Hepatic clearance is of critical importance due to the abundance of drug metabolizing enzymes (DME) in the liver. The liver has a unique anatomical position, as it is located between the gastrointestinal tract (GIT) and the general circulation and receives the majority of blood supply perfusing the GIT<sup>61</sup>. Due to these unique physiological and anatomical characteristics, the liver can reduce the fraction of the orally administered drug that reaches the systemic circulation. This phenomenon is commonly referred to as "first pass effect".

Hepatic clearance of a drug is governed by three principal physiological parameters: hepatic blood flow, the extent of drug binding to plasma proteins or other blood constituents, and the inherent ability of hepatic metabolic enzymes to eliminate the drug (i.e. the hepatic intrinsic clearance)<sup>59</sup>. These parameters undergo rapid changes during early infant life<sup>62,63</sup>. Such changes can cause dramatic influences on infant hepatic elimination capacity<sup>44,64</sup>. Several models have been developed to describe the interrelationship between those parameters and to predict the changes in hepatic clearance following changes in the above mentioned physiological determinants<sup>65</sup>. One of the most commonly used models is the 'Well Stirred Model'', (Equation 1.10). This model is simple and can make qualitative predictions of the impact of changes in the determinants of hepatic clearance on various PK parameters<sup>65</sup>.

$$Cl_{\rm H} = \frac{Q_{\rm H} f_{\rm u} Cl_{\rm int}}{Q_{\rm H} + f_{\rm u} Cl_{\rm int}}$$
(1.10)

Where,  $Q_H$  is the hepatic blood flow,  $f_u$  is the fraction of the drug unbound in plasma, and  $Cl_{int}$  is the hepatic intrinsic clearance. According to this model, hepatic clearance of drugs that are highly extracted by the liver (>80%) will be governed only by the rate of drug delivery to the liver (i.e.  $Q_H$ ), while changes in hepatic intrinsic clearance and the extent of drug binding have a little or no effect on  $Cl_H$ . Examples of such drugs are lidocaine<sup>66</sup>, propranolol<sup>67,68</sup> and propoxyphen<sup>65</sup>. On the other hand, drugs that have low hepatic extraction ( $E_H$ ) (<20%), hepatic clearance is limited by the degree of drug binding (hepatic uptake) and the intrinsic ability of the hepatic enzymes to metabolize the drug. Examples of these drugs are antipyrine<sup>69</sup> and warfarin<sup>65</sup>. Following oral administration of a high or low  $E_H$  drug, the apparent oral clearance is determined only by the extent of plasma protein binding and intrinsic clearance of the drug<sup>59</sup>.

#### 2.1.1 Hepatic Blood Flow

Fetal liver receives its blood supply from three vessels; the umbilical vein (73%), portal vein (18%) and hepatic artery  $(9\%)^{61,70-72}$ . Birth results in a discontinuation of the supply of highly oxygenated blood from the umbilical vein and the liver becomes primarily dependent on poorly oxygenated blood from the portal vein (95%) and hepatic artery  $(5\%)^{61,73,74}$ . Studies in newborn lambs (at 2 hours and 10 hours after birth) and
neonatal lambs (7-10 days) showed that blood flow and oxygen delivery to the liver are significantly lower than those to the fetal liver<sup>73,74</sup>, but comparable to the adult liver<sup>75</sup>.

These dramatic changes in hepatic blood flow and the degree of oxygenation with birth may affect hepatic clearance of many drugs that show high hepatic extraction, where their clearance is hepatic blood flow-dependent. Using propranolol and lidocaine as high clearance drugs, their systemic clearance in neonatal sheep livers was greater in infants than fetuses, but not significantly lower than the adult clearance value<sup>67,68,76</sup>. Given the similar systemic clearance values of these high  $E_H$  drugs, comparable hepatic blood flow in neonates and adults could be expected. The problem of not having good data on developmental changes in  $Q_H$  in human is alleviated by the fact that immature or low metabolic capacity of the liver enzymes in neonates and developing infants decreases the hepatic extraction of drugs and make total clearance less hepatic blood flow-limited<sup>77,78</sup>. Accordingly, the immature hepatic drug metabolizing enzymes, not the hepatic blood flow, plays the major role in determining the capacity of infants to eliminate drugs by the liver. As mentioned above, changes in hepatic blood flow have no effect in the apparent clearance of orally administered drugs whether they have a low or high  $E_H$  values<sup>59</sup>.

#### 2.1.2 Plasma Protein Binding

Several studies have reported age-dependent differences in binding of drugs in human newborn and adult plasma<sup>79-81</sup>. These reports show significantly less binding to infant plasma compared to adult plasma. This may result in higher unbound drug fractions in the infant, which can affect drug distribution and elimination. Given that pharmacological and toxicological effects of many drugs are highly correlated to the unbound concentration<sup>59</sup>, less binding capacity in infants compared to adults, can increase their risk of toxicity following exposure to drugs from breast milk or from the environment.

Several factors may contribute to this age-related difference in plasma protein binding. These include differences in plasma protein concentration between infants and adults, differences in binding properties, and presence of endogenous compounds that

can compete with and displace the drug from the protein binding sites. Albumin and alpha<sub>1</sub>-acid glycoprotein (AAG) are the major plasma proteins responsible for binding of various acidic and basic drugs and endogenous compounds<sup>80,82,83</sup>. Concentration of plasma albumin and AAG are significantly lower at birth and increase progressively to reach the adult values at 6 months of age<sup>84</sup>.

Rather than differences in plasma protein concentrations, lower binding affinities of some acidic and basic drugs to albumin and AAG in newborn plasma compared to adult plasma<sup>80,81,85</sup> may account for the differences in drug binding<sup>79</sup>. Endogenous compounds such as bilirubin and free fatty acids (FFA) can compete with and displace drugs from plasma protein binding sites<sup>86-88</sup>. Higher circulating levels of bilirubin and FFA in infant plasma account for greater displacement of compounds relative to the adult<sup>79,82,84,86</sup>.

For high clearance drugs, their hepatic uptake and removal from blood is an efficient process and independent on the extent of drug binding. On the other hand, for low clearance drugs, only the unbound fraction becomes accessible to the elimination site. Hepatic clearance of those drugs will change in proportion to the unbound drug concentration. Since most compounds are low clearance compounds, McNamara and Alcorn<sup>89</sup> developed a model to predict the extent of protein binding in the infant in the absence of direct measurement of plasma protein binding based upon known binding characteristics in adults<sup>89</sup>.

#### 2.1.3 Hepatic Biotransformation

Many studies have reported the capacity of fetal and infant livers to metabolize xenobiotics<sup>90-94</sup>. Other studies demonstrate a prolonged half life in infants and children for drugs whose elimination is directly related to their rate of hepatic biotransformation<sup>64,95,96</sup>. This could result in drug accumulation and potential risk of toxicity in the exposed infants. While hepatic blood flow and other physiological determinants may affect the rate of drug elimination, the immature hepatic drug metabolizing enzymes is probably the predominant factor accounting for drug accumulation in infants. Understanding the ontogeny of enzyme(s) involved in the

biotransformation pathway(s) could allow a more accurate risk assessment and precise prediction of the toxicological outcome following exposure of the developing infant to foreign chemicals.

Hepatic drug biotransformation and elimination usually takes place in a two-step process and usually the two pathways, phase I and phase II metabolism, function in a sequential manner for drug elimination<sup>45,97</sup>. The first step, phase I, is principally mediated by cytochrome P450 (CYP) enzymes. These enzymes are located on the smooth endoplasmic reticulum and catalyze the biotransformation of both endogenous compounds and xenobiotics to more water-soluble derivatives<sup>98-100</sup>. Although CYP enzymes normally generate metabolites with diminished biological activity, there are numerous examples where these enzymes mediate the formation of reactive intermediates from chemically inert agents<sup>101-103</sup>. These reactive metabolites play a key step in initiating cytotoxicity and carcinogenicity<sup>98,104</sup>. The second step, phase II reactions, mediate the conjugation of exogenous and endogenous compounds (or reactive metabolites produced during phase I metabolism) with water-soluble endogenous molecules like uridine 5'diphospahte (UDP)-glucouronic acid, glutathione or sulfate<sup>46,105</sup>. The conjugated product is usually pharmacologically inactive and easily eliminated from the body via the bile or urine<sup>46</sup>.

When phase I reactions result in the production of reactive metabolites, the balance between phase I-induced bioactivation and phase II-mediated detoxification is a critical factor in determining the toxicological consequences of exposure to such an agent<sup>106,107</sup>. If the formation of reactive metabolite during phase I reaction exceeds the conjugation capacity of phase II enzymes, reactive metabolites accumulate in the cell and can bind to endogenous biomolecules like DNA and protein, inducing cellular damage<sup>105</sup>. Thus, the postnatal development of drug metabolizing enzymes (DME) activities, which catalyze the formation or detoxification of reactive intermediates, could have a profound effect on the ultimate toxicological outcome of exposure to xenobiotics.

#### 2.1.3.1 Ontogeny of Hepatic CYP Enzymes

The cytochrome P450 enzymes (CYP) are a group of heme-thiolate proteins that comprise a superfamily of related enzymes grouped into families and subfamilies based upon similarities in amino acid sequences<sup>2</sup>. These enzymes catalyze the oxidative metabolism of endogenous compounds such as steroids, fatty acids, vitamins, and prostaglandins as well as exogenous chemicals such as drugs, carcinogens and environmental toxins<sup>98,99,108</sup>. In addition, CYP enzymes play a major role in maintaining steady state levels of endogenous ligands involved in modulating gene transcription affecting homeostasis, growth and differentiation<sup>109</sup>. Xenobiotics are mainly metabolized by families CYP1, CYP2, CYP3 and CYP4<sup>100</sup>. To date, at least 57 CYP forms are responsible for the metabolism of substrates in human, and most of these are primarily expressed in the liver<sup>100</sup>.

### 2.1.3.1.1 Human CYP Enzymes

CYP enzymes activity is very low during early stages of gestation and remains low until birth. After parturition many CYP enzymes undergo significant postnatal maturation<sup>110-113</sup>. The total CYP content in the human fetal liver is about one-third of the adult value, and increases after birth to reach the adult value during the first 10 years of life<sup>95,111</sup>. Cresteil<sup>105</sup> categorized CYP enzymes into three groups according to the onset of their activities:

- (a) Enzymes expressed in fetal livers (CYP3A7 and CYP4A1): These enzymes are mostly active on endogenous and some exogenous molecules. Their activities decline with postnatal maturation.
- (b) Enzymes expressed during the early neonatal period (CYP2E1 and CYP2D6): The activity of these enzymes are undetectable during gestation but surge immediately after birth.
- (c) Enzymes expressed later in neonatal development (CYP1A2, CYP2B,CYP2C and CYP3A4): The activity of these enzymes tend to surge a few

weeks after birth and have slower rates of development than early neonatal enzymes.

In adult human livers, CYP1A2, CYP2A6, CYP2C, CYP2D6, CYP2E1, and 3A protein account for approximately 70 % of the total hepatic CYP enzymes, with the CYP2C and CYP3A subfamilies being the major forms<sup>99,108,111</sup>. Reasonable levels of CYP1A2 (13%) and CYP2E1 (7%) are present, while CYP2A6, CYP2D6 and CYP2B6 represent less than 4%, 2% and 1%, respectively<sup>108,111</sup>. Figure 1.2 presents the levels of immunoquantifiable CYP proteins in adult human livers (expressed as a percentage of total CYP protein) and the percentage contribution of each CYP enzyme in the metabolism of drugs available in the market.





#### 2.1.3.1.2 Rat CYP Enzymes

Few studies are reported regarding the ontogeny of CYP enzymes in rats. Total CYP content does not change much with age in male and female rats<sup>114</sup>, but when the results were expressed on a gram liver weight basis, 4- and 6- fold increase in the CYP content was detected at postnatal days 7 and 14, respectively, compared with day 1 of birth<sup>115</sup>. With the exception of CYP1A1, which is expressed during the early gestation, detectable expression of most of the other CYP enzymes occur at or near birth (CYP2B, CYP2C23, CYP3A) or immediately after birth (CYP2E1)<sup>1</sup>. The metabolism of marker substrates for CYP2B1 and CYP2E1 could not be measured in rat livers during early or late gestation<sup>115</sup>. After birth, CYP2B1 catalytic activity increased significantly to achieve activity level at postnatal day (PD) 4 comparable to the level observed in adult livers<sup>115</sup>. In contrast, postnatal activity of CYP2E1 increased linearly with age and comparable activity to that estimated in adult liver was measured at PD37<sup>1,115</sup>.

Rat hepatic CYP2C23 and CYP3A exhibit similar pattern of ontogenesis as CYP2E1 with expression reached its maximal value in early neonates and remained quite stable<sup>62,115</sup>. Other CYP enzymes are expressed after the first week of birth (CYP1A2, CYP2C6, 2C11, 2C12 and 4A10)<sup>1,114-116</sup>. While the catalytic activity of rat hepatic CYP1A2 was not detected in fetal livers, metabolism of its marker substrates increased at approximately linear rate during postnatal development with maximum levels achieved at PD35<sup>1,115</sup>. In contrast, the developmental profiles of CYP2C11 and CYP2C12 exhibit a characteristic rise at puberty (PD28)<sup>1</sup>.

An interesting study by Imaoka *et al* has shown sex-related differences in the developmental maturation of CYP expression in rats<sup>114</sup>. Activity of the male-specific form, CYP2C11 was induced developmentally and levels reached a plateau at 14-52 weeks of age followed by a marked decline at 104 weeks<sup>114</sup>. CYP2C11-mediated activities were not detected at any age in female rats. On the other hand, activity of the female-specific form, CYP2C12 increased with age in female rats<sup>114</sup>. However, this activity was very low or undetectable in male rats until juvenile age, but increased to a level similar to that of female rats at 104 weeks of age<sup>114</sup>.

Extensive studies have investigated the sex-related differences in drug metabolism in rats, a phenomenon commonly known as sexual dimorphism. Majority of these studies found out that growth hormone (GH) is the only endogenous factor known to maintain the expression of gender-specific or gender-dominant isoforms of CYP enzymes<sup>117</sup>. The sexually-dimorphic expression of CYP isoforms appear to be dictated mainly by the gender-dependent profiles of the circulating GH<sup>118,119</sup>. In male rats, GH secretion shows a strongly pulsatile pattern with episodic peak every 3-4 hours with generally undetectable levels between peaks<sup>117,118</sup>. In female rats, GH is continuously released with a pattern that is more frequent, irregular and with lower magnitude than males<sup>117,118</sup>.

The strongly pulsatile or episodic rhythm of GH secretion in male rats is responsible for the expression of male-specific (e.g. CYP2C11, CYP2C13, CYP2C22, CYP3A2) and male-dominant (e.g. CYP2B1, CYP2B2, CYP3A1) isoforms<sup>119</sup>. However, the continuous feminine pattern of GH secretion in female rats is responsible for expression of female-specific (e.g. CYP2C12) and female-dominant (e.g. CYP2C7, CYP2A1, CYP2E1)<sup>118</sup>.

Many studies have reported sexually dimorphic GH profiles in human<sup>120,121</sup> which results in sex differences in drug metabolism<sup>122</sup>. However, these sexually dimorphic effects of GH on human CYP expression are not as significant as those observed in rats and could be subtle and easily hidden by the extensive interindividual variations in human population<sup>108,122</sup>.

Due to their toxicological significance and major roles in detoxification of many important environmental chemicals and widely used pharmaceutical agents and their role in mediating cellular damage and carcinogenesis, the ontogeny of CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 in human and rats will be discussed in greater detail.

### 2.1.3.1.3 CYP2E1 Enzyme

The ethanol-oxidizing enzyme<sup>123</sup>, CYP2E1, is constitutively expressed in the liver and many other extrahepatic tissues including lung, brain and kidney<sup>100,124,125</sup>. CYP2E1 is highly inducible by treatment with ethanol, acetone, imidazole and other compounds, most of them being CYP2E1-substrates<sup>126-130</sup>. CYP2E1 is moderately abundant in adult human liver, where it constitutes approximately 7% of the total hepatic CYP enzymes<sup>108</sup>. Despite the relatively few drugs that are metabolized by CYP2E1, e.g. acetaminophen, chlorzoxazone and halogenated anaesthetics, this enzyme is involved in the bioactivation of many toxicologically important chemicals including ethanol, organic solvents and procarcinogens present in tobacco smoke to reactive intermediates that lead to hepatotoxicity and carcinogenicity (Table 1.2). Therefore, the postnatal development of CYP2E1, that mediates bioactivation or detoxification of toxicants, could significantly affect the toxicological outcome of xenobiotic exposure during development.

As shown in Table 1.2, CYP2E1 substrate profile includes endogenous compounds, which indicates an important physiological role for this enzyme. Studies have shown active utilization of acetone as a precursor by CYP2E1 in a gluconeogenic pathway during starvation and diabetic ketoacidosis<sup>123,126,131,132</sup>. Immediately after birth, the newborn experiences a temporary fasting situation that causes increases in plasma ketone bodies concentrations. This could explain the rapid surge of CYP2E1 protein following parturition<sup>133,134</sup>.

Ethanol and imidazole were found to induce rat CYP2E1 protein without affecting levels of mRNA. This suggests a posttranscriptional mechanism involving protein stabilization against degradation through ligand binding<sup>130</sup>. CYP2E1 is also induced through a transcriptional regulation mechanism under conditions of starvation and diabetic ketosis<sup>135-138</sup>.

CYP2E1 substrates	Toxicological effect	References
1. Halogenated anesthetics		
1.1. Halothane 1.2. Isoflurane	Hepatotoxicity Hepatotoxicity	139,140 140
2 Alcohols	Hepatotoxicity	140
2. Alcohols		
<ul><li>2.1. Ethanol</li><li>2.2. Methanol</li><li>2.3. Glycerol**</li></ul>	Hepatotoxicity Hepatotoxicity Hepatotoxicity	141-143 144 145,146
3. Organic solvents		
<ul> <li>3.1. Styrene</li> <li>3.2. Benzene</li> <li>3.3. Carbon tetrachloride</li> <li>3.4. Chloroform</li> <li>3.5. Trichloroethylene</li> <li>4. Nitrosamines</li> </ul>	Carcinogenicity Hepatotoxicity Hepatotoxicity Hepatotoxicity Nephrotoxicity and lung cancer	102,147 148 149 150 151,152
<ul><li>4.1. N,N dimethynitrosamine</li><li>4.2. N,N diethynitrosamine</li><li>5. Drugs</li></ul>	Hepatotoxicity and carcinogenicity Hepatotoxicity and carcinogenicity	153 144
<ul><li>5.1. Acetaminophen</li><li>5.2. Chlorzoxazone*</li><li>5.3. Isoniazide</li><li>6. Miscellaneous</li></ul>	Hepatotoxicity and nephrotoxicity N/A Hepatotoxicity	101,154 155 144
<ul><li>6.1. Lauric acid**</li><li>6.2. Acetone**</li><li>6.3. ρ-nitrophenol*</li></ul>	N/A N/A N/A	100 132 156

 Table 1.2- Examples of substrates metabolized/bioactivated by CYP2E1.

N/A – No reported toxicity data \*Probe substrates for CYP2E1 \*\*Endogenous substrates Contradictory data are reported regarding the expression of CYP2E1 in human fetal liver. Several studies have failed to detect CYP2E1 mRNA by reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR), protein using immunoblotting, or activity using ρ-nitrophenol oxidation in fetal liver<sup>111,133,157</sup>. Other studies reported very low levels of CYP2E1 mRNA, protein and activity in fetal liver samples at late gestational stages<sup>134,158,159</sup>. Postnatally, CYP2E1 protein and activity levels increase rapidly during the first 24 hours after birth without significant elevation of mRNA level<sup>133</sup>. At the age of one month, mRNA level rises gradually and in correlation with protein and activity levels. Adult CYP2E1 protein and activity levels are achieved at 1-10 years<sup>133</sup>.

As mentioned above, two mechanisms, transcriptional and posttranscriptional, have been proposed for the regulation of human hepatic CYP2E1<sup>160</sup>. The transcriptional mechanism primarily regulates CYP2E1 expression during the early postnatal period. Interestingly, transcriptional activation of *CYP2E1* gene after birth correlated with the demethylation of certain cytosine residues at the 5'end of the gene resulting in accumulation of RNA after one month of age<sup>133,134,160</sup>. CYP2E1 is also regulated by posttranscriptional mechanism through substrate-dependent stabilization as indicated above.

In rats, Carpenter *et al*<sup>161</sup> reported detectable levels of CYP2E1 protein and chlorzoxazone hydroxylase activity in fetal livers during late gestation. These levels were much less (16- fold) than levels from adult livers<sup>116</sup>. CYP2E1 mRNA is very low or undetectable in fetal livers during late gestation, but increase markedly within a few hours after birth<sup>1,114,115</sup>. Neonatal rats express small quantities of CYP2E1 protein despite larger quantities of mRNA<sup>114,115</sup>. Maximum CYP2E1 content and activity are observed at weaning (2-fold the adult value), followed by a gradual decline to reach the adult value at 14 weeks of age<sup>114</sup>.

### 2.1.3.1.4 CYP1A2 Enzyme

CYP1A2 is a constitutive enzyme that is expressed principally in the liver<sup>108,111</sup>. Extrahepatic tissues such as lung and colon express low levels of CYP1A2<sup>162</sup>. In adult human liver, CYP1A2 constitutes approximately 13 % of the total hepatic CYP content<sup>108</sup>. This enzyme catalyzes the metabolism of a wide variety of chemicals, some of which are potential inducers for CYP1A2 (Table 1.3). The list of substrates includes a variety of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), nitrosamines, and heterocyclic aromatic amine (HAAs). Several of these substrates are potential or suspected human and/or animal carcinogens. Several clinically used drugs such as phenacetin and endogenous compounds such as17 ß-estradiol are also CYP1A2 substrates<sup>163</sup>. Therefore, and as CYP2E1, the ontogeny pattern of CYP1A2 could have a profound and age-dependent effect on the toxicological outcome of xenobiotic exposure.

While one study reported detectable levels of CYP1A2 mRNA in human fetal livers few days prior to parturition<sup>1</sup>, many studies failed to detect any fetal CYP1A2 mRNA at any gestational age<sup>157,164</sup>. Most reports indicate the absence of CYP1A2 protein expression in human fetal livers. Very low protein levels are detected during the early postnatal period, but undergo a gradual increase in expression in infants' ages 1-3 months. The protein level attains about 50 % of the adult value at age 1-10 years<sup>108,111,158,165</sup>. The development of CYP1A2 activity parallels the increase in protein expression<sup>111,165,166,91</sup>. Generally, CYP1A2 shows delayed ontogeny compared with other CYP enzymes<sup>165</sup>.

Studies have shown that the constitutive expression of human CYP1A2 is regulated by a liver-enriched transcription factor, HNF-1<sup>167</sup> and an upstream stimulatory factor<sup>168</sup>. Expression of CYP1A2 in extrahepatic tissues, e.g. olfactory tissues is regulated by nuclear factor, NF-1<sup>169</sup>. Treatment of rodents with high concentrations of the inducer 2,3,7,8 tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin (TCDD) or 3-methylcholanthrene (MC) increases hepatic mRNA expression and detection of low mRNA levels in lung, kidney and intestine<sup>170</sup>. This increase in mRNA level is partially due to transcriptional activation and mainly due to posttranscriptional mRNA stabilization<sup>98</sup>. Several studies have confirmed the role of Aryl hydrocarbon (*Ah*) receptors in governing induction of *CYP1A2* gene expression<sup>170,171</sup>.

CYP1A2 Substrates	Toxicological effect	References		
1. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons				
<ul><li>1.1. Benzo[a]Pyrene**</li><li>1.2. 3-Nitrobenzanthrene</li><li>1.3. Benzo[a]phenanthrene</li></ul>	Carcinogenicity Genotoxicity Carcinogenicity	172 173 103		
2. Heterocyclic amines				
<ul> <li>2.1. 2-Acetylaminofluorene</li> <li>2.2. MeIQx<sup>¶</sup></li> <li>3. Nitrosamines</li> </ul>	Carcinogenicity and genotoxicity Hepatocarcinogenesis	174 175		
2.1 NN dimothynitrogomino	Carainaganiaity	155		
3.2. N,N diethynitrosamine 3.3. N-nitrosodibutylamine	Carcinogenicity Carcinogenicity	155 155 155		
4. Drugs				
<ul><li>4.1. Phenacetin*</li><li>4.2. Acetaminophen</li><li>4.3. Propranolol</li><li>4.4. Caffeine</li><li>4.5. Imipramine</li></ul>	Hepatotoxicity and carcinogenicity Hepatotoxicity and carcinogenicity N/A§ N/A N/A	176,177 154,174 178 91 165		
5. Endogenous compounds				
<ul><li>5.1. 17 ß-estradiol</li><li>5.2. Retinol</li><li>5.3. Arachidonic acid</li><li>5.4. Estrogen</li></ul>	N/A N/A N/A N/A	163 179 179 163		
6. Miscellaneous				
<ul><li>6.1. Methoxyresorufin*</li><li>6.2. Ethoxyresorufin†</li><li>6.3. Benzyoxyresorufin</li></ul>	N/A N/A N/A	180 181,182 180		

 Table 1.3- Examples of substrates metabolized/bioactivated by CYP1A2.

<sup>¶</sup>MeIQx – 2-amino-3, 8-dimethylimidazole [4.5] quinoxaline § N/A - No reported toxicity data \* Probe substrates for CYP1A2 in rats

\*\* Inducer for CYP1A2

† Probe substrate for CYP1A2 in human

In rats, the constitutive levels of CYP1A2 throughout fetal development could not be detected at protein or activity levels<sup>1,114,115</sup>. CYP1A2 mRNA is detected as early as a few days prior to parturition<sup>114,115</sup>. The protein and activity levels are very low in neonatal rats but a marked surge occurs immediately before weaning (5-fold the adult values) followed by a sharp decline to reach the adult value at 12 weeks of age<sup>183</sup>.

#### 2.1.3.2 Ontogeny of Phase II Enzymes

Phase II drug metabolizing enzymes play an important role in metabolic inactivation or detoxification. These enzymes are capable of converting phase I metabolites or the parent substrates into a more polar and water-soluble product. Phase II metabolizing enzymes accomplish this role by catalyzing the conjugation of their substrate to a small molecular weight and polar endogenous molecule, like UDP-glucouronic acid, inorganic sulfate, glutathione, or acetyl coenzyme A<sup>97</sup>. The resulting conjugation product is usually more water-soluble and can be readily excreted in urine or bile. As well, the conjugation product is inactive and non-toxic, with few exceptions<sup>184</sup>. Therefore, phase II conjugation reactions are considered, in most cases, as effective detoxification pathways. Some endogenous molecules, e.g. bilirubin, steroids and catecholamines, are also substrates for Phase II enzymes<sup>97</sup>. This could reflect the physiological and biochemical roles of these enzymes in affecting cellular growth and differentiation.

#### 2.1.3.2.1 Glucuronide conjugation

Glucuronide conjugation reactions are mediated by UDP glucuronosyl-transferases (UGTs). These enzymes catalyze the conjugation of glucuronic acid to several endogenous and exogenous substrates<sup>185</sup>. Endogenous substrates include bilirubin, fatty acids, estradiols and thyroxine<sup>186</sup>, while exogenous compounds include numerous clinically used drugs, e.g. acetaminophen, NSAIDs and opioids. In general, glucuronidation capacity is low in infants, which can result in drug accumulation and higher risk of toxicity<sup>185</sup>. An example of this is the gray baby syndrome associated with markedly reduced capacity for chloramphenicol glucuronidation in infants<sup>187</sup>. The

catalytic activity of UGTs towards bilirubin was found to be less than 1% of the adult values during fetal and early postnatal periods, and the activity increases to reach adult values by 3 months of age, after which it remains constant<sup>188</sup>. Morphine, a UGT enzyme substrate<sup>189</sup> exhibits very low plasma clearance in infants when compared with older children<sup>190,191</sup>. Immunoreactivity studies with polyclonal antibodies indicate that enzyme activity develops in parallel with the immunodetectable protein levels<sup>189,192</sup>. In rats, conjugation reactions catalyzed by UGTs are measurable during the first 10 days of gestation but remain low during fetal and perinatal period<sup>115,193</sup>. After birth, activity increases to reach a maximum value at three weeks followed by a decline to 50% the maximum value at four weeks<sup>115</sup>.

#### 2.1.3.2.2 Sulfate conjugation

Sulfate conjugation is a major pathway in metabolism and elimination of endogenous and exogenous compounds<sup>194</sup>. Sulfation is catalyzed by a family of cytosolic proteins called sulfotransferases (SULT). These enzymes catalyze the conjugation of inorganic sulfate derived from the active donor molecule 3'phosphoadenosine-5'-sulphophosphate, with a hydroxyl or phenolic functional groups<sup>194,195</sup>. Sulfation normally results in the reduction of biological activity and increase in water solubility relative to parent molecule. Therefore, a sulfate conjugate may be excreted from the body in urine and/or bile, or undergoes bioactivation by sulfatase enzymes<sup>196</sup>. The ontogeny of SULT enzymes is inadequately described as most of the studies were done using substrates that may or may not be specific to SULT isozymes<sup>46</sup>. A study by Richard *et al* <sup>197</sup> demonstrates high expression of SULT protein and activity in fetal and neonatal livers. The activity and protein levels increased with age so that the level measured in adult livers wer approximately 5-fold that observed in fetal livers<sup>198</sup>. Generally, sulfate conjugation is an efficient pathway in fetus, newborn, and infant compared with other phase II reactions<sup>46,199</sup>.

#### 2.1.3.2.3 N-acetylation

N-acetyl transferases (NAT) catalyze the addition of an acetyl moiety to xenobiotics or endogenous compounds that carry a primary aromatic amino or hydrazine functional group<sup>200,201</sup>. Acetylation of ρ-amino benzoic acid, a selective substrate for NAT, is detected in fetal hepatic and extrahepatic tissues<sup>202</sup>. The acetylation activity in adult liver tissues is more than 3-fold the fetal activity<sup>202</sup>. Studies in infants and children show the capacity of NAT enzymes to acetylate several NAT substrates. This activity was almost half the activity detected in adult<sup>203,204</sup>. A study in mice showed expression of NAT mRNA in fetal liver that increases with age after birth in a non-linear fashion<sup>205</sup>. Infant livers were able to acetylate several NAT's substrates with activity that increases with age<sup>205</sup>.

#### 2.1.3.2.4 Glutathione-S-Transferases

The glutathione-S-transferases (GST) represent a group of detoxification enzymes that are expressed in most tissues, particularly the liver and kidney<sup>206</sup>. These enzymes catalyze the conjugation of reduced glutathione (GSH) with an electrophilic center in a wide variety of xenobiotics<sup>184,207,208</sup>. Therefore, GST enzymes protect vital cellular nucleophilic constituents against electrophilic reactive species and prevent cellular damage <sup>209</sup>. In addition, GST enzymes act as an intracellular carrier protein for the transport of a wide variety of endogenous hydrophobic molecules, including bilirubin, heme and hormones<sup>208</sup>. Due to their toxicological significance and critical role in providing protection against cellular damage, genotoxicity and carcinogenesis, glutathione-S-transferases (GST) will be discussed in detail in this dissertation.

Given their important detoxification role in protecting against cellular damage and carcinogenesis, changes in the developmental expression of GST enzymes could have a profound toxicological impact on developing infants exposed to xenobiotics. Extensive studies in human and rodents livers have shown that GST enzymes are homodimers or heterodimers of subunits that have been grouped into seven classes based upon primary structure, catalytic properties and N-terminal amino acid sequences, namely alpha, mu, pi, sigma, theta, zeta and omega<sup>207</sup>. Dimerization of the subunit members of the same class gives rise to a significant number of isozymes (some examples are shown in Table 1.4). These isozymes show different, and sometimes, overlapping substrate specificity.

Class/family	Isozymes (examples)
Alpha	GSTA1-1, GSTA1-2, GSTA2-2, GSTA3-3, GSTA4-4
Mu	GSTM1-1, GSTM1-2, GSTM2-2, GSTM2-3, GSTM3-3,
	GSTM4-4, GSTM5-5
Pi	GSTP1-1
Sigma	GSTS1-1
Theta	GSTT1-1, GSTT2-2
Zeta	GSTZ1-1
Omega	GSTO1-1, GSTO 2-2

Table 1.4- Human GST isozymes (adapted from reference 207).

The expression of GST enzymes is complex and exhibits tissue, sex and age dependent patterns<sup>208</sup>. Studies for measuring the ontogeny of GST activity in humans were done using 1-chloro-2,4 dinitrochlorobenzen (CDNB) as a general electrophilic substrate<sup>210-215</sup>. These results indicate the ability of the fetus to detoxify possible reactive molecules that are generated intracellularly or cross the placenta. Although these studies suffer from a lack of specificity for GST isozymes, they demonstrate GST activity in the fetal livers at early gestational ages. Recently, with the utilization of highly specific antibodies, data regarding the developmental expression and cellular distribution of some GST isozymes have become available. The expression of Mu isozymes was detected as early as 10 weeks of gestation and did not change significantly until birth<sup>216</sup>. After birth, the expression level increased to reach the adult value at infant age of 42-85 weeks<sup>216,217</sup>. The expression of Pi isozymes was detected in the fetal liver at 8 week gestational age and undergoes downregulation until birth, where the expression is either very weak or undetected<sup>211,216,218</sup>. After 6 months of life, this isozyme is completely undetected in infant and adult livers<sup>217,219</sup>. The expression of alpha class isozymes was detected in fetal livers after 10 weeks of gestation<sup>216,220</sup>. The expression levels increase by age after birth, where they become the predominant isozymes in infant and adult liver<sup>220</sup>. Adult levels of expression were achieved at about 50 weeks of postnatal  $age^{211,216}$ .

In rats, the activity of GST enzymes is detected as early as 10 days of gestation and increases up to 5-fold during the fetal hepatoorganogenesis period<sup>115,193</sup>. After birth, the activity increases more than 2-fold, followed by a linear increase with age<sup>115,200,210</sup>. After 10 months of age, GST activity remains constant<sup>115</sup>.

# **3. Relevance of CYP Enzyme Ontogeny to Developmental Toxicity**

Physiological and biochemical processes that govern pharmacokinetics (absorption, distribution, metabolism and elimination) of administered/exposed dose undergo significant and dynamic changes during developmental maturation<sup>50,221</sup>. These pharmacokinetic (PK) differences between developmental ages result in differences in therapeutic/toxic outcomes that can not be expected by simple adult-toinfant extrapolation based on body weight or body surface area adjustment factors<sup>222-<sup>224</sup>. To remove uncertainties in such extrapolations, the internal dosimetry in various developmental ages of childhood has to be considered in relation to adults.</sup>

Since metabolism (mediated mainly by hepatic CYP enzymes) is a principal determinant of plasma concentration of chemicals, a thorough understanding of the ontogeny of these hepatic enzymes is required for establishing accurate and potential exposure risk assessment measures, especially in pediatric populations. For example, knowing that CYP1A2 enzyme is immature in full-term neonate may suggest that this population is under low risk of cancer due to CYP1A2-mediated bioactivation compared to adult. However, chemicals that are eliminated by CYP1A2 pathway may accumulate in neonates and enhance risk of toxicity compared to adults.

Given these significant bioactivation and detoxification roles of CYP enzymes, the susceptibility of the developing infant to a toxicant can be critically influenced, both qualitatively and quantitatively, by the developmental maturation (ontogeny) of CYP enzymes<sup>222</sup>. However, most of the available information regarding CYP bioactivation potential, induction and inhibition properties, effect of xenobiotics and pathophysiological states on their regulation and expression are based on *in vitro* and *in vitro* studies performed in adult life stage<sup>225-227</sup>.

Developmental toxicology studies suggest that exposure to xenobiotics can affect the developing child in ways often different than adults and can lead to profound and permanent effects if the insult occurs during a sensitive developmental period (critical window)<sup>222</sup>. However, due to several logistic and ethical issues, very few toxicological studies are available in pediatric populations<sup>228</sup>. Also, the few studies conducted in animal models (mostly rodents) do not assess toxicity at the most critical developmental ages. Furthermore, assessments are solely based on the maternal exposures without consideration of the knowledge of the developmental window of susceptibility (i.e. the onset of pharmacodynamic processes that lead to toxicity) and the internal dosimetry in the neonate during that developmental window<sup>229</sup>.

To overcome the ethical considerations that preclude the use of children in toxicological assessments, suitable animal models should be used to define a toxicokinetic basis for age-dependent differences in toxicity<sup>228</sup>. The appropriate animal model of developmental toxicology should exhibit sufficient similarities to human to ensure appropriate risk assessments. To relate susceptibility to injury by CYP enzyme-mediated xenobiotic metabolism to the time course of maturational changes in the xenobiotics metabolism, however, requires a detailed understanding of hepatic CYP enzyme ontogeny in an appropriate animal model.

# 4. Methods Used to Study the Ontogeny of Hepatic Drug Metabolizing Enzymes (DME)

The ontogeny of hepatic DME is generally studied by two principal approaches. The first approach is an *in vivo* study of the age-related changes in the elimination of a probe substrate for the enzyme being investigated. The second approach is an *in vitro* description of the age-related changes in expression of mRNA levels (using specific nucleic acid probes), protein contents (using specific monoclonal or polyclonal antibodies), and enzyme activity (using specific probe substrates).

#### 4.1 In Vivo Approach

In this approach, the ontogeny of enzyme activity is assessed *in vivo* by monitoring the systemic clearance of an *in vivo* metabolic probe substrate. For example, diazepam and midazolam have been frequently used to determine the ontogeny of CYP2C and CYP3A activities, respectively<sup>93,94</sup>. Some methods depend on monitoring the metabolic changes in some endogenous probe substrate. For example, age-related changes in urinary 6ß hydroxyl cortisol/cortisol ratio can be used to assess the ontogeny of CYP3A in human<sup>90,92</sup>. The *in vivo* approach has many limitations:

- The ethical, moral and technical boundaries of drug research in pediatrics<sup>60</sup>.
   Regulatory agencies have started to encourage the pharmaceutical industry to establish safety in children.
- Most of the *in vivo methods* are invasive and require multiple blood and /or urine collections. However, non-invasive techniques are becoming available. For example, breath tests using erythromycin or caffeine to assess the ontogeny of CYP3A or CYP1A2, respectively<sup>230,231</sup>.
- 3. In many situations, the elimination of the *in vivo* probe substrate is mediated by elimination pathways other than hepatic mechanisms. For example, diazepam and caffeine undergo renal elimination in addition to hepatic biotransformation<sup>91,93</sup>. Therefore, specificity of the probe substrates have to be considered carefully before interpretation of ontogeny studies using an *in vivo* approach.
- 4. This approach can not be used to assess the hepatic expression of DME during the gestational stage.

## 4.2 In Vitro Approach

This approach depends on the use of human liver tissues obtained immediately after death. Rapid collection of these tissues after death and their storage at -80 °C without frequent freeze-thaw cycles are very critical to decrease the rate of enzymatic degradation and mRNA loss<sup>232</sup>. Liver tissues are used to prepare hepatic microsomes,

cytosols or hepatocytes, which are used to assess the ontogeny of various phase I and phase II metabolic enzymes on the three systems biology levels. Taking into consideration the ontogeny of hepatic DME at mRNA, protein and activity levels can help in identifying the consequences of exposure to endogenous and exogenous factors on the normal ontogeny pattern. Such exposures during critical periods of development could induce permanent alterations in enzyme activity (i.e. genetic imprinting) that tend to be irreversible<sup>223,233</sup>. As well, activity levels of hepatic DME determine the bioactivation potential and the elimination kinetics of numerous toxicants. Characterization of the maturation profiles of these enzymes can facilitate predictions of xenobiotic disposition and toxicological impact during development<sup>77,234,235</sup>. Finally, incorporating molecular techniques into traditional toxicity studies can provide potential markers for the early detection of toxicity<sup>236</sup>.

## 4.2.1 mRNA Expression Level

This approach involves estimation of the corresponding mRNA using specific nucleic acid probes. There are four methods commonly used to assess mRNA expression; northern blotting, RNase protection assay, *in situ* hybridization and real time reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR). The latter is the most sensitive and flexible for mRNA quantitation<sup>237-240</sup>. Improved detection sensitivity allows the characterization of tissue and cell-specific distribution of genes where expression is limited, e.g. in fetal and neonatal livers.

## 4.2.2 Protein Expression Level

Due to the increased availability of monoclonal and polyclonal antibodies, immunoblotting (western blotting) became widely used to determine age-related changes in expression of different hepatic phase I and phase II enzyme<sup>94,105,108,111,157,241,242</sup>.

#### 4.2.3 Catalytic Enzyme Activity

This approach depends on incubating a probe substrate with age-dependent hepatic microsomes or cytosols under appropriate conditions, followed by monitoring metabolite formation rates that corresponds to the metabolic pathway under investigation. With such approach, the probe substrate should be specifically metabolized by the enzyme of interest. As well, the analytical method has to be sensitive enough to detect low metabolite levels in cases of low enzyme activity.

# 5. Developmental Changes in Zonal Expression of CYP Enzymes

Hepatic DME exhibit a prominent zonation across the hepatic acinus, the functional unit of the liver<sup>243</sup>. The zonal expression and induction of DME are related to the vascular architecture of the liver<sup>244</sup>. In the adult, CYP enzymes exhibit high expression and inducibility in hepatocytes of the perivenous region<sup>243,245,246</sup> which increases the vulnerability of this zone to toxicity due to accumulation of CYP-mediated generation of reactive intermediates. Phase II conjugation enzymes, in particular GST and UGT, also exhibit high expression levels in the perivenous region<sup>247,248</sup>. However, the gradient of expression from periportal to perivenous hepatocytes is less steep when compared to CYP enzymes<sup>245,249</sup>. Therefore, cells in the perivenous region may not have the detoxification capacity to compensate for the high rate of reactive intermediates formation, especially after exposure to CYP inducers. Another factor increasing the susceptibility of this region to toxicity is the minimal expression of glutathione peroxidase. This enzyme is responsible for the elimination of peroxides and its expression is focally concentrated in the periportal zone<sup>247</sup>.

Ratanasavanh *et a* $l^{243}$  showed age-dependent changes in the hepatic zonal expression pattern of several CYP enzymes. In the fetal and perinatal period, the liver exhibits a homogenous distribution of CYP enzymes, with some preference towards the perivenous zone for several enzymes. During postnatal development, a progressive heterogenous distribution of CYP enzymes is observed with more expression in the perivenous cells,

and for some CYP enzymes the expression becomes completely absent in the periportal hepatocytes<sup>243</sup>.

In rat livers, distribution of some CYP enzymes remains homogeneous from birth to 5 days after birth<sup>1</sup>. However, by 15 days of age, CYP expression becomes localized in the perivenous hepatocytes.

# 6. Approaches to Predict Hepatic Clearance

Several approaches have been applied for the prediction of hepatic drug clearance in humans. These approaches are based upon *in vitro* data in human and animals, and/or *in vivo* pre-clinical data. *In vitro* metabolism studies provide estimates of the Michaelis-Menten kinetic parameters and, hence, an estimate of *in vitro* intrinsic clearance (Cl<sub>int</sub>). This Cl<sub>int</sub> estimate, then, is extrapolated to the whole body by the use of hepatic scaling factors, which is subsequently incorporated into a model of hepatic clearance (Cl<sub>H</sub>) (i.e. the Well-Stirred Model)<sup>225</sup>. Predictions based on *in vivo* pre-clinical data can be performed by using allometric scaling techniques<sup>250</sup>. An alternative approach is the use of physiologically-based pharmacokinetic (PBPK) models that have been developed based upon physiological principles and measured physiological parameters<sup>234</sup>.

#### 6.1 Prediction from In Vitro Data

The basis of the extrapolation from *in vitro* data to *in vivo* situations involves the parameter, intrinsic clearance (Cl<sub>int</sub>), which is a pure measure of inherent capacity of hepatic enzymes to eliminate a drug in absence of other physiological determinants of hepatic clearance such as hepatic blood flow and drug binding within blood matrix<sup>225</sup>. *In vitro* Cl<sub>int</sub> can be obtained from metabolic studies using hepatocytes, liver slices, and hepatic microsomes<sup>251,252</sup>. The strategy of *in vitro-in vivo* extrapolation has been fully explained<sup>225,227,253</sup> and is illustrated in Figure 1.3.



**Figure 1.3-** Strategy for extrapolation of *in vitro* intrinsic clearance to *in vivo* hepatic metabolic clearance (modified from reference 225).

The first stage of the strategy is to calculate *in vitro*  $Cl_{int}$  from the ratio of the maximum velocity of the metabolic reaction ( $V_{max}$ ) to the Michaelis-Menten constant ( $K_M$ ) determined from the initial rate of metabolic formation or drug loss as a function of substrate concentration<sup>250</sup>. The second stage involves scaling of the *in vitro* intrinsic clearance estimate to an *in vivo*  $Cl_{int}$ . The hepatic scaling factor will depend on the *in vitro* system initially used. The last stage of the strategy includes the application of a liver model that allows the use of  $Cl_{int}$  to estimate the hepatic clearance of a specific pathway(s). The use of a liver model accounts for the influence of non-enzymatic factors (e.g. hepatic blood flow and plasma/blood protein binding of a drug) in determining the *in vivo* clearance process.

#### **6.2 Allometric Scaling**

Allometric scaling is based upon an observable relationship between body weight and a physiological parameter, e.g. hepatic or renal blood flow<sup>254</sup>. A similar approach can be applied to pharmacokinetic processes where the allometric scaling method considers the relationship between a physiological parameter and a PK parameter, e.g. body weight and volume of distribution ( $V_d$ ). Allometric scaling can be applied to correlate human pharmacokinetics with pharmacokinetics in other species<sup>227</sup>.

Numerous physical and physiological functions vary according to some mathematical function of body weight (BW), and appear reasonably uniform across a wide range of animal species. This can allow prediction of PK parameters in one species based on values from other mammalian species<sup>250,255</sup>. In addition to cross-species scaling, allometric scaling can be used to extrapolate within humans, which can be beneficial in adjusting drug dosages in infants and predicting their susceptibility to drug toxicity<sup>256</sup>.

The allometric equation allows prediction of PK parameters from the product of an allometric coefficient and the body weight to a power function represented by Equation 1.11.

$$Y = a.(BW)^b \tag{1.11}$$

where Y is the biological characteristic to be predicted (e.g. clearance), BW is the body weight, *a* is the allometric coefficient and *b* is the allometric exponent.

Although some success has been achieved using this empirical equation<sup>256</sup>, many predictions are rather poor especially for compounds that undergo hepatic metabolism<sup>250,255</sup>. Boxenbaum<sup>231,255</sup> suggested the incorporation of empirical correction factors such as maximum lifespan potential (MLP) and brain weight (BrW), as correction factors to predict systemic clearance for compounds that undergo oxidative metabolism, Equations 1.12 and 1.13.

Cl. MLP = $a. (BW)^{b}$	(1.12)
Cl. BrW = $a$ . (BW) <sup>b</sup>	(1.13)

Although these correction factors improve predictions, allometric scaling generally fails to provide accurate quantitative predictions of metabolic clearance in adult or pediatric patients<sup>255</sup>. This is largely due to species difference in rates of drug metabolism and differences in drug metabolism pattern (phase I and phase II).

For high clearance compounds, Cl<sub>H</sub> is limited by Q<sub>H</sub>, which scales allometrically across different species<sup>254</sup>. Typically, allometric models provide reasonable predictions for high clearance drugs. For drugs with low or intermediate clearance values, a more

accurate prediction of  $Cl_H$  could be achieved using allometric scaling that combines *in vitro* hepatocytes and *in vivo* clearance data in animal species with *in vitro* hepatocytes data in humans<sup>250</sup> according to Equation 1.14.

$$Cl_{H} = Cl_{animal (in vivo)} \left( \frac{Cl_{human (hepatocytes)}}{Cl_{animal (hepatocytes)}} \right)$$
(1.14)

Many factors contribute to the uncertainty associated with allometric predictions of hepatic clearance in humans. Such factors include inter-individual variability, extrahepatic metabolism, involvement of an active transport process and inactivation of the metabolic enzymes during processing or storage of the liver samples<sup>235,250,255</sup>.

### 6.3 Physiologically-Based Pharmacokinetic (PBPK) Models

PBPK modeling provides a more scientifically credible extrapolation across species and across different routes and classes of exposure and, therefore, can provide more accurate risk assessments<sup>78,234</sup>. Pharmacokinetic approaches that are used to describe the relationship between the exposure and concentration-time profile are, in many cases, limited and provide little relationship to the physiological processes involved. PBPK, being based on physiological and physicochemical properties of a chemical, provides a more meaningful approach to understand the consequences of an exposure to such a chemical<sup>234</sup> and facilitates prediction of events in humans from animal data<sup>78</sup>. Physiological parameters used to build a PBPK model include, organ size, structure, blood flow and functions. Chemical parameters include binding with blood constituents, binding to tissues, membrane permeability and sensitivity to enzymatic reactions<sup>251</sup>. However, generation and validation of a PBPK model is resource and time intensive, and it would be neither possible nor practical to generate PBPK models for all chemicals<sup>78,257</sup>.

# 7. Development of a Pharmacokinetic Model of Hepatic CYP-Mediated Elimination

A novel mathematical pharmacokinetic model that describes the postnatal maturation of hepatic human CYP-mediated elimination has been described<sup>77</sup>(See Appendix I for details of the model). This model was developed based on an *in vitro/in vivo* extrapolation of CYP enzyme activity data for CYP-specific probe substrates in age-dependent human fetal and pediatric hepatic microsomes<sup>225,227,251</sup>. The model can be used to predict age- and enzyme-specific infant scaling factors (ISF) that directly correlates adult clearance values with the ability of the infant to eliminate drugs by the same metabolic pathway (j), as shown in Equations 1.15 and 1.16.

$$Cl_{H(j,t)}^{infant} = ISF_{H(j,t)}Cl_{systemic}^{adult}$$
(1.15)

$$ISF_{(j,t)} = ISF_{(j,0)} + ISF_{D}(1 - e^{-kt})$$
(1.16)

Where ISF(j,t) is the predicted hepatic CYP enzyme-specific infant scaling activity *in vivo* at age, t (day);  $ISF_{(j,0)}$  is the scaled *in vivo* CYP enzyme activity present at birth;  $ISF_D$  is a fitted parameter; and k is the first-order rate constant describing the rate of increase in CYP enzyme pathway efficiency (day<sup>-1</sup>). Comparing the predicted values of clearance by the model with those published in the literature demonstrated that the model gave reasonable predictions for clearance mediated by some CYP pathways; however, poor predictions were shown for other pathways<sup>77</sup>.

Development of a robust and predictive model of CYP-mediated clearance will require extensive hepatic microsomal activity data and an evaluation of the underlying model assumptions. The critical assumptions that were used to build the general model of CYP enzyme ontogeny include<sup>77</sup>:

- Hepatic microsomal protein (MP) content (mg per g liver weight) is constant throughout postnatal developmental. Therefore an adult MP value (52.5 mg per g liver)<sup>258</sup> was assumed for all infants age groups.
- 2. Substrate affinity of the CYP enzyme (expressed as the Michaelis-Menten constant, K<sub>M</sub>) is constant and not a function of developmental age.
- 3. Age-dependent differences in metabolic clearances reflect exclusively the

differences in the amount of functional enzymes (V<sub>max</sub>).

- 4. Catalytic CYP activity is proportional to the functional CYP protein level.
- 5. The drug has a low hepatic extraction ratio value.
- Different substrates for the same CYP enzyme should exhibit similar pattern of age-dependent changes in V<sub>max</sub> values.
- 7. No significant contribution from uptake and/or efflux transporters in the intrinsic clearance.
- 8. The elimination pathway is known and similar between infants and adults.

If these assumptions are valid then the observed differences in  $Cl_{int}$  between infants and adults are due to the degree of functional maturation of the particular CYP enzyme or the amount of functional CYP enzyme (i.e.  $V_{max}$ ).

# 8. Use of Rats as an Animal Model in Studying CYP Ontogeny

As mentioned above, hepatic drug metabolizing enzymes (DME) undergo a significant and dynamic maturation during development. Therefore, simple extrapolation of adult ontogeny data to infants could result in under-or over-predictions of the exposure risk. Development of an accurate toxicological risk assessment tool to predict the potential risk of toxicity in the developing infant following exposure to xenobiotics requires a full understanding of the developmental maturation and factors affecting activities of the DME (e.g. CYP enzymes) that are involved in bioactivation of xenobiotics. Ethical and technical limitations restrict the use of human fetal and infant tissues in drug metabolism studies<sup>60</sup>. Therefore, a suitable animal model system has to be used followed by appropriate extrapolation to human.

Due to the sufficient similarities between rats and human regarding developmental physiology (e.g. liver development), enzymology and molecular mechanisms affecting drug metabolism<sup>1,259</sup>, the rat model system has been used frequently to provide initial information about drug metabolism in human<sup>1,116,260-262</sup>. Many CYP genes, particularly *CYP1A* and *CYP2E1* subfamilies show remarkable conservation between human and rats<sup>2</sup>. These genes are regulated in diverse ways including transcriptional

and posttranscriptional mechanisms<sup>160</sup>. Most of the hepatic CYP genes are under control of liver-enriched transcriptional factors, which themselves undergo certain developmental changes<sup>160,167,169</sup>. Comparison of DNA sequences of both human and rat *CYP2E1* gene revealed a high degree of nucleotide similarities (80-94%) within 150 bp of the RNA polymerase start point<sup>4,263,264</sup>. This could indicate the presence of a well-conserved regulatory region that might bind transcription factors. As well, Hepatocyte Nuclear Factor-1 $\alpha$  (HNF-1 $\alpha$ ) is the primary factor responsible for hepatic expression of *CYP1A2* and *CYP2E1* genes in both rat and human<sup>160,169</sup>. Developmental activation of the genes encoding liver-enriched transcriptional factors determines when a particular CYP enzyme will be expressed. Physiological/hormonal or developmentally-programmed factors that control these genes are still not fully understood both in human and rat<sup>160</sup>.

Expression of CYP genes in human is regulated in a similar manner to rodents<sup>1,160,259</sup>. For example, the induction of *CYP1A* gene in human and rats occurs via the aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR), which associates with the AhR nuclear translocator (ARNT) in response to many polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) such as Benzo[a]Pyrene and 2,3,7,8 tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin (TCDD)<sup>170</sup>. Similarly, the constitutive androstane receptor (CAR) and pregnane-X-receptor (PXR), both heterodimerize with the retinoid X receptor (RXR)<sup>265-267</sup>. This complex binds to a *cis*-acting sequence in the promoter region of *CYP2B* or *CYP3A* genes leading to induction of the gene expression by xenobiotics such as phenobarbital-like compounds (*CYP2B*) or dexamethasone/ rifampin-type compounds (*CYP3A*) in both human and rats<sup>265,267</sup>.

Due to such close similarity between human and rats regarding CYP basic enzymology, biochemistry and regulation, rat will be used as an animal model to evaluate the underlying assumptions of the PK model of hepatic CYP-mediated clearance (section 8). As well, rat is a commonly used model for toxicological and nutrition studies, in human disease states and in pre-clinical studies. Consequently, the ontogeny of hepatic CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 will be characterized at the hepatic mRNA, protein, activity level and immunolocalization in the liver. The significance of these studies will be twofold: the first is to assess the appropriateness of the rat as a

potential model system. Second, studying the ontogeny on a systems level can provide insight into enzyme regulation and potential sites of perturbation due to various endogenous and exogenous factors during development.

# 9. Relevance of the Project to Paediatric Health and Developmental Toxicology

The developing infant is exposed to xenobiotics through breastfeeding, drug therapy and from the surrounding environment<sup>233</sup>. The available information regarding the developmental maturation of physiological and biochemical determinants of drug pharmacokinetics (PK) or toxicokinetics (TK) is very limited<sup>250</sup>. Consequently, most of the approaches used to design dosage regimens or assess risk of toxicity following exposures of pediatric populations to xenobiotics are based upon dosages or toxicity information from adult populations<sup>221,233</sup>.

Accurate estimation of the exposure outcome in infants necessitates a full characterization of the developmental maturation (ontogeny) of physiological processes that determine the potential ability of the developing child to handle such exposures. One of the most critical determinants of an exposure outcome is the activity of the xenobiotic elimination mechanisms, especially cytochrome P450 (CYP) enzymes<sup>222</sup>. These enzymes catalyze xenobiotic elimination, but may also bioactiavte xenobiotics leading to the generation of reactive intermediates that can induce cellular damage and cancer<sup>98,100</sup>. Because these enzymes undergo significant and dynamic maturation during fetal and postnatal maturation<sup>110,268</sup>, the developing infant is expected to respond in a different way than the adult to the same exposure dose (normalized to body weight)<sup>229,233</sup>. Accordingly, simple adult-to-infant extrapolation of toxicity data can lead to an underestimation (or sometimes overestimation) of the toxicological risk to xenobiotic exposure<sup>221,224</sup>. The consequences of this inaccurate risk assessment can sometimes be very serious, e.g. infant toxicity from drugs in breast milk or discontinuation of either breastfeeding or nursing maternal therapy.

Being critical in determining the internal dosimetry of the exposure dose, the degree of maturation of these CYP enzymes at a particular developmental stage will determine the pharmacological/toxicological outcome to this exposure at that particular

developmental stage<sup>224</sup>. Unfortunately, limited information is available regarding the ontogeny of CYP enzymes in pediatric populations.

As an initial step towards improving risk assessment in paediatric populations, a general ontogeny model was developed to predict age-specific CYP enzyme activity<sup>77</sup>. This model could be a promising risk assessment tool if it has the ability to predict the capacity of an infant to eliminate specific CYP substrates. One of the purposes of this dissertation is to evaluate the underlying assumptions of this model and identify all model parameters needed to account for the developmental patterns of the various CYP enzymes. Furthermore, as a proof-of-concept, the potential ability of the model to predict *in vivo* clearance of CYP substrates will be assessed in a rat model.

Another important purpose of this dissertation is to extensively characterize the ontogeny of CYP enzymes in a rat animal model at the mRNA, protein, activity and intrahepatic expression levels. Although interspecies differences exist in the rate and pattern of CYP enzyme maturation, characterization of CYP ontogeny in rats and a comparison with known human CYP ontogeny may identify a model system to investigate underlying toxicokinetic mechanisms for age-dependent differences in susceptibility to toxicity. The outcome of this study will have a significant impact in risk assessment in paediatric populations as it will allow risk estimation during critical developmental windows where the toxic effects would not be observable in adults<sup>229,233</sup>.

A third objective of this study was to characterize the ontogeny pattern of the important phase II enzymes, glutathione-S-transferases (GST)<sup>207,268</sup>. GST enzymes play a key role in the detoxification of reactive metabolites generated by CYP-mediated reactions<sup>207</sup>. A parallel characterization of CYP and phase II enzyme activity during maturation is very significant in estimating the developmental changes in the bioactivation/detoxification balance and the exposure outcome to the developing infant.

Overall the main aim of this research project is to improve exposure risk assessment in paediatric populations through the potential identification of an animal model for extrapolation of developmental toxicological data to humans and the development of a PK model that describes CYP enzyme ontogeny to provide a predictive model for risk assessment.

## 2. PURPOSE OF PROJECT

The overall purpose of this dissertation research is to characterize the developmental maturation of two toxicologically relevant CYP enzymes, CYP2E1 and CYP1A2, and general GST activity in the rat and to evaluate the assumptions of a pharmacokinetic model that describes the postnatal maturation of these CYPs and the model's ability to predict *in vivo* elimination capacity. To achieve this purpose, the research addresses the following objectives and hypotheses:

#### **Objective 1**

To evaluate the underlying assumptions of the general PK model describing the postnatal maturation of hepatic cytochrome P450 enzyme activity using a male Sprague-Dawley rat model system.

*Hypothesis:* Age-dependent increases in intrinsic clearance are attributed only to changes in  $V_{max}$  (the Michaelis-Menten parameter that is proportional to the quantity of metabolically active enzyme/mg microsomal protein).

#### Specific aims

- Development and validation of HPLC assays for probe substrates and metabolites of CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 to serve as markers for the maturation of CYP enzyme activity.
- b. Assessment of the age-dependent changes in microsomal protein content, liver weight and body weight from late gestation to adulthood in rats.
- c. Characterization of the Michaelis-Menten parameters (K<sub>M</sub> and V<sub>max</sub>) of CYP-specific substrates in age-dependent rat hepatic microsomes. This will allow the assessment of the age-dependent changes in intrinsic clearance of specific CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 probe substrates.

- d. Characterization of the developmental changes in V<sub>max</sub> using a second probe substrate to test whether enzyme activity assessed from one substrate will accurately predict the level of activity for all substrates of the same enzyme.
- e. Determination of age-dependent changes in CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 protein levels using immunoblotting technique followed by comparison with the developmental changes in enzyme activity (V<sub>max</sub>). This will test if there is proportional relationship between enzyme activity and protein level during development.

**Objective 2**: To develop a PK model describing the ontogeny of hepatic CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 activity in a rat model system.

### Specific aims:

- a. Estimation of the age-dependent changes in infant scaling factors (ISF) using the calculated values of HSF and  $V_{max}$  at postnatal and adult ages in rats.
- b. Use of a PK modeling software to model age-dependent changes in ISF.
- c. Assessment of the ability of CYP2E1 model to predict the oral clearance of chlorzoxazone, a CYP2E1 probe substrate, in rats.

**Objective 3**: To characterize the ontogeny of rat hepatic CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 at mRNA, protein, activity and intrahepatic expression levels. Comparison of the expression data with known information about the ontogeny of these enzymes in human livers would provide evidence for the use of the rat as a model for developmental toxicokinetic studies.

*Hypothesis:* Age-dependent changes in mRNA, protein expression, activity and hepatic zonal expression patterns in rat are similar to developmental patterns in human livers reported in the literature.

## Specific aims

- a. Evaluation of developmental changes in rat hepatic CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 mRNA expression using real-time RT-PCR.
- b. Evaluation of rat hepatic CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 protein expression in age-dependent rat hepatic microsomes using specific antibodies and immunoblotting techniques.

- c. Evaluation of rat hepatic CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 maximum enzyme activity (V<sub>max</sub>) in age-dependent rat hepatic microsomes using saturating concentrations of specific probe substrates.
- d. Characterization of the age-dependent changes in hepatic zonal expression of CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 enzymes in frozen liver sections using immunohistochemical analysis.

**Objective 4**: To evaluate the metabolic balance between hepatic CYP2E1 or CYP1A2 and GST during development.

*Hypothesis:* The ontogeny of hepatic GST activity parallels the activity of hepatic CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 enzymes.

## Specific aims

- a. Assessment of the ontogeny of GST activity in age-dependent rat hepatic cytosols using a general probe substrate.
- b. Comparison of the ontogeny of hepatic CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 with GST activity.

#### **3. MATERIALS AND METHODS**

#### **3.1 Materials**

#### 3.1.1 Animals

Sprague-Dawley rats were obtained from Charles River Canada (St. Constant, PQ). Eight pregnant rats were received at day 14 of pregnancy and were allowed to acclimatize for one week. At day 21 of pregnancy, four pregnant rats were anesthetized under isoflurane and the fetuses were collected. The remaining pregnant rats were allowed to give birth and one male pup from each dam was collected at postnatal ages 1, 3, 5, 7 and 10 days. Male Sprague-Dawley rats at ages 1, 2, 3, 5, 8, 11 and 15 weeks (n = 4) were obtained from Charles River Canada (St. Constant, Quebec) and allowed an acclimatization period of one week. Rats were housed under controlled temperature (22  $\pm 2^{\circ}$ C), and were maintained on a 12 hour light: dark cycle (0700 to 1900 hours). All rats received standard laboratory rat chow and water ad libitum throughout the acclimatization period. At the appropriate age, total body weights were recorded. Subsequently, rats were lightly anaesthetized (isoflurane), killed by guillotine, and their livers rapidly removed and rinsed in ice-cold 0.9% NaCl. Wet liver weights were recorded and the liver tissues were divided so that mRNA and protein expression levels, enzyme activity, and immunohistochemistry (IHC) could be simultaneously studied. Liver tissues to be used for microsomal preparation and IHC were flash frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C until use. Liver samples for mRNA expression analysis were stored in RNAlater<sup>™</sup> (Sigma-Aldrich, Oakville, ON) solution at -20°C until RNA extraction.

All procedures were conducted in accordance with the Canadian Council of Animal Care guidelines for the care and use of laboratory animals and were approved by the Animal Care and Supply Committee of the University of Saskatchewan.

#### 3.1.2 Chemicals and Reagents

Chlorzoxazone (CZX), 6-hydroxychlorzoxazone (6-OH CZX), umbelliferone (UMB), p-nitrophenol (PNP), p-nitrocatechol (4NC), salicylamide, phenacetin, acetaminophen, caffeine, resorufin, methoxyresorufin (MR) and all chemicals used for microsomal preparation, determination of microsomal protein content and enzyme assays were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich Canada Ltd. (Oakville, ON, Canada). Acetonitrile and methanol were high pressure liquid chromatography (HPLC) grade obtained from EMD chemicals (Durham, NC). Rat CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 supersomes were obtained from BD Bioscience (Woburn, MA, USA). Prestained SDS-PAGE standards, peroxidase-conjugated antibody (Goat anti-rabbit IgG HRP conjugate), Immun-Star HRP kit, Bio-Rad Trans-Blot cell and polyvinylidene difluoride (PVDF) membranes (0.2 µm) were purchased from Bio-Rad Laboratories (Hercules, CA). Rabbit anti-Human/Rat CYP2E1 and sheep anti-rat CYP1A2 polyclonal antibodies and rabbit anti-sheep IgG HRP conjugate antibody were obtained from Chemicon International (Temecula, CA). RNeasy Midi columns for RNA extraction and QuantiTect RT-PCR kit were obtained from Qiagen (Mississauga, ON). Biotinylated goat anti-rabbit IgG H&L was purchased from Abcam (Hornaby, ON). All other chemicals used were analytical grade.

#### **3.2 Methods**

## 3.2.1 Preparation of Hepatic Microsomes and Cytosols

Hepatic microsomes were prepared as described previously<sup>269</sup>. Briefly, 0.5 g liver samples were accurately weighed and homogenized in 2 mL ice-cold homogenization buffer (50 mM Tris buffer, 150 mM KCl, 0.1 mM dithiothreitol, 1 mM Ethylenediamine tetraaceate (EDTA), 20% glycerol and 0.1 mM phenylmethylsulfonylfluoride) using a Polytron homogenizer. The homogenate was centrifuged at 9000 × g for 30 min at 4°C in a Beckman L8-55 Ultracentrifuge (Palo Alto, CA). The supernatant was carefully transferred to clean ultracentrifuge tubes and centrifuged at 100 000 × g for 30 min at 4°C. The supernatant (the cytosol) was removed and transferred to labeled tubes and stored at -80°C until use. The pellet was washed in 2 mL of ice-cold 150 mM KCl and centrifuged again at 100 000  $\times$  g for 30 min at 4°C. The pellet was resuspended in 2 mL of ice-cold 0.25 M sucrose solution and aliquots were stored in cryogenic microcentrifuge tubes (400 µL) at -80°C until use.

### 3.2.2 Determination of Microsomal and Cytosolic Protein Content

Protein concentrations of microsomal and cytosolic fractions were determined in triplicate by the method of Lowry *et al*<sup>270</sup> using bovine serum albumin as a calibration standard. Absorbance was measured at 750 nm on an Agilent 8453E UV-visible spectrophotometer using Chemstation software (Palo Alto, CA). Cytochrome P450 content was estimated by absorbance differences between 450 and 490 nm based on the method of Omura and Sato<sup>271</sup>.

## 3.2.3 Microsomal Incubations with CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 Probe Substrates

Preliminary experiments in 50-day old male rat hepatic microsomes were conducted to determine the optimum incubation conditions (incubation time and microsomal protein content) to give linear metabolite formation kinetics for CYP2E1-mediated hydroxylation of CZX and PNP and CYP1A2-mediated methoxyresorufin-Odealkylation (MROD) and phenacetin-O-dealkylation (POD) activities. Michaelis-Menten parameters,  $K_M$  and  $V_{max}$ , for CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 were determined by measuring formation velocities of 6 OH-CZX and resorufin at substrate concentrations of 0 to 1000  $\mu$ M and 0 to 1000 nM, respectively. Metabolite formation velocities for PNP and phenacetin were measured at saturating probe substrate concentrations of 500 and 150  $\mu$ M respectively, in age-specific rat hepatic microsomes to provide estimates of  $V_{max}$ . Table 3.1 demonstrates enzymatic reactions mediated by CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 enzymes, their substrates and the major metabolites formed by these reactions.


**Table 3.1** – Selected enzymatic reactions mediated by CYP2E1 and CYP1A2, their selective substrates, formed metabolites and analytical methods used for measuring enzyme activity.

### 3.2.3.1 CZX hydroxylation activity

Microsomal incubation mixtures consisted of CZX (0-1000  $\mu$ M), 0.4 mg/mL liver microsomal protein, 2 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 1 mM NADPH, and 50 mM phosphate buffer, pH 7.4, in a final volume of 0.5 mL. Incubations were carried out at 37°C in uncapped 12×75 mm glass culture tubes in a shaking water bath. The reaction was terminated by addition of 50  $\mu$ L ice-cold phosphoric acid (50 %, v/v in water) followed by the addition of 50  $\mu$ L of the internal standard solution (0.078 mM umbelliferone). The mixtures were vortex mixed for 20 s. After centrifugation at 12 000 ×*g* in an Eppendorf microcentrifuge (Model 5417 C, Brinkman instruments, Westbury, NY) for 20 min, 30  $\mu$ L of the supernatant was injected directly onto the analytical column for immediate HPLC analysis of 6-OH CZX.

# 3.2.3.2 PNP hydroxylation activity

Microsomal incubation mixtures consisted of PNP (500  $\mu$ M), 0.4 mg/mL liver microsomal protein, 1 mM ascorbic acid, 2 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 1 mM NADPH, and 50 mM phosphate buffer, pH 6.8, in a final volume of 0.5 mL. After a preincubation period of 1 min at 37°C, the reaction was started by addition of NADPH and incubated at 37°C in glass culture tubes for 30 min in a shaking water bath. The reaction was terminated by addition of 50  $\mu$ L ice-cold phosphoric acid (50 %, v/v in water) then 50  $\mu$ L of the internal standard solution (salicylamide, 6 $\mu$ g/mL) was added. The mixtures were vortex mixed for 20 s. After centrifugation at 12 000 × g for 20 min, 20  $\mu$ L of the supernatant was injected directly onto the analytical column for immediate HPLC analysis of 4NC.

# 3.2.3.3 Methoxyresorufin-O-dealkylation (MROD) activity

Incubation mixtures contained 50 mM potassium phosphate buffer (pH 7.4), 2 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 0.08 mg/mL liver microsomal protein, methoxyresorufin (0-1000 nM) and 1 mM NADPH in a final volume of 0.5 mL. Methoxyresorufin was dissolved in methanol

(final concentration <1%). After pre-incubation for 1 minute, the reaction was started by the addition of NADPH. The mixture was incubated at 25°C for 8 minutes with shaking. The reaction was stopped by placing the tubes on ice and adding 0.5 mL ice-cold methanol with vortexing. After cooling on ice for 15 minutes, the mixture was centrifuged at  $6000 \times g$  for 20 minutes. The supernatant was filtered with a membrane filter of 0.45 µm pore size. Fifty µL of the filtrate was analyzed by HPLC for resorufin.

# 3.2.3.4 Phenacetin-O-dealkylation (POD) activity

Incubation mixtures contained 50 mM potassium phosphate buffer (pH 7.4), 4 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 0.4 mg/mL rat liver microsomal protein, phenacetin (150  $\mu$ M) and 1 mM NADPH in a final volume of 0.5 mL. Phenacetin, dissolved in methanol, was added to the incubation tubes and evaporated at 45°C with the vacuum concentrator. The incubation mixture, except for microsomes and NADPH was redissolved by sonication for 1 minute. The mixture, including microsomes and NADPH, was incubated at 37°C for 60 minutes with shaking. The reaction was stopped by placing the tubes on ice and adding 100  $\mu$ L cold acetonitrile followed by the addition of 50  $\mu$ L internal standard solution (Caffeine, 5  $\mu$ g/mL in methanol). The mixture was centrifuged at 10 000 × *g* for 5 minutes, and the supernatant was evaporated at 45°C for 15 minutes with a vacuum concentrator. Fifty  $\mu$ L of the remaining sample was analyzed by HPLC for acetaminophen.

# 3.2.4 HPLC Analyses

Metabolite formation velocities in rat hepatic microsomal preparations were monitored using validated HPLC methods. The HPLC system consisted of Waters Model 600 solvent delivery system, Model 486 variable UV-VIS detector or a model 2475 multiwavelength fluorescence detector, Model 717 Plus autosampler and a Millennium data module (Millipore-Waters, Milford, MA, USA). All chromatographic separations were carried out on a reversed phase  $C_{18}$  column (Supelcosil<sup>®</sup> 150 × 4.6 mm I.D., 5 µm particle size) maintained at 25°C.

HPLC method validation procedures were performed according to FDA guidelines to evaluate the suitability of the method for the quantitative determination of the analyte(s) of interest in age-specific rat hepatic microsomes. Specificity was tested by analysis of four different rat hepatic microsomal preparations supplemented only with internal standard to ensure the absence of endogenous compounds with the same retention times as the metabolite of interest. The linearity of the method was evaluated by processing a 5-10 point calibration standards spiked into blank hepatic microsomal suspensions on different days. The peak height ratios between metabolite and the internal standard were plotted against the nominal concentration of the metabolite. A linear least-squares regression analysis was conducted to determine slope, intercept and coefficient of determination  $(r^2)$  to demonstrate linearity of the method. The accuracy and precision of the proposed method were determined by analysis of the quality control (QC) samples. The intra-day accuracy and precision were assessed from the results of six replicate analyses of QC samples (low, medium and high) on a single assay day. The inter-day accuracy and precision were determined from the same QC samples analyzed on 3-6 consecutive days. Precision is expressed as % relative standard deviation (RSD), while accuracy (%) is expressed as [(calculated amount/predicted amount) x100]. The limit of detection (LOD) was defined as the lowest detectable concentration, taking into consideration a signal-to-noise ratio of 3. Limit of quantification (LOQ) was determined at the lowest concentration at which the precision, expressed as % RSD, is less than 20% and accuracy, expressed as relative difference between the measured and true value, is less than 20%.

#### 3.2.4.1 CZX hydroxylation activity

Chlorzoxazone 6-hydroxlation to 6 hydroxychlorzoxazone (6-OH CZX) was assayed by a modification of a previously reported method<sup>272</sup>. UV absorbance was monitored at 295 nm ( $\lambda_{max}$  for 6-OH CZX). CZX, 6-OH CZX, and umbelliferone (internal standard) were eluted under isocratic conditions using a mobile phase composed of acetonitrile and 0.25% acetic acid (20:80) delivered at 1.0 mL/min. Calibration curves were constructed from known concentrations of 6-OH CZX working solutions and 50 µL of the internal standard solution (0.078 mM umbelliferone) added to heat-inactivated (55°C for 5 min) rat hepatic microsomes and diluted with 50 mM phosphate buffer (pH 7.4) to achieve calibration standards of 0.31-40 µM 6-OH CZX in a total volume of 0.5 mL. Three quality control (QC) samples at 0.625 µM (low), 1.25 µM (medium), and 5 µM (high) were prepared independent of those used for the calibration curves. The mixtures were vortex mixed for 20 s. After centrifugation at 12  $000 \times g$  in an Eppendorf microcentrifuge (Model 5417 C, Brinkmann instruments, Westbury, NY, USA) for 20 min, 30 µL of the supernatant was injected directly onto the analytical column for immediate HPLC analysis. Concentration of the metabolite was calculated by interpolation from the linear calibration curve using measured metabolite to internal standard peak height ratios. The metabolite formation rates were calculated in units of nmol 6-OH CZX formed per minute per mg microsomal protein.

### 3.2.4.2 PNP hydroxylation activity

ρ-Nitrophenol (PNP) hydroxylation to ρ-nitrocatechol (4NC) was assayed as reported previously<sup>273</sup>. UV absorbance was monitored at 250 nm ( $\lambda_{max}$  for 4NC). PNP, 4NC, and salicylamide (internal standard) were eluted under isocratic conditions using a mobile phase composed of 22% acetonitrile, 0.1% trifluoroacetic acid and 0.5% triethylamine delivered at 1.0 mL/min. Known amounts of 4NC working solutions were added to heat-inactivated (55°C for 5 min) rat hepatic microsomes and diluted with 50 mM phosphate buffer (pH 6.8) to achieve calibration standards of 0.1-40 µM 4NC in a total volume of 0.5 mL. Three quality control (QC) samples at 0.5  $\mu$ M (low), 5  $\mu$ M (medium), and 20  $\mu$ M (high) were prepared independent of those used for the calibration curves. These QC samples were prepared on the day of analysis in the same way as calibration standards. To 500 µL calibration standards, QC samples, or microsomal incubation mixtures, 50  $\mu$ L ice-cold phosphoric acid (50 %, v/v in water) and 50  $\mu$ L of salicylamide solution ( $6 \mu g/mL$  in methanol) were added. The mixtures were vortex mixed for 20 s. After centrifugation at 12 000  $\times$  g in an Eppendorf microcentrifuge (Model 5417 C, Brinkmann instruments, Westbury, NY, USA) for 20 min, 20 µL of the supernatant was injected directly onto the analytical column for immediate HPLC

analysis of 4NC. The metabolite formation rates were calculated in units of nmol 4NC formed per minute per mg microsomal protein.

### 3.2.4.3 Methoxyresorufin-O-dealkylation (MROD) activity

MROD activity was assayed by an HPLC method with fluorescence detection as reported previously<sup>274</sup>. The excitation and emission wavelengths were fixed at 560 and 585 nm, respectively. The mobile phase consisted of 20 mM phosphate buffer (pH 6.8), methanol and acetonitrile at a ratio of 50:45:5, delivered at 0.8 mL/min. Known amounts of resorufin working solutions were added to heat-inactivated (55°C for 5 min) rat hepatic microsomes and diluted with 50 mM phosphate buffer (pH 7.4)-methanol (50:50) to achieve calibration standards of 0.04-2 nM. Three quality control (QC) samples at 0.10 nM (low), 0.40 nM (medium), and 1.0 nM (high) were prepared independent of those used for the calibration curves. These QC samples were prepared on the day of analysis in the same way as calibration standards. To 500  $\mu$ L calibration standards, QC samples, or microsomal incubation mixtures, 50 µL ice-cold methanol was added. The mixtures were vortex mixed for 20 s. After centrifugation at  $6\ 000 \times g$ in an Eppendorf microcentrifuge (Model 5417 C, Brinkmann instruments, Westbury, NY, USA) for 20 min, the supernatant was filtered with a membrane filter of 0.45 µm pore size. Fifty µL of the filtrate was analyzed by HPLC for resorufin. The metabolite formation rates were calculated in units of pmol resorufin formed per minute per mg microsomal protein.

### 3.2.4.4 Phenacetin-O-dealkylation (POD) activity

Phenacetin-O-dealkylation (POD) to acetaminophen activity was monitored by an HPLC method as reported before<sup>177</sup> using caffeine as an internal standard. UV absorbance was monitored at 254 nm ( $\lambda_{max}$  for acetaminophen). The mobile phase consisted of 50 mM potassium dihydrogen phosphate and acetonitrile at a ratio of 85:15 (v/v (%)) and delivered at 1.0 mL/min. Acetaminophen was quantified based on calibration curves constructed from a series of standards containing varying known

amounts of acetaminophen (0.2-20  $\mu$ M) and the internal standard (caffeine 5  $\mu$ g/mL) in heat-inactivated rat hepatic microsomes and 50 mM phosphate buffer (pH 7.4). Three quality control (QC) samples at 0.5  $\mu$ M (low), 2  $\mu$ M (medium), and 10  $\mu$ M (high) were prepared independent of those used for the calibration curves. These QC samples were prepared on the day of analysis in the same way as calibration standards. The rate velocities were calculated in units of nmol acetaminophen formed per minute per mg microsomal protein.

# 3.2.5 Measurement of General Glutathione-S-Transferases (GST) Activity

Ontogeny of GST activity was monitored by spectrophotometric analysis of glutathione conjugation of 1-chloro-2,4-dinitrobenzene (CDNB), a general GST probe substrate<sup>275</sup> as illustrated in Figure 3.1. This method determines the activity of numerous GST isoforms with the exception of GST- $\tau^{276}$ . A complete assay mixture without the enzyme was used as a control. Assays were conducted in a thermostated cell compartment at 25°C containing 0.1 M phosphate buffer at pH 6.5, GSH (2.5 mM), 1- chloro-2, 4-dinitrochlorobenzene (1.6 mM), and cytosol from different age groups. The reaction was initiated by the addition of age-dependent cytosolic fraction and the GST activity was determined by monitoring the change in absorbance at 340 nm for both control and sample over a 5-minute period. GST activity was calculated according to equations 3.1 and 3.2.

GST activity (nmol/min) = 
$$\frac{\Delta Abs/min (sample) - \Delta Abs/min (control)}{9.6} \times DF$$
 (3.1)

Cytosolic GST activity (nmol/min/mg) = 
$$\frac{\text{GST activity}}{\text{mg protein}}$$
 (3.2)

Where, 9.6 (nmol/cm) is the molar extinction of CDNB and DF is the dilution factor for rat liver cytosol.



**Figure 3.1-** Glutathione-S-Transferases (GST)-mediated conjugation of 1-chloro-2,4dinitrobenzene (CDNB) with glutathione (GSH)

#### 3.2.6 Age-Dependent Scaling Factors and Model Development

Hepatic scaling factors for a particular age  $(HSF_{(t)})$  were estimated from the product of microsomal protein yield  $(MP_{(t)})$  (mg microsomal protein per gram liver) and liver weight (g)  $(LW_{(t)})$  normalized to body weight (g)  $(BW_{(t)})$  as a function of developmental age, t, according to Equation 3.3.

$$HSF_{(t)} = MP_{(t)} \times \frac{LW_{(t)}}{BW_{(t)}}$$
 (3.3)

Normalization of HSF of a particular developmental age to HSF in adult produced agespecific relative hepatic scaling factor ( $RHSF_{(t)}$ ) that relates the abundance of microsomal protein content per body weight in infant to the adult, Equation 3.4.

$$RHSF_{(t)} = \frac{HSF_{(t)}}{HSF_{(adult)}}$$
(3.4)

As well, age-specific ontogeny scaling factor  $(OSF_{(t)})$  were determined by normalizing functional enzyme activity  $(V_{max(t)})$  observed at a particular age (t) to that

observed in adult, Equation 3.5. Accordingly, OSF represents the elimination capacity of a specific enzyme in the infant relative to the adult.

$$OSF_{(t)} = \frac{V_{max(t)}}{V_{max(adult)}}$$
(3.5)

The product of these scaling factors,  $RHSF_{(t)}$  and  $OSF_{(t)}$ , is the age-specific infant scaling factor ( $ISF_{(t)}$ ) that represents the ontogeny of an individual functional enzyme normalized to a body size, Equation 3.6, and correlates adult *in vivo* clearance due to an individual CYP enzyme to the capacity of the infant at age (t) to eliminate drugs by the same metabolic pathway, Equation 1.15.

$$ISF_{(t)} = RHSF_{(t)}OSF_{(t)}$$
(3.6)  
$$Cl_{H(j,t)}^{infant} = ISF_{(j,t)}Cl_{H(j,t)}^{adult}$$
(1.15)

### 3.2.7 Protein Expression Analyses

Microsomal proteins were separated on a sodium dodecyl sulfate gel containing 10% polyacrylamide (SDS-PAGE) by the method of Laemmli *et al*<sup>277</sup>. Heat denatured microsomes (10.5  $\mu$ g for CYP2E1 and 0.4  $\mu$ g for CYP1A2), rat CYP2E1 purified protein (20, 50 & 100 pmol) or rat CYP1A2 purified protein (20, 80, 200 and 500 pmol) were loaded onto the gel and the electrophoresis was carried out at 125 volts for 1.5 to 2 hr. Proteins were transferred onto a PVDF membrane with a Bio-Rad Trans-Blot cell at 25 volts for 50 minutes. The membrane was blocked with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) containing 0.05% tween 20 (PBSt). Subsequently, the membrane was blocked with PBSt containing 5% milk incubated overnight at 4°C. Membrane was then incubated with Rabbit anti-Human/Rat CYP2E1 polyclonal antibody prepared in the blocking solution (1:750) for 3 hr at 20°C or incubated with sheep anti-rat CYP1A2 polyclonal antibody prepared in PBS solution (1:1000 dilution) overnight at 4°C. After washing 3 times with PBSt and once with PBSt, the

membrane was incubated with peroxidase-conjugated antibody prepared in the blocking solution (1:3000) for 2 hr at 20°C. After 3 washes with PBSt and one wash with PBS, the peroxide conjugate was detected with the Immun-Star HRP kit. The blot was scanned with an LKB laser densitometer (Amersham Pharmacia Biotech, Piscataway, NJ) to estimate the amount of reacting protein. Reference samples were used to calibrate determinations and results were expressed as absorbance unit/µg sample protein.

#### 3.2.8 mRNA Expression Analyses

#### 3.2.8.1 RNA isolation

RNeasy Midi RNA isolation kits (Qiagen) were used to isolate total RNA following the manufacturer's protocol. Liver tissue (250 mg) was homogenized in buffer RLT and centrifuged (4500 × *g*) to remove cellular debris. Following centrifugation, the lipid layer was removed and the supernatant transferred to a clean 15 mL polypropylene tube and one volume of 70% ethanol was added. The sample was mixed vigorously and then applied to the Midi column. The column was washed with a series of buffers following the manufacturer's protocol. Total RNA was eluted from the Midi column with 250  $\mu$ L RNase-free water. Total RNA concentration was determined by the measurement of absorbance at 260 nm with a UV/VIS spectrophotometer (#8453E, Agilent Technologies, Palo Alto, CA) (Equation 3.7). Total RNA purity was verified by measuring the ratio of A<sub>260</sub>/A<sub>280</sub> of a 1:100 dilutions (RNA: 10mM TrisCl pH 7.5). Ratio between 1.9 and 2.1 indicates good purity.

$$[RNA] = 40 \ \mu g/ml \times A_{260} \times Dilution \ factor \tag{3.7}$$

#### 3.2.8.2 Primer design

Gene sequences used for primer design were obtained from NCBI Genebank (<u>www.ncbi.nih.gov</u>). Primer sequences (Table 3.2) were generated with assistance from

the *Primer3* software (<u>www.broad.mit.edu/cgi-bin/primer/primer3</u>) to determine the expression levels of *CYP2E1* and *CYP1A2* genes.

Gene	Sequence ID	Left Primer	Right Primer	Amplicon
	-	(Sense)	(Antisense)	Size (op)
CYP2E1	NM 031543	tccaacctaccccatgaagc	ccaacacacacacgctttcc	221
CYP1A2	NM 012541	gggtgttgagaggcacaagg	cactagggcctgcttgatgg	221
$\beta$ -actin	NM 031144	agcgtggctacagcttcacc	tgccacaggattccataccc	237

**Table 3.2** – Primer sequences and amplicon sizes for real-time RT-PCR analysis.

# 3.2.8.3 Real-Time RT-PCR

Real time RT-PCR was carried out with the SmartCycler® (Cepheid, Sunnyvale, CA) in one step using Qiagen QuantiTect RT-PCR kit according to the manufacturer's protocol with slight modifications. Briefly, reactions were performed in a final volume of 25  $\mu$ L containing aliquots of 40 ng of total RNA and primers at a final concentration of 1  $\mu$ M. The RT-PCR protocol (Table 3.3) consisted of 1 cycle at 50°C for 30 min, followed by 95°C for 15 min. Three-step thermocycling was performed for 40 cycles: denaturation at 94°C for 15 s, annealing at 55 or 58°C for 30 s and extension at 72°C for 30 s. Standard curves were constructed by serial dilution of total RNA in RNase-free water with linear mRNA expression ranging from 0.05-500 ng.

Step		Time	Temperature (°C)
Reverse Transcription		30 min	50
PCR	Initial activation step	15 min	95
	Denaturation	15 sec	94
	Annealing	30 sec	varied
	Extension	30 sec	72

 Table 3.3 – General real-time RT-PCR protocol

The standard curves were generated by plotting crossing point (Ct) values (the PCR cycle number required for fluorescence intensity to exceed an arbitrary threshold in the exponential phase of the amplification) versus log of the amount of

total RNA added to the reaction and the amount of CYP2E1 or CYP1A2 RNA in all age-related liver samples were interpolated from the standard curve as arbitrary units. Fold changes in mRNA expression for all ages were calculated by comparing the mean ratio (mRNA expression / total RNA) at eah age group to the adult ratio. Absence of genomic DNA contamination in the RNA samples was confirmed by the use of RT-negative RNA samples. Specific PCR products were confirmed with 2% agarose gel stained with ethidium bromide where the amplified PCR products showed a single band at the expected amplicon size.

During the optimization process, annealing temperature was selected based upon the highest primer efficiency (E) according to equation 3.8.

Slope 
$$\models \frac{-1}{\log E}$$
 (3.8)

These optimization experiments also were performed to ensure that the efficiency of the target and the internal control gene ( $\beta$ -actin) was approximately equal and slopes fell within a range of -2.7 to -3.6. For primer and assay optimization, the slope was measured from a three-point calibration curve using serial dilutions of control RNA (adult female Wistar rat) with final total RNA concentrations of 50 ng, 5 ng and 0.5 ng. Results of age-dependent changes in mRNA expression will be expressed as mean  $\pm$  SD of the ratio CYP2E1 RNA/total RNA as a ratio to the adult value.

# 3.2.9 Immunohistochemical Analyses

Fresh liver tissues were carefully embedded in OCT compound (Sakura Finetek, Torrance, CA) in plastic mold, taking care not to trap air bubbles surrounding the tissue. Tissue was allowed to freeze by setting the mold on top of liquid nitrogen until 70-80% of the block turns white, the block was subsequently put on top of dry ice for 15-20 min and stored at -80°C. Frozen blocks were allowed to equilibrate in the cryostat chamber for about 5 minutes before cutting the sections. Sections (8  $\mu$ m) were obtained at temperatures between -18 to -20°C. The sections were fixed in buffered formalin (4% formaldehyde in PBS) for 3 min at room temperature. The sections were then incubated for 15 min (CYP2E1) or 30 min (CYP1A2) in PBS containing 0.9% v/v hydrogen peroxide to block any endogenous peroxidase activity. All subsequent operations were carried out in a humidified chamber, washing the sections with PBS (1x) between each incubation. For blocking nonspecific binding, sections were incubated in 5% goat serum and 1% bovine serum albumin in PBS for 20 min (CYP2E1) or for 3 hrs (CYP1A2). Sections were incubated for 4 hr with rabbit anti-human/rat CYP2E1 polyclonal antibody (1:250 in the blocking solution) or with sheep anti-rat CYP1A2 polyclonal antibody (1:100 in the blocking solution) at room temperature. Negative control samples (without adding the primary antibody) were applied to test the specificity of the antibody used. After washing with PBS, slides were incubated for 40 min with biotinylated anti-rabbit IgG (1:200 in PBS). This was followed by incubation with avidin-biotinylated horseradish peroxidase H reagent (Vectastain ABC kit; Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA) for 75 min in a dark room. After a 5 min wash with phosphate buffer, the reaction was detected using 3, 3' diaminobenzidine (DAB) as a chromogen [0.06% w/v DAB containing 0.0034% v/v  $H_2O_2$  in phosphate buffer (1x)].

#### 3.2.10 Oral Clearance Study with Chlorzoxazone

### 3.2.10.1 Animals

Four pregnant Sprague-Dawley rats were obtained from Charles River Canada (St. Constant, PQ). They were allowed to give birth and one male pup from each dam was collected at postnatal ages 3, 7, 10, 14 and 21 days. Male Sprague-Dawley rats at ages 8 and 15 weeks (n = 4) were obtained from Charles River Canada and allowed an acclimatization period of one week. Rat husbandry was similar to conditions indicated in Section 3.1.1 and the study was approved by the Animal Care and Supply Committee of the University of Saskatchewan.

# 3.2.10.2 Study Design

Four neonates per age per sacrifice time were dosed by oral gavage with CZX dissolved in 0.1M NaOH: 0.9% saline (30:70) at a dose of 30 mg/kg body weight. Different CZX stock solutions were prepared so that the oral dosed volume ranged from 0.1-0.15 ml according to the pup's body weight. Disposable 1.0 mL syringes with a suitable stainless steel feeding needles (Popper & Sons. Inc., New Hyde Park, NY) were used for dosing neonates, juvenile and adult animals (Table 3.4). The concentration and homogeneity of the dosing solution were assessed by HPLC analysis of CZX.

Age	Feeding Needle size	Sampling Needle size
(days)	Gauge × length (inches)	Gauge × length (inches)
3	$24 \times 1$	$27 \times 0.75$
7-14	$22 \times 1.5$	$27 \times 0.75$
21-28	$20 \times 3$	$22 \times 1$
63-112	$18 \times 3$	Jugular cannulas

**Table 3.4** – Sizes of feeding and blood sampling needles used in CZX *in vivo* oral clearance study

The pups were removed from their mothers 4-5 hours before and returned 1-2 hours after CZX oral administration. During that time, pups were maintained in a warm environment by putting them on suitable heating pads. Blood samples were collected from neonates at predose and 5, 10, 20, 30, 45, 60, 90, 120, 240 and 360 minutes postdosing. For blood collection, a destructive sampling schedule (four neonates/age/sacrifice time) was employed due to the limited blood volume of the neonatal pups. Neonates were anesthetized with isoflurane and blood samples were collected via cardiac puncture using suitable hypodermic needles (Tyco Healthcare Group, Mansfield, MA), (Table 3.4). Neonates were immediately decapitated after blood collection.

For the 63 and 112 days old rats, animals were allowed a one-week acclimatization period. One day prior to oral dosing, the rats underwent surgical implantation of vascular cannulas (Silastic tubing, I.D.  $\times$  O.D. (0.64  $\times$  1.19 mm), Dow Corning

Corporation, Midland, MI) into the right jugular vein under isoflurane anesthesia. For access, cannulas were passed under the skin and fixed between the shoulder blades. At the end of the surgery, cannulas were instilled with heparinized saline (1 USP heparin unit/mL saline) until blood collection. Rats were fasted for 4-5 hours prior to oral dosing, because fasting for a longer time could induce CYP2E1 activity<sup>137,278</sup>. Prior to CZX administration, a zero time blood sample (250  $\mu$ L) was collected from the jugular cannula, followed by infusing equal volume of sterile saline back into the jugular cannula. After CZX oral administration, blood samples were collected by the same manner at 5, 10, 20, 30, 45, 60, 90, 120, 240, 300 and 360 minutes postdosing. After the last blood sample, rats were anesthetized and euthanaized by isoflurane overdose and exsanguination. Blood samples were allowed to clot for 30 minutes, centrifuged at 6 000 × *g* and serum was transferred to a clean 1.5 mL eppendorf microcentrifuge tube and stored at -20°C until HPLC analysis of CZX.

# 3.2.10.3 HPLC Assay of CZX

The concentration of CZX in serum samples were determined by a modification of a reported HPLC method<sup>279</sup>. Briefly, a 100  $\mu$ L aliquot of 0.2M acetate buffer (pH 4.7) and 100  $\mu$ L aliquot of internal standard (UMB, 10  $\mu$ M) were added to a 75  $\mu$ L aliquot of serum sample, QC sample or CZX standard solutions in uncapped 12×75 mm glass culture tubes. After manual mixing for 10 minutes, a 1.0 mL aliquot of tert-butyl methyl ether was added and the mixture was shaken for 10 minutes and then centrifuged at 3 000 × *g* for 10 minutes. The upper organic layer was transferred to a clean tube and evaporated at 37°C under nitrogen. The residue was reconstituted in a 100  $\mu$ L mobile phase and a 30  $\mu$ L aliquot was injected into the HPLC column. The mobile phase (acetonitrile and 0.25% acetic acid (20:80)), was delivered at 1.0 mL/min. UV absorbance was monitored at 287 nm. The method was validated for the determination of CZX in rat serum samples as described in section 3.2.4.

#### 3.2.11 Kinetics and Statistical Analyses

All data within the same age was reported as mean  $\pm$  SD. Metabolite formation velocity as a function of substrate concentration was fit to a one-enzyme site Michaelis-Menten equation. The parameters,  $V_{max}$  and  $K_M$ , were estimated by an iterative nonlinear least squares regression analysis using GraphPad Prism 4.0 (GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA). Significant differences in total microsomal protein content, CYP protein content, and V<sub>max</sub> and K<sub>M</sub> estimates, ontogeny of protein and mRNA expression between the different age groups were assessed with one-way Analysis of Variance with Tukey's post-hoc test for pair-wise multiple comparisons using GraphPad Prism. For CZX K<sub>M</sub> estimates, a Wilcoxon signed rank test was used for the pooled data. The level of significance was set at P<0.05. The observed  $ISF_{(t)}$  values were fit to various models describing the developmental maturation of CYP enzyme with WinNonLin 5.1 (Pharsight Corporation, Mountain View, CA, USA). Criteria determining the goodness of fit and suitability of the model included visual inspection of the regression line, the randomness of the residual plots, the accuracy of the predicted to the extrapolated estimates, the Aikaike information criterion and the coefficient of variation of the parameter estimates. For the in vivo oral clearance study, PK parameters including area under the serum concentration-time curve (AUC $_{\infty}$ ), maximum serum concentration ( $C_{max}$ ), time to reach  $C_{max}$  ( $t_{max}$ ), terminal elimination rate constant  $(\lambda_z)$ , apparent volume of distribution at steady-state (Vd,ss) and oral clearance (Cl/F) were estimated using a non-compartmental analysis (WinNonLin 5.1). Elimination half life (t<sub>1/2</sub>) at each age was obtained from the ratio 0.693/ $\lambda z$ .

# RESULTS

# 4.1 Evaluation of the Assumptions of an Ontogeny Model of CYP Enzymes

### 4.1.1 Age-Dependent Changes in Hepatic Scaling Factor (HSF)

To estimate the HSF at each age, wet liver weight (g), total body weight (g) and hepatic microsomal protein content (mg/g liver) were determined for each animal (n=8) at each age group.

### 4.1.1.1 Total Body and Liver Weights

Table 4.1 lists total body and wet liver weights in male Sprague-Dawley rats at fetal (gestation day 20), neonatal, juvenile and adult ages.

Age (days)	Total Body Weight (g)		Liver Weight (g)			
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD		
$F^{a}$	3.64 <sup>b</sup>	1.3	0.34 <sup>b</sup>	0.17		
1	7.09 <sup>b</sup>	0.5	$0.32^{b}$	0.077		
3	$9.40^{b}$	0.9	$0.42^{b}$	0.070		
5	12.9 <sup>b</sup>	1.4	$0.52^{b}$	0.119		
7	17.4 <sup>b</sup>	1.4	0.63 <sup>b</sup>	0.096		
10	26.2 <sup>b</sup>	4.5	0.86 <sup>b</sup>	0.34		
14	32.7 <sup>b</sup>	3.3	1.13 <sup>b</sup>	0.24		
21	59.4 <sup>b</sup>	5.2	2.62 <sup>b</sup>	0.24		
28	105 <sup>b</sup>	6.7	4.93 <sup>b</sup>	0.54		
42	203 <sup>b</sup>	12.9	9.39 <sup>b</sup>	0.75		
63	399 <sup>b</sup>	32.7	16.2	2.6		
84	411 <sup>b,c</sup>	11.0	13.8 <sup>c</sup>	0.51		
112	507	29.2	15.0	1.4		

**Table 4.1** – Age-dependent changes in mean ( $\pm$  SD) body and liver weights for male Sprague-Dawley rats (n=8).

<sup>a</sup> Fetuses were collected at 20 day gestation from 3 dams and the fetal livers from individual dams were pooled, <sup>b</sup> Statistically significant from adult (112 days), <sup>c</sup> n=4.

As expected, mean total body and liver weights increased with postnatal age, with the most prominent increases occurring during puberty (42-63 days). The variation in total body and liver weights observed within and between age groups can be attributed to normal interindividual variation in the rate and pattern of body and organ growths. Normalization of wet liver weight to total body weight revealed relatively constant values with postnatal maturation (Figure 4.1).



**Figure 4.1** –Wet liver weight (g) normalized to total body weight (g) in male Sprague-Dawley rats (n=8, except at 84 days where n=4). Results are expressed as mean  $\pm$  SD. Asterisks indicate statistical difference from adult (112 days), P<0.05. F = gestation day 20.

#### 4.1.1.2 Hepatic Microsomal Protein Content

To evaluate whether microsomal protein (MP) content remains constant with developmental age (the first major assumption of our ontogeny model of CYP enzyme activity) and to calculate age-dependent HSF values, hepatic microsomal protein content for each age group (n = 8) was measured by the method of Lowry *et al*<sup>270</sup>. The results shown in Figure 4.2 indicate that average MP (mg/gram liver weight) was low at birth (18 % of the adult value, P<0.05) and increased steadily to reach a maximum value (133)

% of the adult value, P>0.05) at postnatal day (PD) 42, followed by gradual, but not statistically significant, decline towards the adult value. The only significant difference from the adult MP level was observed in hepatic microsomes from fetuses and postnatal days younger than 7 days (Figure 4.2).



**Figure 4.2** – Mean ( $\pm$  SD) hepatic microsomal protein content in male Sprague-Dawley rats (n=8, except for PD 84 where n=4). Asterisks indicate statistical difference from adult (112 days), P<0.05. F = gestation day 20.

### 4.1.1.3 Hepatic Scaling Factor (HSF)

Results of liver weights, total body weights and hepatic microsomal protein content at each developmental age were used to calculate age-dependent changes in HSF values (Figure 4.3) according to equation (3.3). Reltive to adult, there was no significant difference in HSF values between 20 day gestation and 14 day age groups (about 50-90% of the adult value, P>0.05). By 21 days of age, the HSF value had increased more than threefold and did not change further at 28 or 42 days of age (about 150-200 % of the adult value, P<0.05), but decreased gradually from puberty (PD 42-63) group to the adult age group.

Upon close examination of the data the pattern observed in the mean HSF with age (Figure 4.3) mirrored the developmental pattern of microsomal protein content per

gram liver (Figure 4.2), since the ratio of liver weight to total body weight remained relatively constant with postnatal development.



**Figure 4.3** – Mean ( $\pm$  SD) hepatic scaling factor (mg/g body weight) in male Sprague-Dawley rats (n=8, except for PD 84 where n=4). HSF was calculated using Equation 3.3. Asterisks indicate statistical difference from adult (112 days), P<0.05. F = gestation day 20.

# 4.1.1.4 Age-Dependent Changes in Total CYP protein Content

Total CYP protein content was determined in age-specific rat hepatic microsomes by carbon monoxide difference spectroscopy<sup>271</sup>. As shown in Figure 4.4, total CYP content was fairly low in fetal microsomes (less than 25% the adult level, P<0.05) and increased slightly between postnatal days 1 and 28. There was no significant difference between hepatic microsomal CYP content at puberty (PD63) and adult ages.



**Figure 4.4** – Mean ( $\pm$  SD) total hepatic microsomal CYP content (nmol/mg microsomal protein) in male Sprague-Dawley rats (n=8, except for PD 84 where n=4). CYP content was determined by the method of Omura and Sato<sup>271</sup>. Asterisks indicate statistical difference from adult (112 days), P<0.05. F = gestation day 20.

# 4.1.2 Enzyme Kinetic Studies in Rat Hepatic Microsomes

To evaluate the age-dependent changes in  $K_M$  and  $V_{max}$  values, enzyme kinetic studies in rat hepatic microsomes were conducted using probe substrates specific for CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 enzymes, namely chlorzoxazone (CZX) and methoxyresorufin (MR), respectively.  $K_M$  and  $V_{max}$  values were determined by measuring metabolite formation velocities of CZX and MR at substrate concentrations of 0 to 1000  $\mu$ M and 0 to 1000 nM, respectively. As well,  $V_{max}$  values were estimated using a second probe substrate,  $\rho$ -nitrophenol (PNP) for CYP2E1 and phenacetin for CYP1A2.

### 4.1.2.1 Assessment of the Optimum Incubation Conditions

Preliminary experiments using hepatic microsomes from 50-day old male Sprague-Dawley rats were conducted to determine the optimum incubation conditions regarding incubation time and microsomal protein content to give linear metabolite formation kinetics for CYP2E1-mediated CZX and PNP hydroxylation and CYP1A2-mediatd dealkylation of MR and phenacetin. Results of these experiments are indicated in Table 4.2. These conditions were used in subsequent enzyme kinetic experiments.

**Table 4.2** –Results of preliminary experiments in male rat hepatic microsomes to assess the optimum microsomal incubation conditions to ensure linear metabolite formation kinetics.

	Optimum incubation conditions				
	Incubation time (min)	Protein content (mg/mL)			
1. CZX hydroxylation	30	0.4			
2. PNP hydroxylation	30	0.4			
3. MR O-dealkylation	8	0.08			
4. Phenacetin O-dealkylation	60	0.4			

# 4.1.2.2 Validation of the HPLC Methods

To monitor metabolite formation rate in age-dependent hepatic microsomes, validated HPLC methods were used. Validation was performed according to the FDA guidelines (section 3.2.4). Table 4.3 demonstrates the basic validation parameters for all the HPLC methods used for evaluation of CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 enzyme kinetics and CZX oral clearance.

**Table 4.3** –Method validation parameters for the HPLC assays used to analyze metabolites and/or substrates in enzyme kinetic and oral clearance studies.

Validation	Metabolites analyzed					
parameters	6-OH CZX	4 NC	APAP <sup>e</sup>	Resorufin	$CZX^{a}$	
1. Linearity	0.3-40	0.1-40	0.2-20	0.04-2	1-250	
range (µM) <sup>b</sup>						
2. $LOD^{b,c}$	0.15	0.02	0.05	0.01	0.25	
3. LOQ <sup>b,d</sup>	0.30	0.10	0.20	0.04	1.0	
4. Intra-day						
Accuracy	101-113%	95-104%	96-114%	96-113 %	100-114%	
Precision	< 14%	< 11%	< 9%	< 6%	<7%	
5. Inter-day						
Accuracy	101-106%	91-103%	104-111%	88-110%	91-108%	
Precision	< 9%	<8%	<14%	<8%	<8%	

<sup>a</sup>This method was used to analyze CZX in oral clearance study (section 4.4), <sup>b</sup>Resorufin units are nM, <sup>c</sup>Limit of detection, <sup>d</sup>Limit of quantitation, <sup>e</sup>acetaminophen.

Figures 4.5 and 4.6 show representative HPLC chromatograms of rat hepatic microsomal samples after being incubated with CYP-specific substrates under optimum incubation conditions (Table 4.2).



**Figure 4.5** – Representative HPLC chromatograms of rat hepatic microsomes after incubation with CYP2E1 probe substrates, chlorzoxazone (A) and  $\rho$ -nitrophenol (B), under incubation conditions mentioned in Table 4.2 and explained in section 3.2.3. HPLC chromatographic conditions are explained in section 3.2.4.



**Figure 4.6** – Representative HPLC chromatograms of rat hepatic microsomes after incubation with CYP1A2 probe substrates, methoxyresorufin (A) and phenacetin (B) under incubation conditions mentioned in Table 4.2 and explained in section 3.2.3. HPLC chromatographic conditions are explained in section 3.2.4.

# 4.1.2.3 Developmental Changes in K<sub>M</sub> Value

To investigate whether  $K_M$  value remains constant with developmental age (the second major assumption of our ontogeny model of CYP enzyme activity),  $K_M$  values for CYP2E1-mediated CZX hydroxylation and CYP1A2-mediated MROD activities were determined in age-dependent hepatic microsomes. For CYP2E1, CZX 6-hydroxylase activity was not detected in gestation day 20 and PD1 hepatic microsomes. Chlorzoxazone  $K_M$  values (Figure 4.7 A) were only 35-40% of adult values at PD3 and PD5. By PD10,  $K_M$  values reached adult level and stayed relatively constant thereafter

except at PD21 where the  $K_M$  value was 70% that of adult value. The data may simply represent normal biological variation given the rather small sample size and pooled data.



**Figure 4.7** – Michaelis-Menten constant ( $K_M$ ) estimates for CYP2E1-mediated chlorzoxazone hydroxylase activity (A) and CYP1A2-mediated methoxyresorufin-O-dealkylation (MROD) activity (B) as a function of developmental age in male Sprague-Dawley rat hepatic microsomes.  $K_M$  values for chlorzoxazone are obtained from pooled microsomes of four rats at each age group. Wilcoxon signed-rank test indicated significance.  $K_M$  values for methooxyresorufin are expressed as mean ±SD of 4 rats except fetal livers, which were pooled from 3 different dams. The asterisk refers to those age groups that show significant difference from adult. MROD activity was detected at PD3, but the data did not allow for  $K_M$  estimation.

For CYP1A2, the methoxyresorufin  $K_M$  values (Figure 4.7 B) in PD5 and PD7 were significantly higher than adult values (~250-275% of adult values). No significant differences in  $K_M$  values were observed for PD age groups  $\geq 10$  days. The data did not allow estimation of  $K_M$  values in PD3 age group, although activity was detected.

# 4.1.2.4 Developmental Changes in V<sub>max</sub> Value

To evaluate the age-dependent changes in maximum enzyme activity ( $V_{max}$ ), both CYP2E1-mediated CZX hydroxylase and CYP1A2-mediated MROD activities were measured at saturating probe substrate concentrations in rat hepatic microsomes at different developmental stages. CYP2E1 activity was not detected in fetal and PD1 livers (Figure 4.8A). A higher level of activity was detected in PD3 livers (70% of the adult value, P>0.05), which increased progressively to reach a maximum level at PD14 (170% of the adult value, P<0.05). The activity declined to the adult level at weaning (PD21) and remained similar to the adult values during puberty (Figure 4.8A). No significant difference in activity levels relative to the adult value was observed at any age group, except at PD14. The marked postnatal increase in  $V_{max}$  values for chlorzoxazone preceded hepatic scaling factor values, where the predominant age-dependent increase occurred between PD14 and PD21 and continued to increase until PD42 (Figure 4.3).

Although rat hepatic CYP1A2-mediated MROD activity was first detected at PD3, the values were below the limit of quantification of the HPLC assay. At PD5 and PD7 hepatic microsomes demonstrated significantly lower MROD activity at 11% and 20% adult activity, respectively (Figure 4.8 B). MROD activity increased significantly to reach 165% and 175% adult values by PD21 and PD28, respectively. However, after weaning (PD28) and during puberty (PD42-63)  $V_{max}$  values fell to adult values. Although, the marked increase in MROD activity between PD14 and PD21 corresponded to a marked increase in age-dependent hepatic scaling factors (Figure 4.3), activity declined after PD28 to the adult value by PD42, unlike the hepatic scaling factor.

77



**Figure 4.8** -  $V_{max}$  estimates for CYP2E1-mediated chlorzoxazone hydroxylase activity (A) and CYP1A2-mediated methoxyresorufin-O-dealkylase activity (B) as a function of developmental age in male Sprague-Dawley rat hepatic microsomes. The data are expressed as mean ±SD of 4 rats except fetal livers, which were pooled from 3 different dams. The asterisks refer to those age groups that show significant difference from adult.

### 4.1.2.5 Developmental Changes in V<sub>max</sub> Value Using a Second Probe Substrate

To determine whether enzyme activity  $(V_{max})$  from one substrate predicts the level of activity for all substrates of the enzyme, developmental changes in  $V_{max}$  were estimated using a second probe substrate,  $\rho$ -nitrophenol for CYP2E1 and phenacetin for CYP1A2.

Figure 4.9 shows age-dependent changes in CYP2E1-mediated ρ-nitrophenol (PNP) hydroxylase activity and CYP1A2-mediated phenacetin-O-dealkylase activity (POD).



**Figure 4.9-**  $V_{max}$  estimates for CYP2E1-mediated PNP hydroxylase activity (A) and CYP1A2-mediated POD activity (B) as a function of developmental age in male Sprague-Dawley rat hepatic microsomes. The data are expressed as mean ±SD of 4 rats except fetal livers, which were pooled from 3 different dams. The asterisks refer to those age groups that show significant difference from adult.

To confirm whether changes in enzyme activity of one CYP substrate covaries with changes in the activity of a second CYP substrate (the fourth major assumption of our ontogeny model of CYP enzyme activity), infant scaling factors (product of HSF and  $V_{max}$  normalized to their respective adult values) were determined at each age group (Table 4.4) using the two probe substrates for each CYP enzyme followed by correlation of the ISF values.

-		CYP2E1				CYP1A2			
		Chlorzo	oxazone	ρ-nitrophenol		Methoxyresorufin Phenacetin		acetin	
Age	RHSF	OSF	ISF	OSF	ISF	OSF	ISF	OSF	ISF
(day)									
F	0.57			0.074	0.042			0.019	0.011
1	0.47			0.10	0.049			0.13	0.063
3	0.71	0.70	0.50	0.24	0.17			0.16	0.11
5	0.67	0.74	0.50	0.62	0.42	0.11	0.076	0.27	0.18
7	0.80	0.99	0.80	1.16	0.93	0.20	0.16	0.42	0.33
10	0.76	1.25	0.95	0.94	0.71	0.71	0.54	0.47	0.36
14	1.00	1.59	1.60	1.20	1.21	0.75	0.75	0.51	0.52
21	1.72	1.11	1.92	0.99	1.70	1.66	2.86	0.91	1.57
28	1.94	1.28	2.49	0.50	0.97	1.77	3.43	1.24	2.40
42	2.09	1.04	2.17	0.77	1.60	1.01	2.11	0.85	1.78
63	1.52	0.86	1.32	1.16	1.78	0.71	1.08	1.30	1.99
112	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00

**Table 4.4** - Age-specific infant scaling factor estimates for CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 based upon age-specific relative hepatic scaling factors (RHSF) and  $V_{max}$  values normalized to adult  $V_{max}$  values (OSF) in male Sprague-Dawley rats.

RHSF = Relative Hepatic Scaling Factor calculated from age-specific HSF values normalized to adult value (Equations 3.3 and 3.4); OSF = Ontogeny Scaling Factor calculated from age-specific  $V_{max}$  values normalized to adult  $V_{max}$  value (Equation 3.5); ISF = Infant Scaling Factor calculated from the product of RHSF and OSF (Equation 3.6).

Figure 4.10 suggests a strong positive correlation between the activity of one specific substrate relative to a second specific substrate for both CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 (r = 0.82 and r = 0.89, respectively).



**Figure 4.10-** Correlation between infant scaling factor estimates for (A)  $\rho$ -nitrophenol as a function of chlorzoxazone (r = 0.82); (B) Phenacetin as a function of methoxyresorufin (r = 0.89).

# 4.1.2.6 Correlation between Age-Dependent Changes in Catalytic CYP Activity and Immunoreactive CYP Protein level

To investigate a proportional relationship between enzyme activity  $(V_{max})$  and protein level during postnatal development (the fifth major assumption of our ontogeny model of CYP enzyme activity), CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 enzyme activity was measured at saturating probe substrate concentrations in rat hepatic microsomes at different developmental stages. Also CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 protein levels were determined in the hepatic microsomes at the same developmental stages by immunoblotting procedures (Section 4.6). When the age-dependent changes in  $V_{max}$  were compared with changes in enzyme protein levels, CYP2E1-mediated chlorzoxazone hydroxylase V<sub>max</sub> values did not correlate with changes in CYP2E1 protein levels observed at the same age group (Figure 4.11A). CYP2E1 protein and activity were not detectable at < PD3. Although CYP2E1 protein increased following PD3, protein levels plateaued at PD10 and began increasing again at PD28. This biphasic pattern was not mirrored by CYP2E1 activity where a dramatic increase in activity was observed between PD3 and PD14 (Figure 4.8). At PD28 immunoquantifiable CYP2E1 protein levels were only ~50% of adult levels despite ~30% greater enzyme activity levels relative to adult. CYP2E1 protein continued to increase thereafter to adult values, despite the decrease in chlorzoxazone V<sub>max</sub> to adult values.

Similarly, CYP1A2-mediated methoxyresorufin  $V_{max}$  values did not reasonably correlate with changes in immunoquantifiable CYP1A2 protein levels observed at the same age group (Figure 4.11B). A similar biphasic pattern demonstrated by CYP2E1 protein was observed with CYP1A2 protein ontogeny. However, CYP1A2 activity increased markedly between PD5 and PD28 such that MROD  $V_{max}$  values were ~175% adult values (Figure 4.8). Thereafter, CYP1A2 protein continued to increase while MROD activity declined to adult values.



**Figure 4.11** – Age-dependent changes in CYP enzyme activity (open circle) as a function of its immunoreactive protein levels (closed circle) in rat hepatic microsomes. (A) Average CYP2E1-mediated chlorzoxazone hydroxylase  $V_{max}$  estimates as a function of average CYP2E1 protein levels. (B) Average CYP1A2-mediated methoxyresorufin-O-dealkylase  $V_{max}$  estimates as a function of average CYP1A2 protein levels. Immunoreactivity is expressed in arbitrary units per microgram of microsomal protein.

### 4.1.2.7 Eadie-Hofstee Plots

To investigate possible involvement of more than one CYP isoform in CZX hydroxylation and MROD activities, Eadie-Hofstee plots were used. Figures 4.12 and 4.13 show representative Eadie-Hofstee plots at selected postnatal ages. The results may indicate that both CZX hydroxylation and MROD activities demonstrate at least two components, rather than a simple one component Michaelis-Menten kinetics. This possible contribution of more than one CYP pathway will have a significant impact on the estimated  $V_{max}$  and  $K_M$  parameters for these reactions.



**Figure 4.12** – Eadie-Hofstee plots for CZX hydroxylation catalyzed by rat hepatic microsomes from different ages. V = rate of metabolite formation; S = substrate concentration; PD = postnatal day; CZX = chlorzoxazone.



**Figure 4.13** – Eadie-Hofstee plots for MROD activity catalyzed by rat hepatic microsomes from different ages. V = rate of metabolite formation; S = substrate concentration; PD = postnatal day; MR = methoxyresorufin.

### 4.2 Development of an Ontogeny Model of CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 enzymes in Rat

The age-dependent changes in CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 enzyme activity using specific probe substrates were used to develop pharmacokinetic models to describe the developmental maturation of these enzymes in the rat.

# 4.2.1 Developmental Maturation of CYP Activity

### 4.2.1.1 Age-Specific Infant Scaling Factor

Infant scaling factors at a particular age, t,  $(ISF_{(t)})$  were estimated from the product of HSF<sub>(t)</sub> and V<sub>max</sub> values at the same age, t (V<sub>max,(t)</sub>), normalized to the product of the respective adult values according to Equation 3.6 and as illustrated in Table 4.4. As shown in Figure 4.14, CYP2E1 ISF value is very low at birth, increases asymptotically during the first 2 weeks, and undergoes a burst during the third week before falling back to adult level after 50 days of age. Similar observations were obtained with CYP1A2 but its developmental changes were more delayed compared to CYP2E1. The asymptotic increase in activity was observed during the third week with a burst in activity during the fourth week and a sharp decline in activity during the pubertal stage (PD42-63). Given the fact that CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 are the dominant clearance pathways for CZX and MR<sup>280</sup>, respectively, pattern of age-dependent changes in ISF calculated using these substrates should reflect the pattern of CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 ontogeny.



**Figure 4.14-** Infant scaling factor (ISF) as a function of age for CYP2E1 (A) and CYP1A2 (B) enzymes.

### 4.2.1.2 Model Development

The observed  $ISF_{(t)}$  values were fit to various models describing the developmental maturation of each CYP enzyme using pharmacokinetic modeling software (GraphPad Prism 4). Modifications to the general ontogeny model (Equation 1.16) were required to describe the age-dependent changes in CYP function from birth to adulthood as shown in Equation 4.1.

The primary modification included a parameter ( $\text{ISF}_{\text{Burst}}(e^{-k_2(t-lag)}-e^{-k_3(t-lag)})$ ) that accounted for an apparent burst of activity (greater than the adult value) in the period between weaning and puberty that overlay the general exponential increase in activity to some asymptotic level reached at adulthood ( $\text{ISF}_D(1 - e^{-kt})$ ).

$$ISF_{(j,t)} = ISF_{(j,0)} + ISF_{D}(1 - e^{-kt})$$
(1.16)  
$$ISF_{(j,t)} = ISF_{(j,0)} + ISF_{D}(1 - e^{-k_{1}t}) + ISF_{Burst}(e^{-k_{2}(t - lag)} - e^{-k_{3}(t - lag)})$$
(4.1)

where:  $ISF_{(t)}$  is the predicted hepatic CYP enzyme-specific infant scaling activity *in vivo* at age, t (d);  $ISF_{(j,0)}$  is the scaled in vivo CYP enzyme activity present at birth;  $ISF_D$  and  $ISF_{Burst}$  are a fixed and fitted parameters associated with the slow rise and burst, respectively;  $k_1$  is the first order rate constant describing the slow rate of increase in CYP enzyme pathway efficiency (d<sup>-1</sup>) to the adult value;  $k_2$  and  $k_3$  are the first order rate constants describing the onset and decline in CYP enzyme pathway efficiency (d<sup>-1</sup>) during the burst phase; t is the age in days (d); and lag is the time delay associated with the appearance of the burst phase.

# 4.2.1.3 Model Selection

This model (Equation 4.1) was written into Prism 4 (GraphPad Software Inc.) and the number of exponential terms and inclusion of a t <sub>lag</sub> parameter were determined by nonlinear regression analyses of observed ISF values to models of increasing complexity. The ISF<sub>Burst</sub>, lag, and k terms are fitted parameters and ISF<sub>(j,0)</sub> is a constant based upon the scaled CYP enzyme activity determined in fetal microsomes. Upper and lower bounds were established for each estimated parameter and remained consistent between different models. Initial parameter estimates remained consistent for each analysis. Several sets of initial parameter estimates were used to ensure that the program
was not stopping at local minima. Equal weighting factors or 1/observation<sup>2</sup> weighting factors were given to all ISF data. Model selection was based on several criteria which included the Akaike Information Criterion (AIC) values, confidence intervals (CI) of parameter estimates, correlation coefficient, weighted residual plots, correspondence of observed versus predicted parameters, and visual inspection of the fitted nonlinear regression line. In general, the model equation with minimum AIC and narrowest CI values was considered the best representation of the time course of scaled CYP enzyme activity data. Table 4.5 represents the model parameter estimates (Equation 4.1) for each CYP enzyme.

**Table 4.5-** Parameter estimates for the predictive models of CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 

 mediated hepatic clearance in rats

	Clearance mechanism		
Model parameter	CYP2E1	CYP1A2	
$\text{ISF}_{(j,0)}^{a}$	0	0	
$\mathrm{ISF_D}^{\mathrm{a}}$	1	1	
$\mathbf{k}_1$	0.00275	0.0058	
ISF <sub>Burst</sub>	32.75	34.55	
k <sub>2</sub>	0.02679	0.041	
lag	0.3875	6.46	
$k_3$	0.03427	0.0498	

<sup>a</sup> Fixed parameters

ISF(j,0) is the scaled in vivo CYP enzyme activity present at birth.

 $ISF_{D}$  and  $ISF_{Burst}$  are fixed and fitted parameters associated with the slow rise and burst, respectively.

 $k_1$  is the first order rate constant describing the slow rate of increase in CYP enzyme pathway efficiency (d<sup>-1</sup>) to the adult value.

 $k_2$  and  $k_3$  are the first order rate constants describing the onset and decline in CYP enzyme pathway efficiency (d<sup>-1</sup>) during the burst phase.

t is the age in days (d).

lag is the time delay associated with the appearance of the burst phase.

The nonlinear regression fit shown in Figures 4.15A demonstrate a reasonable correspondence between the fitted line and the observed ISF values.



**Figure 4.15-** Plot output of calculated (line) and observed (squares) ISF data versus age using the model given in equation 4.1 for CYP2E1 (A) and CYP1A2 (B). Best fits and model selection were obtained using unweighted regression analysis (GraphPad Prism). Model parameter estimates for each CYP enzyme are given in Table 4.5.

#### 4.2.2 Age-Dependent Changes in Chlorzoxazone Oral Clearance in Rats

To assess the ability of the general ontogeny PK model to make a *priori* predictions of the elimination capacity at different developmental ages as proof of concept, the oral clearance of chlorzoxazone (CZX) whose elimination is mediated by a single elimination mechanism (CYP2E1) was evaluated. Plots of average CZX serum concentration following oral administration to male Sprague Dawley rats at early neonatal (3 days), middle neonatal (7 days), late neonatal (10 and 14 days), weaning (21 days), juvenile (63 days) and adult (112 days) are shown in Figure 4.16. Pharmacokinetic parameter estimates for CZX calculated by non-compartmental analysis are shown in Table 4.6. The oral clearance (Cl/F) value of CZX at 3 days was about 130% the adult value followed by a sudden increase to 200% the adult value at 7 days and more than 230% the adult value at 10 days. This value gradually declined with age to less than 80% the adult value at puberty age (63 days). Although significant changes in oral clearance values and  $C_{max}$  values were observed, the elimination rate constant was almost similar at all examined postnatal ages. As well, other PK parameters e.g. AUC<sub>∞</sub> volume of distribution and elimination half life underwent age-dependent changes.

To test the ability of our rat CYP2E1 ontogeny model (Equation 4.1) to provide a *priori* prediction of oral clearance of chlorzoxazone (CYP2E1 substrate), age-specific ISF values were predicted from the model equation (Equation 4.1). Estimation of age-specific ISF values allowed prediction of age-specific CZX oral clearance values using a published adult oral clearance values (Cl/F) of 10.5 ml/min/kg<sup>278</sup> and using Equation 1.15.

$$Cl_{H(j,t)}^{infant} = ISF_{H(j,t)}Cl_{systemic}^{adult}$$
(1.15)

Visual demonstration of the correspondence between observed and calculated Cl/F values versus age (Figure 4.17A) indicates that the model underestimates the oral clearance values at the all examined ages except at the weaning age (21 days). While, calculated versus observed Cl/F data plot (Figure 4.17B) shows a reasonable correspondence (r = 0.75), a distinct deviation from a straight line is also shown. Such deviation may indicate the need for a more complex model or more data points.



**Figure 4.16** – Mean  $\pm$ SD serum concentration versus time curves of chlorzoxazone after 30 mg/kg oral dose in male Sprague Dawley rats (n = 4) at different developmental ages.

ananida	m) ant farma			1 a220.			
Age	λz	$C_{max}$	$t_{max}$	$t_{1/2}$	$AUC_{\infty}$	Vdss/F	C1/F
(days)	$(\min^{-1})$	(µg/mL)	(min)	(min)	(µg.min/mL)	(mL/kg)	(mL/min/kg)
3	0.0086	12.5	06	80	2169	1611	13.8
L	0.0083	11.4	29	83	1561	2578	20.4
10	0.0075	7.6	22.5	92	1286	5045	23.3
14	0.00868	14.1	25	80	1463	2483	20.6
21	0.00658	19.9	40	105	1500	3434	20.6
63	0.012(004)	32.4 (4)	37.5 (35)	59 (16)	4207 (1382)	688 (338)	7.8 (2.7)
112	0.009(0.001)	20 (5.3)	22.5 (9.5)	78 (9.7)	3166 (1048)	1153 (410)	10 (2.8)
<sup>a</sup> Due to lim	ited blood volume	e of neonatal	pups, a destruc	tive sampling	schedule (four ne	conates/age/se	acrifice time) was
employed ¿	and the results are	expressed as	average at eac	h age. <sup>b</sup> PK pa	rameter estimates	were determi	ned in four animals
and the res	ults are expressed	as average (=	±SD).				



**Figure 4.17** – Age-related correspondence between calculated and observed CZX oral clearance (Cl/F) values (A) and plot output of calculated versus observed CZX Cl/F data using CYP2E1 ontogeny model (Equation 4.1) (B).

#### 4.3 Characterization of the Ontogeny of CYP2E1 and CYP1A2

#### 4.3.1 Ontogeny of Rat Hepatic CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 mRNA

To assess developmental changes in mRNA expression levels of rat hepatic CYP2E1 and CYP1A2, real-time RT-PCR was performed using 20-residue oligonucleotide primers (Table 3.2) specific to rat CYP2E1 and CYP1A2, respectively.

#### 4.3.1.1 Optimization of Real-Time RT-PCR Conditions

Table 4.7 lists the optimal annealing temperatures and corresponding primer efficiencies and standard curve ranges for *CYP2E1* and *CYP1A2* genes. Primer sequences and amplicon sizes are detailed in Section *3.2.8.2*. Optimal annealing temperatures were selected based on primer efficiency (E) (a theoretical value of 2 is optimal) and lack of primer dimer formation. For primer and assay optimization, the slope was measured from a three-point calibration curve using serial dilutions of control RNA (adult female Wistar rat).

**Table 4.7** – Optimal annealing temperatures and standard curve ranges for *CYP2E1*, *CYP1A2* and  $\beta$ -actin genes for real-time RT-PCR analysis.

Gene	Annealing Temperature (°C)	Primer E	Standard Curve Range (ng)
CYP2E1	55	1.9	0.05-500
CYP1A2	58	2.04	0.05-500
$\beta$ -actin	55	1.93	0.05-500

# 4.3.1.2 Age-Dependent Changes in mRNA Expression of Rat Hepatic CYP2E1 and CYP1A2

Results of age-dependent changes in CYP mRNA expression levels are expressed as mean ± SD of the ratio (CYP mRNA/total RNA) as compared to adult (Figure 4.18). CYP2E1 mRNA expression was low in fetal livers (approximately 0.005 fold the adult value) and increased after birth to reach more than 2.5- fold the adult value at PD14. The expression at puberty (PD42) was 2-fold the adult value with P value <0.05. As well, CYP1A2 mRNA expression was very low in fetal livers (approximately 0.05 fold the adult value), and increased gradually after birth until PD10. Dramatic increases in CYP1A2 mRNA expression occurred after PD10 to reach more than three fold the adult value at 28 days. The expression at puberty (PD42) was more than two fold the adult value with P < 0.05.



**Figure 4.18** – Age-related variations in rat hepatic CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 mRNA expression levels. Total RNA was extracted from rat livers (n = 4) and 40 ng was reverse transcribed and amplified as described in materials and methods. Data are expressed as mean  $\pm$  SD of the ratio CYP RNA/total RNA and as ratio to adult. Fetal livers were pooled from 3 different dams. The asterisks refer to those age groups that show significant difference from adult.

# 4.3.2 Ontogeny of Rat Hepatic CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 Protein Expression

To assess changes in protein expression levels of hepatic CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 with maturation and investigate the correlation between CYP enzyme activity and CYP protein level, immunoblot analyses were performed using specific polyclonal antibodies against rat hepatic CYP2E1 and CYP1A2. The polyclonal antibodies used in this study recognized unique bands at 56 and 58 kilo Daltons (KD) which were the same sizes

recognized by the purified rat CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 proteins loaded with the hepatic microsomes, respectively (Figures 4.19 and 4.20).



**Figure 4.19** –Immunoblots of rat hepatic microsomes and rat CYP2E1 purified protein. 10.5  $\mu$ g microsomal protein and different CYP2E1 protein amounts (20, 50 and 100 pmol) were electrophoresed on a 10% SDS-PAGE, transferred onto a PVDF membrane, and probed with a polyclonal antibody to rat CYP2E1. Lanes (1-3) are purified rat CYP2E1 protein (100, 50 and 20 pmol, respectively). Lanes (4-16) are rat hepatic microsomes from fetal (lane 4) and postnatal days 1, 3, 5, 7, 10, 14, 21, 28, 42, 63, 84 and 112, respectively.



**Figure 4.20** – Immunoblots of rat hepatic microsomes and rat CYP1A2 purified protein. 0.4  $\mu$ g microsomal protein and different CYP1A2 protein amounts (20, 80, 200 and 500 pmol) were electrophoresed on a 10% SDS-PAGE, transferred onto a PVDF membrane, and probed with a polyclonal antibody to rat CYP1A2. Lanes (1-4) are purified rat CYP1A2 protein (500, 200, 80 and 20 pmol, respectively). Lanes (5-16) are rat hepatic microsomes from fetal (lane 5) and postnatal days 1, 3, 5, 7, 10, 14, 21, 28, 42, 63 and 112, respectively.

The amount of protein present in hepatic microsomes and cross-reacting with the polyclonal antibody is shown in Figure 4.21. The results are expressed as absorbance unit/amount of microsomal protein. When examined as a function of age, expression of CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 proteins showed a biphasic pattern. Proteins were not visible in fetal and postnatal day 1 hepatic microsomal samples. Expression for both CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 proteins was detected at 3 days of age where it accounted for no more than 25

% of the adult content, P<0.05. Expression increased progressively and plateaued at PD 10 followed by gradual increase at PD28 (30% of the adult value, P<0.05). Protein levels reached 75% of the adult value at the puberty age (63 days).



**Figure 4.21** – Age-related changes in rat hepatic CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 protein expression. Microsomal proteins were separated on a 10% SDS-PAGE and transferred to a PVDF membrane. CYP proteins were immunochemically detected with polyclonal antibodies raised against rat CYPs. The antigen-antibody complex was visualized after addition of a peroxidase-conjugated IgG, and quantified by scanning with an image analysis system. Data are expressed as mean  $\pm$ SD of 4 rats except fetal livers, which were pooled from 3 different dams. The asterisks refer to those age groups that show significant difference from adult.

## 4.3.3 Ontogeny of Rat Hepatic CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 Activity

Developmental changes in CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 maximal enzyme activities ( $V_{max}$ ) were assessed by measuring the enzyme activity at saturating chlorzoxazone and methoxyresorufin concentrations in age-dependent rat hepatic microsomes as shown in Figure 4.8. Both activities were undetected in fetal and PD1 hepatic microsomes.

Activities were low at early neonatal ages followed by a marked increase between PD3 and PD21 (CYP2E1) or between PD5 and PD28 (CYP1A2). Subsequently, activities declined to adult values by puberty with both enzymes (see section 4.1.2.4 for more detailed description for the ontogeny of CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 activity).

# 4.3.4 Correlation between Different Ontogeny Patterns of CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 Enzymes in Rats

#### 4.3.4.1 CYP Immunoreactive Protein and its mRNA Level

A poor correlation was observed for CYP2E1. Although CYP2E1 protein was not detected in fetal and PD1 livers, its mRNA was detected. Postnatally, mRNA levels rose rapidly to achieve approximately 1-fold, 3-fold, and 2-fold the adult level at PD10, PD14 and PD28, respectively. On the other hand, CYP2E1 protein levels increased slowly from PD3 (25% the adult value) to PD28 (30% the adult value). After PD28, CYP2E1 protein increased progressively to achieve the adult level at PD42 (Figure 4.22).

As well, developmental changes in CYP1A2 mRNA expression did not correlate with the immunoquantifiable CYP protein, except for the early postnatal period where both CYP1A2 protein and its transcript were low and increased gradually (Figure 4.22).

#### 4.3.4.2 CYP Immunoreactive Protein and its Catalytic activity

For both CYP enzymes, their protein and activity were not detected in fetal and PD1 livers. However, dramatic increase in catalytic activity was observed between PD3 and PD21 (CYP2E1) or between PD5 and PD28 (CYP1A2) followed by a decline to the adult level during puberty. These dramatic changes in activity were not mirrored by changes in protein levels for both enzymes, as mentioned in section 4.2.6 and shown in Figure 4.11.

#### 4.3.4.3 CYP mRNA and its Catalytic Activity

On the other hand when age-dependent changes in CYP enzymes activities were compared with changes in mRNA levels obtained from the real-time RT-PCR data, CYP2E1-mediated CZX hydroxylase activity and CYP1A2-mediated MROD activity correlated reasonably well with changes in CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 mRNA levels, respectively (Figure 4.23).



**Figure 4.22-** Developmental changes in expression of (A) CYP2E1 and (B) CYP1A2 mRNA, protein and activity levels in rat livers. All data are expressed as a percentage of adult levels.



**Figure 4.23**– Age-dependent changes in CYP enzyme activity (open circle) as a function of mRNA levels (closed circle) in rat hepatic microsomes. (A) Average CYP2E1-mediated chlorzoxazone hydroxylase  $V_{max}$  estimates as a function of average CYP2E1 mRNA levels. (B) Average CYP1A2-mediated methoxyresorufin-O-dealkylase  $V_{max}$  estimates as a function of average CYP1A2 protein levels. mRNA data were expressed as (CYP RNA/total RNA) as a ratio to adult values.

Although activities were not detected at <PD3, mRNA expression was detected, yet very low levels. Both enzyme activity and mRNA levels increased markedly following PD3 to reach maximum levels at PD14 (CYP2E1) or PD28 (CYP1A2) before declining to adult values. While activity levels at early puberty (PD42) were similar to adult values, mRNA levels were about 2-fold the adult values for both CYP enzymes (Figure 4.23).

#### 4.3.5 Ontogeny of Zonal Expression of Rat Hepatic CYP2E1 and CYP1A2

To characterize the age-dependent changes in intrahepatic distribution of CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 protein I performed an immunohistochemical analysis with polyclonal antibody to CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 in gestation age 20, postnatal ages 1, 5, 10, 42 and adult livers. Immunoreactivity in fetal and PD1 livers was homogeneously distributed throughout the liver and the intensity of staining appeared similar regardless of the intralobular location of the hepatocyte (Figures 4.24 A-B and 4.25 A-B). At postnatal days 5 (only for CYP2E1) and 10 immunostaining showed slightly greater intensity in the perivenous hepatocytes (Figures 4.24 C-D and 4.25 C). A more distinct loss of immunoreactivity was observed in periportal hepatocytes at postnatal day 42 (Figures 4.24 E and 4.25 D). In adult liver, immunoreactivity is focally distributed in the perivenous hepatocytes with almost no staining in the periportal region (Figures 4.24 F and 4.25 E).



**Figure 4.24** – Immunohistochemical localization of CYP2E1 in representative rat livers from (A) fetus; (B) postnatal day 1; (C) postnatal day 5; (D) postnatal day 10 (late neonatal); (E) postnatal day 42 (early puberty); and (F) adult. In fetal and neonatal livers, hepatocytes throughout the entire hepatic acini exhibit staining. Increasingly more intense staining is observed in the perivenous hepatocytes in the livers from postnatal day 42 rats with very intense staining in perivenous hepatocytes and almost negative staining in the periportal hepatocytes in the adult. (PV = perivenous; PP =periportal.). Scale Bar, 100  $\mu$ m.



**Figure 4.25** – Immunohistochemical localization of CYP1A2 in representative rat livers from (A) fetus; (B) postnatal day 1; (C) postnatal day 10; (D) postnatal day 42 (early puberty); and (E) adult. In fetal and neonatal livers, hepatocytes throughout the entire hepatic acini exhibit staining. Increasingly more intense staining is observed in the perivenous hepatocytes in the livers from postnatal day 42 rats with very intense staining in perivenous hepatocytes and almost negative staining in the periportal hepatocytes in the adult. (PV = perivenous; PP =periportal.). Scale Bar, 100  $\mu$ m.

#### 4.3.6 Ontogeny of Rat Hepatic Glutathione-S-Transferase (GST) Activity

To determine the age-dependent changes in GST activity in rat livers, cytosolic protein content (mg/gram liver) was determined and the cytosolic GST activity was assessed spectrophotometrically using a GST general probe substrate.

## 4.3.6.1 Age-Dependent Changes in Cytosolic Protein Content

Hepatic cytosolic protein content for each age group (n = 4) was measured by the method of Lowry *et al*<sup>270</sup>. The results shown in Figure 4.26 indicate that average cytosolic protein content (mg/gram liver weight) was low at birth (30 % of the adult value, P<0.05) and increased gradually to puberty (63 days) where it was 50 % of the adult value, P<0.05.



**Figure 4.26** – Mean ( $\pm$  SD) hepatic cytosolic protein content in male Sprague-Dawley rats (n=4). Asterisks indicate statistical difference from adult (112 days), P<0.05. F= gestation day 20.

## 4.3.6.2 Age-Dependent Changes in Total Cytosolic GST Activity

Liver cytosolic GST activity was determined using the general substrate 1-chloro-2,4-dinitrobenzene (CDNB). As shown in Figure 4.22, general GST activity was detected at gestational age 20, (10% of the adult value; P<0.05), and increased gradually until PD21 where activity was about ten fold the fetal value. By PD28 general GST activity reached adult values.



**Figure 4.27** –Age-related changes in hepatic cytosolic GST activity. The activity was monitored by spectrophotometric analysis of glutathione conjugation of 1-chloro-2,4-dinitrobenzene, a general GST probe substrate. Data are expressed as mean  $\pm$  SD of the hepatic GST activity of 4 animals. Fetal livers were pooled from 3 different dams. The asterisks refer to those age groups that show significant difference from adult.

#### **5. DISCUSSION**

#### 5.1. Evaluation of the Assumptions of an Ontogeny Model of CYP Enzyme Activity

#### 5.1.1 Development and Relevance of the Model

Breastfeeding is the most significant route of exposing the developing infant to a wide variety of drugs and environmental toxicants<sup>16,30,47</sup>. Most of the commonly used exposure risk assessment approaches usually underestimate the toxicity risk to the exposed infant because these approaches consider mainly the amount of exposure dose in breast milk and ignore the contribution of infant pharmacokinetics in determining the exposure outcome on the child<sup>16,43,47-49</sup>. Early life stages exhibit significant and dynamic developmental changes in the physiological and biochemical processes that govern the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of xenobiotics and such changes can significantly affect the toxicological outcome of an exposure<sup>44,221</sup>. However, only recently have efforts intensified to enhance our understanding of age-related changes in pharmacokinetic processes. Databases containing paediatric clinical pharmacokinetic data are in development to provide relevant information for more successful adult-toinfant extrapolation of therapeutic compounds and applicable toxicants<sup>224,281</sup>. Furthermore, physiologically based pharmacokinetic models are improving the extrapolation of animal developmental toxicology data for human paediatric risk assessments<sup>223,282</sup>, which is particularly important for those toxicants for which no human data are available.

Although the general lack of information regarding paediatric pharmacokinetics compels the use of toxicological information available from adult populations<sup>221,224</sup> or animal developmental toxicology studies<sup>282,283</sup>, both adult-to-infant and animal-to-human extrapolations can lead to under- or overestimations of exposure risk in paediatric populations<sup>222,284</sup>. An alternative approach is to use pharmacokinetic models that are based upon relevant biochemical and physiological data from paediatric

populations. These models offer the promise to provide more quantitative predictions of internal dosemetrics (i.e. steady state plasma concentration, area-under-the-plasma concentration vs. time-curve) and the potential for toxicity. Such models, then, may provide critical information for use in risk/benefit assessments of the safety of breastfeeding during maternal therapy or following exposure of the nursing mother to environmental toxicants.

Several modeling approaches have been proposed using either human clinical or animal data<sup>221,222,224,235</sup>. In our laboratory, a general mathematical model describing the ontogeny of hepatic CYP enzyme-mediated elimination in the first 6 months of age was developed and applied to predict infant metabolic clearance<sup>77</sup>. The model involves an *in vitro-in vivo* extrapolation of CYP enzyme activity data from age-specific human hepatic microsomes using CYP-specific probe substrates (see Appendix I for the theoretical framework of the model). The model enables prediction of age and CYP-specific infant scaling factors (ISF) that correlate adult intrinsic clearance with the ability of the infant to eliminate drugs by CYP pathways (Equations 1.15 and 1.16). Accordingly, this model could be a promising approach to provide appropriate assessments of the toxicological risk to infants following exposure to toxicants that undergo CYP-mediated bioactivation or detoxification.

Application of this model requires an evaluation of its underlying assumptions and its ability to make robust predictions of infant metabolic clearance. Given the logistic/ethical boundaries of obtaining *in vitro/in vivo* metabolism data in human infants<sup>60,285</sup>, the rat was used as an animal model system to evaluate the model's assumptions. I used the rat because this species shows sufficient similarities to humans regarding developmental physiology (i.e. liver development), enzymology and molecular mechanisms of drug metabolism<sup>1,96,259</sup>. As well, the rat is the most widely studied model in preclinical and toxicology studies when initial information regarding drug metabolism in humans is required<sup>1,116,261,262</sup>. Accordingly, its shortcomings are highly understood and characterized.

#### 5.1.2 Developmental Changes in Hepatic Scaling Factors (HSF)

Extrapolation of the *in vitro* metabolism data to the *in vivo* situation is based on the use of the parameter, intrinsic clearance ( $Cl_{int}$ ). This parameter is a pure measurement of the enzyme activity towards a substrate without influence of the other physiological determinants of hepatic clearance, hepatic blood flow and drug binding within the blood<sup>225</sup>. *In vitro/in vivo* extrapolation of intrinsic clearance ( $Cl_{int}$ ) is achieved when appropriate hepatic scaling factors (HSF) are applied (Appendix I). HSF (mg microsomal protein per g body weight) accounts for the contribution of hepatic microsomal protein content (MP) and liver weight (LW) normalized to body weight (BW) to the metabolic function of the whole liver (Equation 3.3).

In the human CYP ontogeny model (see Appendix I), literature data of agedependent changes in human LW and BW were obtained and used to develop an empirical equation describing the developmental changes in LW and BW from birth to the first year of life (Equation 11, Appendix I). However, due to the limited information about age-dependent changes in MP, it was assumed that microsomal protein content (mg/g liver) remains constant throughout postnatal maturation<sup>77</sup>. Accordingly, an adult human value of 52.2 mg/g liver<sup>258</sup> was used as MP value for all infant age groups. By assuming constant MP value in building the general model of CYP ontogeny, any change in HSF (t) will be solely due to the developmental changes in LW normalized to BW (Equation 3.3).

# 5.1.2.1 Developmental Changes in Microsomal Protein Content (MP) in Rat Livers

In my attempt to evaluate this assumption, hepatic MP was determined in agespecific rat hepatic microsomes. Results shown in Figure 4.2 reveal that rat hepatic microsomal protein content was significantly lower in fetal (20% the adult value) and early neonatal (25-60% the adult value) livers and continued to increase until reaching the adult value at postnatal day 7 (PD7) with the maximum value obtained at the onset of puberty (PD42) (125 % the adult value). Several studies have reported developmental changes in rat hepatic MP content, but these studies were conducted using a limited number of liver samples or age groups that do not cover all developmental stages in

rats<sup>95,115,286,287</sup>. The observed MP data in my study are in agreement with the MP results reported in similar age groups used in these studies.

To my knowledge, there are few data reporting developmental changes of MP content in human. Most of the reported studies were conducted in adult human (35-75 years) hepatic microsomes. While these reports show that hepatic concentration of microsomal protein remained virtually unchanged, they also show significant interindividual variability<sup>288-290</sup> as well as gender differences<sup>289</sup>. Other studies reported adult values of 45 mg/g<sup>252</sup>, 53 mg/g<sup>258</sup>, 77 mg/g<sup>291</sup>, or 27-108 mg/g<sup>290</sup> for MP content in human. These studies determined MP content from a limited number of liver samples (3-20 livers) with some studies using samples from patients with liver cancer. Generally, this significant interindividual variability could have implications for the accurate extrapolation of *in vitro* data on drug metabolism to predict *in vivo* metabolic clearance. However, a recent article using hepatic microsomes from 38 liver donors proved that microsomal scaling factor from human livers to be a robust method and recommended the use of a microsomal scaling value of 40 mg of microsomal protein per gram of liver as a generic value for predicting *in vivo* drug metabolic clearance from *in vitro* human hepatic microsomal data<sup>292</sup>.

Whether such changes in rat hepatic MP content can be extrapolated to human development is unknown, but compared to human, rats exhibit important differences in biogenesis of the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) and hepatocellular differentiation during development<sup>293-295</sup>. Liver parenchymal cells during late gestation and early neonatal stages in rats contain predominantly rough ER<sup>294</sup>. The total amount of ER per cell increases between 3 days before birth and birth where rough ER remains predominant<sup>294</sup>. Smooth ER becomes a quantitatively significant component only a few days after birth<sup>293,294</sup>. Such developmental changes in hepatocellular content of smooth ER may explain the age-related changes in MP in rats.

# 5.1.2.2 Developmental Changes in Rat Liver Weight (LW) and Body Weight (BW)

An examination of the developmental changes in the ratio of liver weight to body weight reveals that this ratio remains relatively constant throughout rat postnatal development (Figure 4.1). This suggests the age-dependent changes in HSF (Figure 4.3) are primarily a function of developmental changes in MP content. The similarity observed between the developmental profiles of MP and HSF confirms this assertion (Figures 4.2 and 4.3, respectively).

#### 5.1.2.3 Consequences on the Model

While the above observations demonstrate a relatively constant (LW/BW) ratio throughout development, they show developmental changes in MP with significantly low values at early postnatal stages compared to adult. Although these findings contradict one of the assumptions of the ontogeny model of CYP enzyme activity, this contradiction does not necessarily weaken the potential value of the model. These results merely suggest the need to measure hepatic microsomal protein content in paediatric livers to incorporate age-dependent changes in hepatic microsomal protein content in the modeling process to provide predictive estimates of the ISF values.

### 5.1.3 Developmental Changes in Metabolic Intrinsic Clearance (Clint)

Application of the ontogeny model is limited only to low hepatic clearance drugs where systemic clearance is principally a function of hepatic enzyme activity and the unbound fraction, and not hepatic blood flow (Equation 1.10). As well, the model assumes that efflux and uptake transporters do not contribute significantly to the intrinsic clearance (Cl<sub>int</sub>) of the compound. Transport processes can markedly influence Cl<sub>int</sub> and act as the rate limiting process of metabolic clearance<sup>296-298</sup>. At present, the model may provide predictions for a wide variety of low clearance compounds when their systemic clearance is not affected by transport processes. However, the model can accommodate the contribution of transport processes other than passive diffusion and future investigations in this laboratory are planned to address this issue.

CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 were selected to evaluate the model assumptions due to the following reasons:

 Each enzyme demonstrates markedly different ontogeny patterns<sup>44</sup>. This will enable the recognition of critical model elements that are necessary to improve the general ontogeny model of CYP-mediated hepatic clearance.

- 2. Reasonable predictions made for these two CYP enzymes, with different developmental patterns, may indicate the potential ability of the model to describe the developmental maturation of a wide variety of CYP enzymes.
- Both CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 have significant toxicological relevance as they mediate bioactivation and/or detoxification of many commonly used therapeutic drugs and environmental toxicants and procarcinogens<sup>100</sup>. Consequently, developmental changes in the activity of these enzymes could have profound and age-dependent effects on the ultimate toxicological outcome of xenobiotic exposures.

Considering the genetically similar complement of hepatic CYP enzymes between infant and adults, a basic underlying model assumption is that affinity for a substrate for a given CYP enzyme should not be different between infant and adults for the specific enzyme-substrate pair<sup>77</sup>. Affinity, in this context, refers to the specific affinity between an enzyme and substrate pair in the absence of factors that may influence the apparent affinity of a compound, i.e. non-specific binding and contribution of other enzymes to the reaction pathway<sup>252</sup>. Accordingly, the developmental differences in maturation of the specific CYP enzyme activity exclusively determines the age-dependent differences

in  $Cl_{int}$  ( $\frac{V_{max}}{K_M}$ ), i.e. substrate affinity ( $K_M$ ) for the enzyme remains constant during postnatal development and the developmental changes in  $Cl_{int}$  is only due to changes in functional enzyme activity ( $V_{max}$ ).

# 5.1.3.1 Developmental Changes in Substrate Affinity (K<sub>M</sub>)

To evaluate the critical assumption of constant  $K_M$  values during development, probe substrates for CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 were selected with low hepatic extraction ratios and hepatic intrinsic clearances<sup>180,272,280</sup>. Additionally, no reports are available to indicate that uptake or efflux transporters can affect hepatic intrinsic clearance of these compounds. Upon examination of the developmental changes in  $K_M$  values of CYP2E1mediated CZX hydroxylation and CYP1A2-mediated MROD activities, lower values for CYP2E1 and higher values for CYP1A2 were observed in postnatal ages  $\leq$  7 days compared to adult (Figure 4.7). Due to the limited human and rat data, it is difficult to confirm whether such developmental changes in K<sub>M</sub> values occur during human neonatal development. One study<sup>133</sup> reported a 50% K<sub>M</sub> value for CYP2E1-mediated CZX hydroxylation in adult human hepatic microsomes compared to newborns. Also some studies reported different K<sub>M</sub> values in microsomes prepared from livers in neonates relative to adult liver microsomes for other substrates<sup>156,272,299</sup>. Although I did not conduct further investigations to explain the age-dependent differences in the apparent K<sub>M</sub> values, three possible explanations could be suggested. These include inefficient probe substrate specificity, non-specific protein binding in hepatic microsomes, and age-related changes in microsomal membrane composition.

#### 5.1.3.1.1 Inefficient probe substrate specificity

Enzyme kinetic parameters were estimated using accepted probe substrates and agedependent rat hepatic microsomes. This *in vitro* system consists of heterogeneous population of CYP enzymes. No single probe substrate is 100% specific for a particular CYP of interest, and the contribution of other CYP enzymes to a reaction pathway is very possible<sup>280,300</sup>. Consequently, the measured K<sub>M</sub> value is in fact the apparent K<sub>M</sub>, a hybrid value that takes into account the contribution of all enzymes in the particular reaction pathway, and not the K<sub>M</sub> value for a specific CYP enzyme-substrate pair. Depending upon their relative contributions and affinities for the substrate and stage of development, other CYP enzymes could markedly impact apparent K<sub>M</sub> values<sup>301</sup>.

Specificity for all CYP probe substrates has been established using adult hepatic microsomes. Studies have documented that most probe substrates can be selective for the enzyme of interest but are not 100% specific<sup>280,300</sup>. Although CYP2E1 contributes extensively to the metabolism of both chlorzoxazone (CZX) and ρ-nitrophenol (PNP), CYP1A2, CYP2C11, CYP3A1 and CYP3A2 also contribute to some extent<sup>280</sup>. Furthermore, the CYP1A2 probe substrates, ethoxyresorufin and phenacetin, undergo extensive metabolism by CYP1A2, but with minor contributions from CYP2C6, CYP2C11, CYP2E1, CYP3A1 and CYP3A2<sup>280</sup>. While these studies show a major contribution from one particular pathway (e.g. CYP2E1 or CYP1A2) and minor contributions from others, these results were observed in adult hepatic microsomes, a

situation that may be significantly different from neonatal microsomes. Since most CYP enzymes undergo different rates and patterns of maturation towards adulthood<sup>114,268</sup>, the major elimination pathway observed in adult livers can be functionally immature in the developing infant. Consequently, the minor contributing pathways seen in adult may contribute significantly to substrate elimination in the developing infant<sup>77</sup>. Some of these CYP pathways, especially CYP3A1 and CYP3A2, are expressed during gestational stages in rats and increase dramatically after birth, whereas activities of CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 are either undetected or very low<sup>1</sup>. Eadie-Hofstee plots (Figures 4.12 and 4.13) gave clear evidence of a deviation from a single site Michaelis-Menten model for chlorzoxazone hydroxylation and MROD activity, which may indicate the possible contribution of other CYP enzyme(s), in addition to CYP2E1 and CYP1A2, respectively.

## 5.1.3.1.2 Non-specific protein binding in hepatic microsomes

The apparent  $K_M$  value can be significantly affected by developmental changes in non-specific protein binding of drug substrate in the hepatic microsomal system, which affects the unbound, free fraction ( $f_{u,mic}$ ) that is available to interact with the enzyme of interest<sup>252,302</sup>. Michaelis-Menten (MM) kinetics assumes that all substrate available in the system is in the unbound form, and parameter estimates are generated assuming that all substrate is freely available to the enzyme active site<sup>303</sup>. Many substrates violate this assumption, and for some substrates, non-specific binding is extensive<sup>251,252</sup>. Furthermore, the extent of non-specific binding and its influence on the apparent K<sub>M</sub> value has never been assessed in paediatric hepatic microsomes.

The degree to which non-specific protein binding influences the M-M parameter estimates depends upon the amount of protein in the system<sup>304</sup>. At equilibrium and with non-saturable binding, Equation 5.1 describes the relationship between the microsomal free fraction ( $f_{u,mic}$ ), the dissociation constant (K<sub>d</sub>), and the concentration of microsomal protein binding component [B]<sup>301,304</sup>

$$f_{u, \text{mic}} = \frac{K_d}{[B] + K_d}$$
(5.1)

Assuming age-dependent changes in hepatic microsomal protein components responsible for non-specific binding and using Equation 5.1 to define the ratio of free fractions expected at two different developmental stages with different concentrations of non-specific binding components, the fraction unbound is expected to be constant only when the concentrations of the binding components are similar between ages or much less than  $K_d^{301}$ . The apparent  $K_M$  ( $K_M$ , <sub>app</sub>) will be influenced by the degree of non-specific binding in a manner shown in Equation 5.2.

$$K_{M,app} = \frac{K_M}{f_{u,mic}}$$
(5.2)

Assuming different concentrations of non-specific binding components with development, the apparent  $K_M$  value is expected to be similar between different age groups only when the concentration of microsomal protein binding components are similar or much less than  $K_d^{301}$ . On the other hand, if the concentrations of these components are much greater than  $K_d$ , a proportional relationship is expected between the apparent  $K_M$  and concurrent changes in protein concentration<sup>301</sup>.

In light of my own data, an age-dependent difference in the extent of non-specific binding is possible. Total hepatic microsomal protein (MP), which constitutes a heterogeneous population of proteins to which CYP substrates can bind specifically and/or non-specifically, shows age-dependent changes (Figure 4.2). Accordingly, age-dependent differences in the extent of non-specific binding is possible. Total CYP protein content constitutes a major component of the microsomal fraction and provides both specific and non-specific binding sites for CYP substrates<sup>100</sup>. My results, shown in Figure 4.4, indicate that total CYP protein undergoes developmental changes with age. This observation is supported by many studies that report age-dependent changes in total hepatic microsomal CYP content in rats<sup>95,114,115,286</sup> and humans<sup>93,166,108</sup>. Such changes can lead to variations in the extent of non-specific binding with age and could significantly affect the apparent K<sub>M</sub> value during development.

#### 5.1.3.1.3 Microsomal membrane composition

One last possible reason for the observed age-dependent changes in the experimentally determined  $K_M$  values may relate to age-related changes in the phospholipid composition of the microsomal membrane<sup>293,294</sup>. The apparent viscosity of the microsomal membrane is much higher in fetal and newborn livers than in adult livers due to changes in phospholipid/cholesterol molar ratios<sup>305,306</sup>. Endogenous glucocorticoids were found to play a major role in this phenomenon through their effect on the unstauration of microsomal fatty acids leading to increasing microsomal membrane fluidity in the perinatal period<sup>305,306</sup>. This can modify the catalytic efficiency of CYP enzymes either directly, through changing the conformation of the CYP protein, or indirectly, by improving substrate accessibility to the enzyme active site or by increasing the rate of electron transfer from NADPH-cytochrome P450 reductase to the CYP enzyme active site<sup>242</sup>.

Such uncertainty regarding the developmental changes in K<sub>M</sub> values needs further investigation. The use of cDNA-expressed CYP enzymes both singly or mixed in proportions similar to those of CYP enzymes in hepatic microsomes at different age groups may facilitate the assessment of the contribution of different CYP isoforms to the estimated K<sub>M</sub> value at a given age<sup>280,307</sup>. Furthermore, the influence of non-specific protein binding on the experimentally estimated K<sub>M</sub> values can be assessed by determining the apparent K<sub>M</sub> value at different microsomal protein concentrations. A proportional change in the K<sub>M</sub> value with a change in microsomal concentration indicates that the substrate has high protein binding capacity and non-specific binding may have a significant effect on the estimated K<sub>M</sub> value.

# 5.1.3.2 Developmental Changes in Functional Enzyme Activity (V<sub>max</sub>) and Correlation to Functional CYP Protein.

To monitor the ontogeny of the catalytically active CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 enzymes in rats, *in vitro* CZX hydroxylation and methoxyresorufin-O-delkylation (MROD) activities were monitored, respectively (Figure 4.8). For both CYP enzymes, activity was not detected in the perinatal period. Postnatally, enzyme activity was significantly lower than adult levels and steadily increased after postnatal day 5 (PD5) to reach maximum levels prior to (CYP2E1) or during (CYP1A2) the weaning period (PD21-28), where the activity was significantly higher than the adult level. While the obtained  $V_{max}$  values are markedly higher than few reported studies<sup>180,182,274</sup>, the ontogeny profiles for CZX hydroxylation and MROD activities demonstrate similar patterns with these studies, even though they utilized few developmental ages<sup>1,308</sup>. The pattern of changes in  $V_{max}$  values is most critical since all  $V_{max}$  values are normalized to adult values for the purpose of the model.

The observed surge in CYP2E1 activity before the weaning period and the peak in CYP1A2 activity around the time of weaning is probably regulated by endogenous hormones (e.g. growth hormone and thyroxin) that are involved in the weaning process<sup>125,183</sup>. Also this weaning-related surge in activity may be an adaptation to ingestion of solid food and exposure to different xenobiotics that could affect the endogenous hormones levels and consequently alter CYP expression<sup>125,245</sup>. However, these observed developmental changes in functional enzyme activity could also be due to one or more of the aforementioned reasons in section 5.1.3.1. For example, inefficient probe substrate specificity means that the observed activity could be a hybrid function of the CYP enzyme of interest (e.g. CYP2E1 or CYP1A2) in addition to one or more CYP enzymes that contribute to some extent in the metabolic reaction under investigation. This is more prominent in hepatic microsomes from younger ages where the major CYP pathway is immature or underdeveloped leading to considerable contributions from other CYP pathways that play only a minor role in adult hepatic microsomes. Since these CYP enzymes have different onsets and patterns of development<sup>44</sup>, their influence on the observed changes in functional enzyme activity could be significant.

The profiles of developmental changes in catalytic activity of each CYP enzyme were correlated to its specific immunoreactive protein level at each age to assess the proportional relationship between enzyme activity ( $V_{max}$ ) and its functional protein level (one of the major assumptions of the general ontogeny model and a basic assumption of the MM equation)<sup>303</sup>. However, my results show that developmental changes in  $V_{max}$  did not completely parallel the biphasic patterns observed with its respective CYP protein level (Figure 4.11). Although some human CYP enzymes (e.g. CYP2E1,

CYP1A2 and CYP2D6) show a reasonable correlation between the maturation of CYP activity and CYP protein level<sup>133,165,242</sup>, other CYP enzymes (e.g. CYP3A and CYP2C) demonstrate a discordance<sup>93,241</sup>.

Before I go further and discuss these unexpected findings, recall that the model assumes a proportional relationship between enzyme activity and functional protein level. Accordingly, evaluation of this assumption requires:

- 1. Measurement of the developmental changes in CYP activity using a specific probe substrate for this particular CYP enzyme.
- 2. Monitoring the developmental changes in the functional protein level of that CYP enzyme.

As discussed previously, one may question the substrate specificity of the probe substrates (i.e. not 100% specific)<sup>280,300</sup>. Furthermore, quantitative immunoblotting techniques using CYP-specific antibodies do not differentiate functional from non-functional CYP protein. Therefore, the observed discordance between CYP enzyme activity and its protein level could be attributed to two main reasons:

- During the early postnatal period, discordance may be due to the contribution of other CYP enzymes whose development precedes CYP2E1 or CYP1A2 pattern of development and contributes significantly to probe substrate metabolism at particular postnatal ages. For example CYP3A1 is involved in the hydroxylation of CZX<sup>280</sup>. This enzyme is well expressed in rat fetal livers, whereas CYP2E1 activity is not detected<sup>1</sup>. CZX hydroxylase activity in the early neonatal period may reflect CYP3A1 (and others) activity rather than solely CYP2E1. Consequently, a poor correlation between CZX hydroxylase activity and CYP2E1 protein level could be expected during early stages of development.
- 2. During the neonatal, weaning and post weaning periods, discordance may be due to posttranslational mechanisms that markedly influence enzyme activity during development. Posttranslational modification of CYP proteins may diminish or inactivate its catalytic activity. For example, protein phosphorylation may rapidly inactivate CYP2B and CYP2E1 enzymes<sup>309,310</sup>. The decline in CYP enzyme activity relative to the increase in CYP content at or after weaning may be due to the possible accumulation of non-functional protein.

Interestingly, a recent study reported a model of CYP2E1 ontogeny in human liver microsomes based upon evaluations of CYP2E1 protein content with immunoblotting techniques<sup>311</sup>. My data questions the potential application of models that are developed to predict *in vivo* intrinsic clearance of CYP substrates based on human CYP protein levels<sup>311</sup>, rather than CYP probe substrate activity. Hence, immunodetectable protein levels may not act as a suitable surrogate to CYP enzyme activity when specific probe substrates are not available.

#### 5.1.3.3 Consequences on the Model

As mentioned in sections 5.1.3.1 and 5.1.3.2, significant changes were observed in  $K_M$  and  $V_{max}$  values during development. Although the first observation (developmental changes in  $K_M$  values) seems inconsistent with the model's assumption, it suggests a need to incorporate developmental changes in  $K_{M(j)}$  estimates in the model building process (i.e. model the  $V_{max}/K_M$  ratio) instead of modeling only changes in  $V_{max(j)}$ . The incorporation of a new parameter, which undergoes interindividual variability during development, will increase the model's complexity and possibly result in greater uncertainty in its parameter estimates.

# 5.1.4 Correlation between CYP Enzyme Activity Levels Determined Using Two Probe Substrates

My findings, on the other hand, have satisfied another critical assumption of our CYP ontogeny model. The developmental changes in CYP enzyme activity using one specific substrate was found to correlate well with changes in activity using a second, somewhat less specific substrate (Figures 4.9 and 4.10). Some minor differences were observed, especially in the detection of enzyme activity in fetal and early neonatal stages using the second probe substrate. This may suggest the contribution of other CYP enzymes that express relatively significant activity in the early neonatal period relative to CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 enzymes<sup>280</sup>. Such similarity between different substrates for the same CYP enzyme indicates that the model can be applied generally to all substrates of the CYP enzyme of interest.

#### 5.1.5 Conclusion

The general ontogeny model of human CYP enzyme activity is a promising risk assessment tool for pediatric populations, particularly following exposures to xenobiotics in breast milk. In my attempt to evaluate its underlying assumptions, I recognized potentially important discrepancies with the stated assumptions. Microsomal protein (MP) content may not remain constant with development, which will require incorporation of age-related changes in MP content into the model building process. Changes in K<sub>M</sub> values during early postnatal development may reflect lack of probe substrate specificity or changes in non-specific binding to microsomal components during CYP enzyme ontogeny, rather than age-dependent changes in the inherent properties of substrate-CYP enzyme interactions. Further assessments of probe substrate specificity and K<sub>M</sub> evaluations are required for further evaluation of the model assumptions. Postnatal increases in V<sub>max</sub> occur for both CYP2E1 and CYP1A2, with maximal activity prior to or at weaning stage, respectively. The activity of one substrate seems to correlate with the level of activity of a second substrate of the CYP enzyme. However, a poor correlation was observed between catalytic activity and protein level of the tested CYP enzymes during development, and further investigations are needed to explain this discordant development.

Until further investigations provide appropriate explanations for these discrepancies that dispute the validity of the model, one can not dismiss the potential value of the CYP ontogeny model as a potential risk assessment tool. As a proof of concept, Section 5.2 discusses the ability of the model to predict *in vivo* oral clearance of a specific CYP2E1 substrate, CZX, in rats.

### 5.2. Development of a Pharmacokinetic Model of Rat CYP2E1 and CYP1A2

#### Ontogeny

Despite the documented similarities between rats and humans concerning the biochemistry and enzymology of CYP2E1 and CYP1A2<sup>2,312</sup>, comparison of the developmental changes in ISF estimates between the rat (Figure 4.14) and human<sup>77</sup> reveals important differences in the onset, rate and pattern of maturation of CYP

activity. These differences in developmental ISF profiles indicate species differences in CYP regulation with development and this information should be carefully considered when extrapolating rat toxicokinetic information to human paediatric populations. Due to their significant role in mediating bioactivation or elimination of xenobiotics, developmental maturation of CYP enzymes may determine the toxicological outcome following exposure to xenobiotics. Accordingly, different ontogeny patterns of CYP activity between rats and human could result in different toxicological responses to the same xenobiotic during development. Such differences in developmental patterns necessitate the development of an unique model that describes the ontogeny of CYP enzymes in rats.

To develop a model describing the ontogeny of CYP enzymes in rats, the following scaling factors were estimated (see Appendix I and section 3.2.6 for more details):

- Hepatic scaling factors (HSF<sub>(t)</sub>) that account for the contribution of hepatic microsomal protein content (MP) and liver weight (LW) normalized to body weight (BW) to the metabolic function of the whole liver, Equation 3.3.
- 2. Normalization of HSF of a particular developmental age to HSF in adult to produce age-specific relative hepatic scaling factor ( $RHSF_{(t)}$ ) that relates the abundance of microsomal protein content per body weight in infant to the adult, Equation 3.4.
- 3. Ontogeny scaling factors  $(OSF_{(t)})$  were determined by normalizing functional enzyme activity  $(V_{max (t)})$  observed at a particular age (t) to that observed in the adult, Equation 3.5. Accordingly, OSF represents the elimination capacity of a specific enzyme in the infant relative to the adult.
- 4. The product of the scaling factors,  $RHSF_{(t)}$  and  $OSF_{(t)}$ , is the age-specific infant scaling factor ( $ISF_{(t)}$ ) that represents the ontogeny of an individual functional enzyme relative to the whole body, Equation 3.6, and correlates adult *in vivo* intrinsic clearance due to an individual CYP enzyme to the capacity of the infant at age (t) to eliminate drugs by the same metabolic pathway, Equation 1.15.

The observed  $ISF_{(t)}$  values were fit to various models describing the developmental maturation of each CYP enzyme using the modeling software GraphPad Prism 4.

Modifications to the general human ontogeny model (Equation 1.16) were required to describe the age-dependent changes in CYP function from birth to adulthood in rats as shown in Equation 4.1. The primary modification included a parameter  $(ISF_{Burst}(e^{-k_2(t-lag)}-e^{-k_3(t-lag)}))$  that accounted for an apparent burst of activity (greater than the adult value) in the period between weaning and puberty that overlay the general exponential increase in activity to some asymptotic level reached at adulthood [(ISF<sub>D</sub> (1 - e^{-kt}))].

While the visual inspection of the fitted non-linear regression lines shows adequate fits (Figure 4.15), the parameter estimates (Table 4.5) are associated with wide confidence intervals around the estimates. This may be due to the limited number of data points (average of 4 at 12 developmental ages) and the need for a more complex equation to describe the data.

The primary importance of establishing a PK model of the ontogenesis of rat CYP activity is to 1) provide a proof-of-concept that a model can be established based on appropriate *in vitro* data to make reasonable predictions of CYP-mediated intrinsic clearance and 2) allow predictions of internal dosimetry metrics (i.e. steady-state plasma concentrations, AUC) at different developmental rat stages for developmental toxicology studies and extrapolation to humans. The model was tested for its ability to provide *a priori* predictions of chlorzoxazone (CZX) oral clearance in male Sprague-Dawley rats. Chlorzoxazone is a probe substrate commonly used to monitor CYP2E1 activity *in vivo*<sup>3,123</sup>. Although the original model predicts a systemic clearance, chlorzoxazone was administered orally for the following reasons:

- Oral ingestion is the most common route of exposure in infants (e.g. breastfeeding).
- 2. In toxicology studies, test compounds are usually administered to animals orally in solutions or suspensions.
- 3. Oral bioavailability (F) of CZX is high<sup>278,313</sup>.

4. Difficulty of CZX administration by IV route to rat pups. Attempts to administer CZX by intracardiac administration resulted in a mortality rate > 50% following injection.

Table 4.6 shows the age-dependent changes in pharmacokinetic parameters of CZX in rats. The table demonstrates similar elimination rate constant  $(\lambda_z)$  values between the different ages, while different values were observed for maximum serum concentration  $(C_{max})$  and area under serum concentration time curve (AUC). One would expect agedependent changes in the  $\lambda_z$  values, since changes in V<sub>max</sub> (or ISF) values were observed with development. The age-related changes in C<sub>max</sub> and AUC in conjunction with the similar  $\lambda_z$  values may suggest age-dependent changes in the oral bioavailability of CZX. Also, while the table shows similar elimination rate constants across all tested ages, dramatic developmental changes in ISF and oral clearance estimates were observed. Since the elimination rate constant is a hybrid function of systemic clearance and volume of distribution, these observations may be the result of developmental changes in body composition (e.g. water content, lipid content) and extent of tissue and protein binding, which can induce age-dependent changes in CZX volume of distribution. Comparison of the predicted and observed oral clearance (Figure 4.17) indicates that the model reasonably predicted CZX oral clearance values at all tested postnatal ages with the poorest prediction observed at juvenile and adult stages where the predicted values were 3- and 3.5-fold the observed values, respectively. Predicted oral clearance values at other ages were within 2-fold the observed values.

The two most commonly used approaches to predict clearance in neonates are physiologically based pharmacokinetic (PBPK) modeling and allometric scaling<sup>78,235,250</sup>. Compared to our pharmacokinetic model of CYP ontogeny, PBPK models require estimation of age-dependent changes in drug absorption, elimination capacity, plasma protein binding, physiological characteristics of the subject and physicochemical parameters of the drug under investigation<sup>78</sup>. Accordingly, generation and validation of a PBPK model is resource and time intensive. However, when these data are available this approach can provide reasonable predictions of systemic clearance<sup>78,257</sup>. Although our general ontogeny model does not account for age-related changes in body composition and extent of protein and tissue binding, it can be incorporated into these PBPK models as it provides essential information regarding the developmental changes in CYP activity.

The second approach of predicting systemic clearance is allometric scaling<sup>235,250</sup>. However, this is an empirical approach that does not provide physiological relevance and usually fails to make adequate predictions for low and intermediate hepatic extraction ratio drugs<sup>235</sup>. Since CYP enzymes undergo a developmental maturation, many substrates are likely to exhibit low hepatic extractions during early postnatal development despite their possible intermediate to high extraction ratios in the adult<sup>250</sup>. Accordingly, allometric scaling may not be a suitable approach to predict drug clearance in neonatal populations.

A principal goal of our ontogeny model of CYP enzyme activity is to provide riskrelevant information regarding the potential for toxicity in paediatric populations following exposure to toxicants, especially from breast milk. Evaluation of exposure risks requires knowledge of the developmental window of susceptibility (the onset of toxicodynamic processes that lead to toxicity), the internal biologically effective dose (tissue dosimetry) that occurs during that window and dose-response behavior within that window<sup>229</sup>. Due to the difference in timing of birth across species in relation to the development of organs and physiological systems, often differences exist in the pharmacokinetics that occur during the relevant developmental period in each species<sup>229</sup>.

Such differences may create difficulties in relating rodent critical developmental stages to human stages. However, our ontogeny model may still make predictions of internal dosimetry following a given toxic dose during the exposure period (e.g. *in utero* exposure, postlactational exposure), which may help to further explain dose-response behavior and age-related changes in susceptibility to toxicity.

Due to age-dependent changes in pharmacokinetic processes<sup>314</sup>, the same dose/kg body weight may result in different values for internal dosimetry metrics at different developmental stages and, therefore, different risks of toxicity. This illustrates the uncertainties associated with extrapolating adult dosimetry estimates to paediatric populations, especially in the early neonatal ages where the physiological and biochemical changes are rapid and significant<sup>224</sup>. As toxicant elimination is a major determinant of tissue concentration (tissue dosimetry), a PK model that provides an *a priori* prediction of elimination capacity at different developmental ages is of great
significance in defining age-dependent internal doses and correlating that dose to the response observed during the exposure period<sup>221,224</sup>.

Calculation of the age-dependent changes in internal dosimetry in laboratory animals used in pre-clinical and toxicology studies can potentially improve the accuracy of estimating the exposure risk in humans<sup>315</sup>. Such inter-species extrapolation requires estimation of exposure levels that result in a comparable effective internal dosimetric value in humans. Assuming similar toxicodynamic processes between rats and humans, a human PBPK model based upon human parameters can be used to simulate an exposure level that achieves the same internal dosimetric value as observed in the rat (Figure 5.1).



**Figure 5.1-** Calculation of a human equivalent exposure dose from laboratory animal toxicity data using dosimetry/physiologically based pharmacokinetic (PBPK) models. Adapted from reference <sup>315</sup>.

This approach has been recommended by Health Canada (HC) and US Environment Protection Agency (EPA) to determine internal dose-response relationships in calculating target dose levels<sup>223</sup>.

This general PK model of rat CYP enzyme activity ontogeny is an initial proof-ofconcept investigation to demonstrate that an ontogeny model based on a physiologicallybased (PB) ISF can be developed and applied in predicting age-dependent systemic clearance due to CYP-mediated metabolism if appropriate *in vitro* data is available. Future investigations with more age groups can increase the reliability of the model.

A serious limitation of the model is its inability to accommodate those compounds whose concentration at the CYP enzyme is controlled by uptake or efflux membrane transporters. Future investigations using primary hepatocytes are required to assess the potential role of membrane transport processes during development and incorporate them into the model building process to extend the spectrum of model application.

#### 5.3. Characterization of Rat CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 Ontogeny

The lack of pharmacokinetic/toxicokinetic data in paediatric populations represents a critical obstacle to accurately assess the pharmacological/toxicological outcome of exposure to chemicals, e.g. from breast milk<sup>316</sup>. In many cases this risk assessment is based upon extrapolation of toxicity data from adult populations to the infant<sup>227,234,250</sup>. However, due to the immature physiological and biochemical processes that determine the pharmacokinetics (or toxicokinetics) and pharmacodynamics (or toxicodynamics) of toxicants, the developing infant may respond to the toxicant exposure in a different way than the adult<sup>229,233</sup>. This age-dependent difference in vulnerability to toxicants casts serious uncertainties to the simple adult-to-infant extrapolation approach and necessitates having toxicokinetic data from paediatric populations<sup>221,233</sup>. However, obtaining such data from infants is usually associated with numerous ethical and logistic limitations<sup>60,285</sup>. Extrapolation of developmental toxicity data from animal models to human may be an useful approach to elucidate the influence of developmental changes in toxicokinetic processes on the susceptibility to toxicity<sup>229,233</sup>.

The CYP enzyme system, is considered one of the most critical toxicokinetic mechanisms that determine the pharmacological/toxicological outcome following exposure to xenobiotics<sup>96</sup>. The ontogeny of these enzymes, then, could have a significant impact on the age-related differences in susceptibility to toxicity<sup>268</sup>. Due to

the significant species differences in the rate and pattern of CYP enzymes ontogenesis, toxicity outcomes from animal models can not necessarily be extrapolated directly to humans<sup>110</sup>. However, the limited available information regarding the ontogeny of CYP enzymes in human necessitates the use of animal model system for risk extrapolation and to identify the toxicokinetic mechanisms of age-related differences in susceptibility to toxicity<sup>222,283</sup>.

Due to the above mentioned significance of studying the ontogeny of CYP enzymes in a relevant animal model, I have extensively characterized the ontogeny of two toxicologically significant CYP enzymes (CYP2E1 and CYP1A2)<sup>100</sup> in a rat model system at the levels of mRNA, protein, catalytic activity and hepatic tissue expression. Collectively, this extensive characterization may identify an animal model system of human CYP ontogeny that will ultimately have the following benefits:

- Identifying a toxicokinetic basis responsible for age-dependent changes in susceptibility. For example, an immature CYP pathway in the developing neonate could lead to accumulation and toxicity risk following exposure to a toxicant that undergoes elimination/detoxification by that CYP pathway, even when the exposure level is very minimal (e.g. with breastfeeding). No adverse effects will be observed in adult after exposure to the same toxicant if that CYP pathway is well developed and mature.
- This characterization will enhance our understanding of CYP regulation and the impact of various endogenous and exogenous factors on CYP enzyme expression during maturation<sup>317</sup>. Exposure of the fetus or the young neonate to certain chemicals can induce permanent alterations in CYP activity (metabolic imprinting)<sup>223,233</sup>.
- Comparison of the observed ontogeny patterns in rat to the available ontogeny data in humans will assess the appropriateness of the rat as an animal model for developmental toxicology studies.
- 4. Characterization of the maturation profile of CYP enzymes, that determine bioactivation potential and the detoxification capacity of numerous xenobiotics, can facilitate prediction of the pharmacological/toxicological outcome of xenobiotic exposure during development.

The rat was selected because it is often used in developmental toxicology and preclinical studies and demonstrates sufficient similarities to human CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 enzymes regarding their enzymology and biochemistry<sup>2,312,318,319</sup>. In addition to the significant similarities in nucleotide sequence between rats and human *CYP2E1* and *CYP1A2* genes<sup>2,263</sup>, these enzymes catalyze similar reactions and are induced or inhibited by similar mechanisms<sup>174</sup> in both species. Consequently, characterization of rat CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 ontogeny can facilitate the extrapolation of rat developmental toxicology studies using substrates for these enzymes and provide invaluable riskrelevant information for human paediatric risk assessment<sup>316</sup>.

Although both CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 are minimally affected by the sexually dimorphic effects of endogenous hormones (e.g. growth hormone)<sup>117,118</sup>, I chose to limit my studies to male rats to accommodate future investigations with CYP enzymes that may be affected by such factors.

# 5.3.1 Ontogeny of mRNA Expression 5.3.1.1 CYP2E1

Sparse information is available in the literature on the ontogeny of CYP2E1 mRNA in the rat and my results using real-time RT-PCR (Figure 4.22) are consistent with the few published reports<sup>1,98,115,261</sup>. CYP2E1 mRNA was detected at very low levels in fetal and early neonatal livers and elevated levels were detected few days after birth with peak levels at PD14 (approximately 3-fold the adult value), then declined to 2-fold the adult level at early puberty (PD42). The mechanism governing this regulation is unknown, but changes in the methylation status of certain cytosine residues at the 5' end of the *CYP2E1* gene correlate with transcriptional activation of this gene<sup>98,264,320</sup>. Demethylation of these cytosine residues was detected within 24 hours after birth, and at one week and ten weeks after birth<sup>264</sup>. Whether this demethylation is a result of transcriptional activation of the gene or whether demethylation itself causes gene expression is not presently known.

While several studies failed to detect CYP2E1 mRNA in human fetal livers<sup>157,321</sup>, Vieira *et al*<sup>133</sup> reported very low levels in fetal liver samples from late gestation. Similar to the observed significant rise of mRNA in the preweaning period in rats, human CYP2E1 mRNA levels significantly rise during the first three months of age and reach 50% of the adult value in by 3-12 months<sup>133</sup>. Unfortunately, mRNA levels were not measured in children aged 1-10 years and during puberty and, therefore, it is difficult to know exactly when mRNA levels peak before declining to the adult value. As in rats, the methylation status of the *CYP2E1* gene has been correlated with transcriptional activation<sup>133,134</sup>.

## 5.3.1.2 CYP1A2

The very few literature reports regarding the ontogeny of CYP1A2 mRNA in rats could not detect any mRNA levels in fetal and perinatal livers<sup>115,157</sup>. Other studies, consistent with my findings (Figure 4.22), detected CYP1A2 mRNA from as early as 2 weeks of gestation or few days prior to parturition followed by a postnatal increase to adult levels around weaning age (PD 21-28)<sup>1,322,323</sup>. In addition to the role of aryl hydrocarbon receptors (*AhR*) in the inducible expression of *CYP1A2*, members of the nuclear factor 1 (NF-1) family of transcription factors may play an important role in the hepatic constitutive expression of the *CYP1A2* gene<sup>169,170</sup>.

Few studies have reported the ontogeny of human CYP1A2 mRNA expression. In contrast to rats, the available reports suggest the absence of detectable CYP1A2 mRNA expression in gestational age from 11 to 24 weeks and low levels were detected at early neonatal ages<sup>110,111,157,165</sup>. Adult mRNA levels were attained in children aged 1-15 years<sup>110</sup>.

Comparison of the results of CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 mRNA ontogeny data in rats with those available in humans reveals some similarities between the two species, where the transcript is not detected or expressed at a very low level during gestation or early neonatal period and undergoes a significant rise during the preweaning (CYP2E1) or late weaning (CYP1A2). The sparse information regarding mRNA ontogeny in human during childhood and puberty limits the comparison to rats during these developmental stages.

## 5.3.2 Ontogeny of Immunochemical CYP Protein Expression 5.3.2.1 CYP2E1

When the immunoreactive protein levels were examined as a function of age, the results shown in Figure 4.21 indicate that no CYP2E1 protein was detected in microsomes from fetal and PD1 livers. The immunoreactive protein level in PD3 hepatic microsomes was very low (less than 25% the adult level), but gradually rose with postnatal development. The protein level did not change significantly between PD10 and PD28, but increased progressively thereafter. My results are in agreement with the few studies that examined CYP2E1 protein expression in rats at selected developmental ages<sup>116,183,261</sup>. However, and inconsistent with my findings, one study reported expression of CYP2E1 in rat fetal livers<sup>161</sup> and another study reported peak CYP2E1 protein levels prior to weaning with adult level achieved after weaning<sup>127</sup>.

A similar pattern of rat CYP2E1 protein development was reported in humans<sup>133,324,311</sup>. As with the rat, human CYP2E1 protein was not detected in fetal liver microsomes, but unlike the rat, it rose immediately in the first 24 hours after birth<sup>133</sup>. Postnatally, human CYP2E1 protein levels rose gradually to reach about 30% the adult value during the first month, after which it remained almost steady until 12 months<sup>133,324</sup>. Thereafter, CYP2E1 increased progressively<sup>133,166,324</sup>.

In contrast to human, rat CYP2E1 mRNA and protein expression increase dramatically during the early neonatal period. Thereafter, developmental changes in mRNA did not correlate with the immunoquantifiable protein levels. In humans, changes in CYP2E1 mRNA levels correlate reasonably with protein levels, especially after one month of age. Such data suggests species-differences in CYP2E1 regulation during development. Transcriptional mechanisms may regulate the initial rise in CYP2E1 level during the early neonatal period in rats. However, posttranscriptional mechanisms may play a larger role in governing CYP2E1 levels in rats throughout postnatal development. On the other hand, transcriptional mechanisms probably play a larger role in governing CYP2E1 level in humans after the first month of life. Such species-differences in CYP2E1 regulation can lead to species-differences in susceptibility to toxicants and need further investigations.

## 5.3.2.2 CYP1A2

When the immunoreactive protein levels were examined as a function of age, the results shown in Figure 4.21 indicates that no CYP1A2 protein was detected in microsomes from fetal and PD1 livers. These findings are consistent with some studies<sup>115,183,322</sup> but inconsistent with one study that reported very low levels of CYP1A2 protein in PD1 liver, but not in fetal livers<sup>1</sup>. The immunoreactive protein level in PD 3 hepatic microsomes was very low (less than 20% the adult level) but gradually rose with postnatal development to reach the adult value at late pubertal age (PD63). Inconsistent with my observations, Johnson *et al.*<sup>183</sup> reported a surge in CYP1A2 protein expression at PD21 (5 fold the adult value) followed by a decline to reach the adult value at early pubertal age (PD40). On the other hand, and consistent with my findings, Couroucli *et al.* reported a gradual increase in hepatic CYP1A2 protein levels in rats at postnatal days 8, 15, 22, and 38<sup>323</sup>.

This pattern of steady state increase in CYP1A2 immunoreactive protein is similar to my observation with CYP2E1 and to other CYP enzymes in rats<sup>1,325</sup>. Interestingly, the observed pattern of rat hepatic CYP1A2 protein ontogeny is similar to the reported expression pattern in human, where CYP1A2 protein was not detected in fetal and early neonatal hepatic microsomes<sup>165,243</sup>. During the first month after birth, the protein concentration was less than 5% the adult level, but rose slowly during the third month to reach only 10% the adult value<sup>165,158,243</sup>. A 50% of the adult level was reported in infants aged more than one year<sup>165</sup>.

Similar to the observed ontogeny patterns for rat CYP2E1 mRNA and protein, developmental changes in CYP1A2 mRNA did not correlate with changes in the immunoquantifiable CYP1A2 protein levels, except during the early postnatal period. This may suggest that CYP1A2 expression is principally determined by transcriptional mechanisms, which may be predetermined by the ontogeny pattern of nuclear hormone receptors<sup>326</sup>. However, posttranscriptional mechanisms likely play a larger role in governing CYP1A2 expression in rats throughout postnatal development. In human, the very little information regarding the ontogeny of CYP1A2 mRNA makes it difficult to postulate the regulatory mechanisms governing the ontogeny of human CYP1A2. In light of my results with rats and the available human data, a reasonable similarity was observed as the immunoreactive CYP protein levels showed a similar biphasic pattern in both species. Such findings can support the suitability of rats as a model to describe the ontogeny of human CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 proteins. The absence of immunoreactive CYP2E1 protein in fetal microsomes and its immediate surge after birth in both rats and human may suggest the implication of a physiological event that is directly related to parturition in the regulatory process rather than temporal maturation by itself. CYP2E1 is thought to be involved in two gluconeogenesis pathways from acetone<sup>126,132</sup>. This putative role in glucose metabolism may be related to the early onset of CYP2E1 expression when the newborn becomes independent of the mother's glucose and has a high demand of glucose<sup>133,160</sup>. While not yet clearly investigated, the delayed evolution of CYP1A2 in both human and rats may be regulated by a HNF-1 binding site in the 5' flanking region of the gene<sup>167,169</sup>. In addition to the contribution of this site to the tissue-specific expression of CYP1A2, it might be implicated in the age-specific expression as well<sup>169</sup>.

# 5.3.3 Ontogeny of Catalytic CYP Enzyme Activity 5.3.3.1 CYP2E1

As shown in Figure 4.8, CZX, a CYP2E1 probe substrate, hydroxylase activity was not detected in fetal and PD1 hepatic microsomes. High activity (70% the adult value) was detected at early postnatal ages with progressive increase to reach the maximum level (more than 150% the adult value) at PD14. The activity declined to the adult value at the weaning age (PD21-28) and stayed constant thereafter. Similar results were reported for the developmental changes in CYP2E1-mediated demethylation of dimethylnitrosamine activity in rats where activity peaked at PD14 and declined at PD21<sup>127</sup>. Consistent with this pattern of CYP2E1 activity changes with age, greater hepatotoxicity due to carbon tetrachloride bioactivation was observed in PD15 compared to PD60 male rats<sup>327</sup>. Developmental changes in rat hepatic CYP2E1 activity reasonably paralleled its mRNA expression levels, but not the immunoquantifiable protein.

In humans, very low hepatic CYP2E1 activity was detected from the fetal liver samples at late gestation stage (less than 5% the adult value) and immediately after birth

(approximately 20% the adult value)<sup>133</sup>. In the neonatal period, the activity gradually elevated to reach the adult value at ages 1-10 years<sup>133</sup>. Unlike rats, the ontogeny pattern of CYP2E1 activity in humans parallels the increase in its protein levels during development. Such data may suggest different regulatory mechanisms that control CYP2E1 levels between rats and human.

Regardless of species, greater risk of hepatotoxicity is expected at weaning, puberty and adult periods for xenobiotics that undergo CYP2E1-mediated bioactivation. However, substrates which need CYP2E1 for their elimination may accumulate in early postnatal ages leading to toxicity<sup>3</sup>.

#### 5.3.3.2 CYP1A2

The results shown in Figure 4.8 demonstrate undetectable methoxyresorufin-Odealkylase (MROD) activity, a CYP1A2 activity marker, in fetal and early postnatal ages. At PD5, MROD activity was very low (less than 20% the adult value) and gradually increased to attain a maximum level at PD28 (more than 150% the adult value). Similar to these findings, Couroucli *et al* reported 8-, 15- and 26-fold increase in rat hepatic MROD activity at PD15, PD22 and PD38, respectively, compared to PD8<sup>323</sup>. This compares reasonably well with the 4.5-, 9.5- and 10.5-fold increase in MROD activity at PD10, PD21 and PD28, respectively, compared to PD7 in my study. Another recent study using deltamethrin as a CYP1A2 substrate<sup>328</sup> reported a 4-, 9.5- and 9-fold change in intrinsic clearance values at PD21, PD40 and PD90, respectively, compared to PD10 in male rats<sup>329</sup>.

Very limited data are available to describe the developmental maturation of CYP1A2 in human. The existing literature reports indicate similar human CYP1A2 ontogeny pattern to the above characterized pattern for rats. Human CYP1A2 activity was not detected in fetal and early neonatal hepatic misrosomes<sup>165,91</sup>. Postnatally, CYP1A2 shows delayed ontogenesis with the first significant rise in activity observed at ages 1-3 months<sup>165</sup>. Thereafter, the activity continued to rise following the ontogenic profile of CYP1A2 protein until reaching 33% the adult value at ages 1-10 years<sup>165</sup>.

Such observed pattern of delayed CYP1A2 ontogenesis in both rats and human may have a great toxicological impact on both species. Higher risk of CYP1A2-mediated

xenobiotic bioactivation is expected in rats at weaning and in human at adult stages. However, in both species risk of drug accumulation is expected at early postnatal periods for substrates whose elimination is principally mediated by CYP1A2.

#### 5.3.4 Correlation between the CYP Ontogeny Profiles in Rats

Comparison of the ontogeny profiles of mRNA and protein of both CYP enzymes in rats (Figure 4.22) reveals a discordant relationship during postnatal development. While mRNA levels were detected in fetal livers, proteins were not detected. Postnatally, a rapid increase in mRNA levels was observed with levels exceeding 250% the adult levels by PD14 (CYP2E1) or PD28 (CYP1A2). This was accompanied by slow rise in protein levels that did not exceed 50% of the adult levels until PD42. Collectively, this could suggest that regulation of both CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 in rats occurs principally at the post transcriptional level. This discordance between mRNA and protein levels is similar to that observed with human CYP enzymes<sup>166,241,330</sup>.

A reasonable correlation was obtained when the developmental changes in CYP activity were compared to changes in corresponding mRNA levels for both CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 enzymes (Figure 4.23). These findings are inconsistent with those reported in human where the maturation of CYP activity does not follow that of mRNA levels, especially during the early developmental stages for both CYP2E1 and CYP1A2<sup>133,165</sup>. On the other hand, and also inconsistent with human studies, the activity of rat CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 enzymes did not follow the immunodetectable CYP protein (Figure 4.11). Possible reasons of this discordance are possible contribution of other CYP enzymes, especially at pre-weaning ages, and posttranslational mechanisms that can influence CYP activity, especially at post-weaning ages (section 5.1.3.2).

## 5.3.5 Ontogeny of Zonal Expression of CYP2E1 and CYP1A2

A number of studies have demonstrated the zonal expression of CYP enzymes in the livers of adult human and laboratory animals<sup>244-246,249</sup>. However, few studies have investigated intrahepatic expression of CYP enzymes in the developing human or

animal. The results of my study on the hepatic zonal expression of CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 in rat livers show remarkable development-related differences in intrahepatic expression. A homogenous distribution of the enzymes in all parenchymal cells was observed during fetal and early postnatal stages (Figures 4.24 and 4.25 A and B). A more heterogeneous intralobular expression was observed at juvenile and adult stages with the enzymes preferentially distributed in the perivenous region (PV) (Figure 4.24 E and F and Figure 4.25 D and E).

My results are quite comparable to that observed in human for CYP1A2, CYP3A and CYP2C<sup>243</sup>. This may indicate a similar regulatory mechanism is controlling this age-dependent zonal expression in both species. Many studies have reported the involvement of hormonal regulation in the zonal-specific expression of CYP enzymes<sup>7,201,249</sup>. Hypophysectomy of rats resulted in higher expression of CYP2B and CYP3A in the periportal (PP) zone with complete disappearance of zonation, while treatment with growth hormones re-established the zonation pattern<sup>245,249</sup>. This may suggest the potential role of growth hormone in down regulating the periportal transcription of these genes in the liver. Oinonen and Lindros<sup>245</sup> suggested the existence of regulatory factors located in the upstream region of the *CYP* gene. These factors could be either negative response elements, activated periportally, or transcriptional activators acting in the perivenous region<sup>245,326</sup>.

Age-dependent changes in the zonal expression of CYP enzymes could affect zonespecific damage caused by many hepatotoxicants. Focal expression of CYP2E1 and CYP1A2, which generally mediate generation of reactive intermediates following exposure to many chemicals, in the PV region could increase the vulnerability of this region to hepatotoxicity<sup>245,249,331</sup>. Another factor that increases such vulnerability is the insufficient expression of glutathione peroxidase, an enzyme that detoxifies reactive peroxides, in this region<sup>247</sup>. Although the two major groups of detoxification enzymes, glutathione-S-transferases and UDP-glucuronyl transferases, exhibit higher expression in the PV than the PP region, the gradient appears to be less steep compared to CYP enzymes<sup>247</sup>. Accordingly, the regional imbalance between bioactivation and detoxification mechanisms can be the basis for PV-specific damage following exposure to chemicals that undergo CYP-mediated bioactivation to highly reactive and toxic

metabolites. For example; acetaminophen-induced damage to the PV zone after a high dose is inhibited by isoniazide, a specific inhibitor to CYP2E1 that catalyzes acetaminophen bioactivation to reactive intermediate<sup>331</sup>. In another study animals deficient in the expression of both CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 (double-null) were found highly resistant to acetaminophen-induced cellular damage compared to the wild-type animals<sup>154</sup>.

In paediatric livers, where CYP expression level is usually low and zonation is absent, hepatocellular damage induced by CYP-mediated generation of reactive metabolites may be unlikely to happen. However, several reports have documented the possibility of transplacental and translactional induction of CYP enzymes in the fetus or nursing neonates following chronic exposure of the pregnant or lactating mother to CYP inducers, e.g. ethanol and tobacco smoke<sup>116,127,159,161,262</sup>. Whether the induction of CYP enzymes in fetal and neonatal livers is zone-specific is unclear.

Several studies in rats and human have described zonated induction of CYP enzymes (CYP1A, CYP2B, CYP2E1 and CYP3A) with larger induction in the PV region and higher relative (fold) induction in the PP zone<sup>246,248,249</sup>. This regional selectivity of CYP induction is independent of the kind of inducer. The induction of glutathione-S-transferases and UDP-glucuronyl transferases was found to be at least as strong in PP cells as in the PV cells<sup>248</sup>. Accordingly, perivenous zone is generally characterized by dominance of CYP-mediated bioactiavation and lower capacity for detoxification. Zonation of CYP enzymes in the downstream PV zone seems somewhat unexpected. Considering the endogenous role of these enzymes as protectors against toxicants and their need for oxygen to achieve this role, a higher expression in the upstream periportal region is expected. The mechanisms and toxicological impact of developmental changes in intrahepatic zonation of CYP enzymes need further investigation.

#### 5.3.6 Toxicological Relevance of Characterization of CYP Ontogeny

This extensive characterization of CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 ontogeny at the levels of mRNA, protein and activity shed some light on possible regulation mechanisms of these toxicologically-significant enzymes. Together with the pharmacokinetic models that

describe their ontogeny (see section 5.2), this extensive characterization will aid toxicological assessments and provide greater insights into the role of toxicokinetics in determining exposure risk.

While these studies recognized some differences in the postnatal development of CYP2E1 mRNA, protein and activity between rats and human, a reasonable degree of similarity was observed between rat and human hepatic CYP1A2 ontogeny. Recognition of such species-differences could help explain species differences in susceptibility to toxicants and mechanisms of toxicity. Identification of these species differences in toxicokinetics will facilitate extrapolation of developmental toxicity data from animals to human. Furthermore, similar ontogeny pattern between rats and humans could suggest the suitability of rats as an animal model to investigate the influence of postnatal exposure to xenobiotics and endogenous compounds on CYP ontogeny and for identification of biomarkers of exposure.

Finally, having the ontogeny of CYP enzymes fully characterized in this important developmental model will help to identify the underlying toxicokinetic basis for the observed age-dependent differences in susceptibility to toxicity.

I have to mention that the observed conflicts between my results and some data reported in the literature regarding the ontogeny of CYP enzymes could be due to the influence of different animal strain, diet and bedding composition. For example, the rat chow used in my study contains soy protein and amino acids that were found to alter endogenous hormones levels (e.g. growth hormone and thyroxin<sup>332,333</sup>), which in turn could affect the CYP expression<sup>125,245</sup>. Also strain associated alteration in enzyme expression has been reported<sup>178,200</sup>. The interlaboratory variation for measurement of enzymatic activity are highly sensitive to factors that frequently vary from one laboratory to another (e.g. hepatic microsomal and cytosolic preparation, storage of hepatic microsomes and cytosolic fractions, analytical methods, probe substrate selection and substrate concentrations and incubation conditions for enzyme kinetics experiments).

Statistical analysis of activity, protein and mRNA expression data at all developmental stages were compared to that at PD112 (young adult). Comparison of my data at PD112 to published data at ages beyond PD112 shows close similarities

which may indicate values observed at this age may be considered as a stable reference for mature rats.

#### 5.4. Characterization of the Ontogeny of Cytosolic GST Enzymes

In spite of the dual bioactivation / detoxification nature of both phase I and phase II enzymes, phase I enzymes (mainly CYP enzymes) are generally seen as bioactivating<sup>100</sup> while phase II enzymes are generally considered to detoxify xenobiotics<sup>106</sup>. Glutathione-S-Transferases (GST) are one of the elaborate phase II mechanisms evolved by the mammalian cells to protect against toxic insults due to electrophilic metabolites or reactive oxygen species that usually arise during CYP-mediated drug metabolism<sup>46</sup>.

The balance between CYP enzymes and GST enzymes can dramatically affect the toxicological outcome of exposure to chemicals that undergo CYP-dependent bioactivation. Given the significant and dynamic changes in activities of these enzymes during development<sup>45,46</sup>, toxicological risk estimates developed for adults may not apply for paediatric populations following exposure to the same chemical, especially from breast milk. Therefore, a thorough understanding of the ontogeny of both CYP enzymes and GST enzymes is necessary to accurately assess the age-dependent exposure risk.

In addition to characterizing the ontogeny of CYP2E1 and CYP1A2, two toxicologically significant CYP enzymes, I examined the ontogeny of cytosolic GST activity in a rat model using a general probe substrate. Figure 4.27 shows detectable GST activity during late gestation (about 20% the adult level). Postnatally, the activity increases steadily with age to achieve the adult level at weaning age (PD28). To my knowledge, this is the first study to analyze the ontogeny of cytosolic GST activity in rats using large number of liver samples that cover a broad range of ages from late gestation to adulthood. Consistent with these findings, Borlakoglu *et al* reported detectable, yet low, levels of GST activity at day 10 of gestation that increased more than 5-fold at day 20 of gestation<sup>115</sup>. Following birth, and consistent with my observations, the activity progressively increased to attain the adult level at PD60<sup>115</sup>. Another study reported 1.75-, 2-, and 2-fold increase in GST activity at PD75, PD300

and PD690, respectively compared to PD14<sup>200</sup>. Other studies have reported similar GST activity values at similar developmental stages used in my study<sup>200,210,276,334,214</sup>.

Comparison of the ontogeny profile of GST enzymes, as detoxification enzymes, to the profiles of CYP2E1 and CYP1A2, as bioactivation enzymes, can provide some insight into the exposure outcome to xenobiotics. Since CYP2E1 and CY1A2 exhibited undetectable activity in the perinatal period yet moderate activity of GST enzymes suggests that paediatric populations would have a lower risk of CYP-mediated cellular damage than compared with older ages, where CYP enzymes are well developed. However, direct exposure (e.g. drug therapy) or inadvertent exposure (e.g. breastfeeding) can potentially enhance (i.e. through induction ) the activity of low levels of CYP enzymes<sup>127,161</sup>. These changes could significantly affect the response of the developing child to xenobiotic exposures, which could be further amplified if GST enzymes are not induced concomitantly. Additional studies are needed to fully characterize the ontogeny of other phase II enzymes (e.g. UGT and sulfotransferases) and understand the molecular mechanisms that modulate their expression and activity.

## 5.5. CONCLUSION AND GENERAL REMARKS

The ethical and technical difficulties associated with conducting toxicity studies in children resulted in inadequate understanding of the impact of age and development on pharmacokinetics (or toxicokinetics) and pharmacodynamics (or toxicodynamics) of compounds. Therefore, assessment of exposure risk to toxicity in neonates is largely dependent on toxicity information from adults. Due to the significant and dynamic maturation of physiological determinants of drug pharmacokinetics (or toxicokinetics), especially in the early neonatal stages, infants can be more susceptible to the same toxicant exposure (on a body weight basis) than adults. Accordingly, simple adult-to-infant extrapolation can lead to inaccurate assessments of the exposure risk in the developing infant.

In my attempt to improve assessment of exposure risk in paediatric populations, I evaluated the underlying assumptions of a general ontogeny model that was developed

to describe the postnatal maturation of CYP enzyme activity that mediated the elimination or formation of potential toxicants. These assessments were made in the rat and the data recognized some discrepancies with the stated model assumptions.

Microsomal protein (MP) content did not remain constant with development. Rather, MP content was significantly low at ages younger than postnatal day (PD) 7, compared to adult. Liver weight normalized to body weight was relatively constant throughout postnatal development and age-related changes in hepatic scaling factors (HSF) become primarily a function of changes in MP. This suggests the need to incorporate developmental changes in MP content into the model building process.

The Michaelis-Menten constant ( $K_M$ ) did not remain constant with development. Rather, apparent  $K_M$  values were significantly different from adult values at developmental stages younger than PD7. The changes in apparent  $K_M$  values during early postnatal development may indicate inadequate probe substrate specificity during CYP enzyme ontogeny, influence of developmental changes in non-specific binding in hepatic microsomes or changes in microsomal membrane composition. Although these findings may suggest the need to incorporate these  $K_M$  changes in the model building process, further investigations are required to provide more definitive information regarding the potential of  $K_M$  changes with development. These investigations need to assess the influence of non-specific protein binding and the contribution of different CYP isoforms to the estimated  $K_M$  value at a given age.

Consistent with the model assumptions, age-dependent changes in  $V_{max}$  were observed with maximum enzyme activity occurring before (with CYP2E1) or after (with CYP1A2) weaning (PD21-PD28). However, these changes did not correlate with the developmental changes in immunoquantifiable protein level for both CYP2E1 and CYP1A2. Such discordance between activity and protein levels may indicate possible contribution from other CYP enzymes (especially during the early neonatal stages) to the apparent  $V_{max}$  value or posttranslational mechanisms that may affect enzyme activity (especially during the postweaning stages). Further investigations are needed to assess this discordance. Again consistent with the model assumptions, different probe substrates for the examined CYP enzymes (CYP2E1 and CYP1A2) exhibited similar patterns in age-dependent changes in activity. This may indicate the potential applicability of the model to all substrates metabolized by the CYPs under investigation.

An *in vitro-in vivo* extrapolation of rat hepatic microsomal activity data was used to develop a model to describe rat hepatic CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 ontogeny. The model provided a reasonable prediction of the oral clearance of chlorzoxazone, a CYP2E1 probe substrate. This indicates that despite the above mentioned discrepancies with the model assumptions, the model is robust and has potential as a risk assessment tool.

Extensive characterization (mRNA, protein, activity and hepatic tissue expression) of the ontogeny of rat hepatic CYP enzymes may provide a model system to identify toxicokinetic mechanisms underlying age-dependent differences in susceptibility to toxicity and to enhance our understanding the impact of exposure to exogenous or endogenous compounds on CYP ontogeny. The results of rat CYP ontogeny were compared to the available human data to determine the appropriateness of the rat for developmental toxicology studies.

Unlike the ontogeny pattern in human, temporal changes in CYP catalytic activity correlate well with changes in transcript levels, but not with the immunoquantifiable protein levels. On the other, the ontogeny pattern of rat hepatic CYP protein was similar to those reported for human. Similar temporal and hepatic zonal expression of CYP enzymes between rats and human was observed where the expression was more homogenous in fetal and early neonatal stages then underwent heterogeneous expression towards the perivenous zone with maturation. Recognizing such similarities and differences between rats and human regarding onset, rate and pattern of CYP ontogeny is critical for improving the accuracy of rat-to-human extrapolation of developmental toxicokinetic data.

The activity of phase II enzymes, as a significant detoxification mechanism, plays an important role in determining the toxicological outcome of exposure. Accordingly, the ontogeny of glutathione-S-transferases (GST), an important group of phase II enzymes, was determined in age-specific rat hepatic cytosolic fractions using a general probe substrate. GST activity was detected at low levels in late gestation and early neonatal ages followed by gradual increase with age. Compared to the pattern of CYP activity that generally mediates xenobiotic bioactivation, infant populations are expected to be

under a low risk of CYP-mediated cellular damage relative to older age groups. However, characterization of the ontogeny of other phase II and antioxidant systems requires more extensive investigation.

My dissertation research provided a critical evaluation of two potential model systems capable of providing risk relevant information in paediatric populations, namely a pharmacokinetic model that may predict an infant's capacity to eliminate toxicants by CYP mechanisms and the developing rat as a model of human CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 ontogeny. The information obtained offers mounting and supportive evidence for the use of such model systems to identify whether toxicokinetic mechanisms may underlie age-dependent differences in susceptibility to toxicity and the impact of genetic and environmental factors on CYP enzyme ontogeny.

## 6. REFERENCES

- 1. Rich,K.J. & Boobis,A.R. Expression and inducibility of P450 enzymes during liver ontogeny. *Microsc. Res. Tech.* **39**, 424-435 (1997).
- 2. Nelson, D.R. *et al.* P450 superfamily: update on new sequences, gene mapping, accession numbers and nomenclature. *Pharmacogenetics* **6**, 1-42 (1996).
- 3. Tanaka, E., Terada, M. & Misawa, S. Cytochrome P450 2E1: its clinical and toxicological role. J. Clin. Pharm. Ther. 25, 165-175 (2000).
- Song,B.J., Gelboin,H.V., Park,S.S., Yang,C.S. & Gonzalez,F.J. Complementary DNA and protein sequences of ethanol-inducible rat and human cytochrome P-450s. Transcriptional and post-transcriptional regulation of the rat enzyme. *J. Biol. Chem* 261, 16689-16697 (1986).
- 5. Gartner, L.M. *et al.* Breastfeeding and the use of human milk. *Pediatrics* **115**, 496-506 (2005).
- 6. Health Canada. Exclusive Breastfeeding Duration. 2004. Ottawa, Minister of Public Works and Government Services.
- 7. Canadian Pediatric Society, D.O.C. & Health Canada. Nutriton for Healthy term Infants. 1998. Ottawa, Minister of Public Works and Government Services.
- 8. World Health Organization. Promoting Proper Feeding for Infants and Young Children. 2004. Geneva. http://www.who.int/nut/inf.htm.
- Gartner L & Black L. Breastfeeding and the use of human milk. American Academy of Pediatrics. Work Group on Breastfeeding. *Pediatrics* 100, 1035-1039 (1997).
- 10. Hylander, M.A., Strobino, D.M. & Dhanireddy, R. Human milk feedings and infection among very low birth weight infants. *Pediatrics* **102**, E38 (1998).
- 11. Ball,T.M. & Wright,A.L. Health care costs of formula-feeding in the first year of life. *Pediatrics* **103**, 870-876 (1999).
- 12. Blaymore Bier, J.A., Oliver, T., Ferguson, A. & Vohr, B.R. Human milk reduces outpatient upper respiratory symptoms in premature infants during their first year of life. *J. Perinatol.* **22**, 354-359 (2002).

- 13. Schanler, R.J., Shulman, R.J. & Lau, C. Feeding strategies for premature infants: beneficial outcomes of feeding fortified human milk versus preterm formula. *Pediatrics* **103**, 1150-1157 (1999).
- 14. Horne, R.S., Parslow, P.M., Ferens, D., Watts, A.M. & Adamson, T.M. Comparison of evoked arousability in breast and formula fed infants. *Arch. Dis. Child* **89**, 22-25 (2004).
- 15. Chen,A. & Rogan,W.J. Breastfeeding and the risk of postneonatal death in the United States. *Pediatrics* **113**, e435-e439 (2004).
- 16. Ito,S. & Lee,A. Drug excretion into breast milk--overview. *Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev.* **55**, 617-627 (2003).
- 17. Singhal, A. *et al.* Early nutrition and leptin concentrations in later life. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* **75**, 993-999 (2002).
- 18. Toschke, A.M. *et al.* Overweight and obesity in 6- to 14-year-old Czech children in 1991: protective effect of breast-feeding. *J. Pediatr.* **141**, 764-769 (2002).
- 19. Anderson, J.W., Johnstone, B.M. & Remley, D.T. Breast-feeding and cognitive development: a meta-analysis. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* **70**, 525-535 (1999).
- Amin,S.B., Merle,K.S., Orlando,M.S., Dalzell,L.E. & Guillet,R. Brainstem maturation in premature infants as a function of enteral feeding type. *Pediatrics* 106, 318-322 (2000).
- Heinig, M.J. Host defense benefits of breastfeeding for the infant. Effect of breastfeeding duration and exclusivity. *Pediatr. Clin. North Am.* 48, 105-23, ix (2001).
- 22. Labbok, M.H. Effects of breastfeeding on the mother. *Pediatr. Clin. North Am.* **48**, 143-158 (2001).
- 23. Rosenblatt,K.A. & Thomas,D.B. Lactation and the risk of epithelial ovarian cancer. The WHO Collaborative Study of Neoplasia and Steroid Contraceptives. *Int. J. Epidemiol.* **22**, 192-197 (1993).
- 24. Tryggvadottir,L., Tulinius,H., Eyfjord,J.E. & Sigurvinsson,T. Breastfeeding and reduced risk of breast cancer in an Icelandic cohort study. *Am. J. Epidemiol.* **154**, 37-42 (2001).
- Lee,S.Y., Kim,M.T., Kim,S.W., Song,M.S. & Yoon,S.J. Effect of lifetime lactation on breast cancer risk: a Korean women's cohort study. *Int. J. Cancer* 105, 390-393 (2003).

- 26. Paton,L.M. *et al.* Pregnancy and lactation have no long-term deleterious effect on measures of bone mineral in healthy women: a twin study. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* **77**, 707-714 (2003).
- 27. Cumming, R.G. & Klineberg, R.J. Breastfeeding and other reproductive factors and the risk of hip fractures in elderly women. *Int. J. Epidemiol.* **22**, 684-691 (1993).
- 28. Dewey, K.G., Heinig, M.J. & Nommsen, L.A. Maternal weight-loss patterns during prolonged lactation. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* **58**, 162-166 (1993).
- Kennedy,K.I., Labbok,M.H. & Van Look,P.F. Lactational amenorrhea method for family planning. *Int. J. Gynaecol. Obstet.* 54, 55-57 (1996).
- Berlin, C.M. & Briggs, G.G. Drugs and chemicals in human milk. Semin. Fetal Neonatal Med. 10, 149-159 (2005).
- 31. Berlin, C.M., Jr. Sensitivity of the young infant to drug exposure through human milk. *Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev.* **55**, 687-693 (2003).
- 32. Wilson, J.T. *et al.* Drug excretion in human breast milk: principles, pharmacokinetics and projected consequences. *Clin. Pharmacokinet.* **5**, 1-66 (1980).
- 33. Wilson, J.T. Determinants and consequences of drug excretion in breast milk. *Drug Metab Rev.* 14, 619-652 (1983).
- 34. Anderson, P.O. Drug use during breast-feeding. Clin. Pharm. 10, 594-624 (1991).
- Guidance for Industry Clinical Lactation Studies Study Design, Data Analysis, and Recommendations for Labeling. <u>http://www.fda.gov/cber/gdlns/clinlacstud.htm</u>. 2005.
- 36. Drug Transfer into Breast Milk: Clinical Methods and Issues. www.fda.gov/ohrms/dockets/ac/01/transcripts/3763t2.txt . 2006.
- 37. Gartner L, Black L & Schanler R. Transfer of drugs and other chemicals into human milk. *Pediatrics* **108**, 776-789 (2001).
- 38. Hendrick, V. *et al.* Use of sertraline, paroxetine and fluvoxamine by nursing women. *Br. J. Psychiatry* **179**, 163-166 (2001).
- 39. Epperson, N. *et al.* Maternal sertraline treatment and serotonin transport in breast-feeding mother-infant pairs. *Am. J. Psychiatry* **158**, 1631-1637 (2001).
- 40. Shoup, J. & Carson, D.S. Anticoagulant use during lactation. J. Hum. Lact. 15, 255-257 (1999).

- 41. Atkinson,H.C. & Begg,E.J. Prediction of drug distribution into human milk from physicochemical characteristics. *Clin. Pharmacokinet.* **18**, 151-167 (1990).
- 42. Wilson, J.T., Brown, R.D., Hinson, J.L. & Dailey, J.W. Pharmacokinetic pitfalls in the estimation of the breast milk/plasma ratio for drugs. *Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol.* **25**, 667-689 (1985).
- 43. Begg,E.J., Duffull,S.B., Hackett,L.P. & Ilett,K.F. Studying drugs in human milk: time to unify the approach. *J. Hum. Lact.* **18**, 323-332 (2002).
- 44. Alcorn,J. & McNamara,P.J. Ontogeny of hepatic and renal systemic clearance pathways in infants: part I. *Clin. Pharmacokinet.* **41**, 959-998 (2002).
- 45. Hines, R.N. & McCarver, D.G. The ontogeny of human drug-metabolizing enzymes: phase I oxidative enzymes. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* **300**, 355-360 (2002).
- 46. McCarver, D.G. & Hines, R.N. The ontogeny of human drug-metabolizing enzymes: phase II conjugation enzymes and regulatory mechanisms. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* **300**, 361-366 (2002).
- 47. McNamara, P.J. & Abbassi, M. Neonatal exposure to drugs in breast milk. *Pharm. Res.* **21**, 555-566 (2004).
- 48. Fleishaker, J.C. Models and methods for predicting drug transfer into human milk. *Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev.* **55**, 643-652 (2003).
- 49. Ito,S. & Koren,G. A novel index for expressing exposure of the infant to drugs in breast milk. *Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol.* **38**, 99-102 (1994).
- 50. Alcorn,J. & McNamara,P.J. Pharmacokinetics in the newborn. *Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev.* 55, 667-686 (2003).
- 51. Ito,S., Koren,G. & Einarson,T.R. Maternal noncompliance with antibiotics during breastfeeding. *Ann. Pharmacother.* **27**, 40-42 (1993).
- 52. Berlin, C.M., Jr. Drugs and chemicals: exposure of the nursing mother. *Pediatr. Clin. North Am.* **36**, 1089-1097 (1989).
- Ito,S., Blajchman,A., Stephenson,M., Eliopoulos,C. & Koren,G. Prospective follow-up of adverse reactions in breast-fed infants exposed to maternal medication. *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 168, 1393-1399 (1993).
- Qasqas,S.A., McPherson,C., Frishman,W.H. & Elkayam,U. Cardiovascular pharmacotherapeutic considerations during pregnancy and lactation. *Cardiol. Rev.* 12, 201-221 (2004).

- 55. Berlin, C.M. The excretion of drugs in human milk. *Prog. Clin. Biol. Res.* **36**, 115-127 (1980).
- 56. Begg,E.J., Malpas,T.J., Hackett,L.P. & Ilett,K.F. Distribution of R- and Smethadone into human milk during multiple, medium to high oral dosing. *Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol.* **52**, 681-685 (2001).
- Matheson, I., Lunde, P.K. & Bredesen, J.E. Midazolam and nitrazepam in the maternity ward: milk concentrations and clinical effects. *Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol.* 30, 787-793 (1990).
- 58. Atkinson, H.C., Begg, E.J. & Darlow, B.A. Drugs in human milk. Clinical pharmacokinetic considerations. *Clin. Pharmacokinet.* **14**, 217-240 (1988).
- 59. Wilkinson, G.R. & Shand, D.G. Commentary: a physiological approach to hepatic drug clearance. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* **18**, 377-390 (1975).
- 60. Rowell, M. & Zlotkin, S. The ethical boundaries of drug research in pediatrics. *Pediatr. Clin. North Am.* **44**, 27-40 (1997).
- 61. Wanless I. Sleisenger & Fordtran's Gastrointestinal and Liver Disease., pp. 1195-1201 (Saunders, Philadelphia,2002).
- 62. Gow, P.J., Ghabrial, H., Smallwood, R.A., Morgan, D.J. & Ching, M.S. Neonatal hepatic drug elimination. *Pharmacol. Toxicol* **88**, 3-15 (2001).
- 63. Besunder, J.B., Reed, M.D. & Blumer, J.L. Principles of drug biodisposition in the neonate. A critical evaluation of the pharmacokinetic-pharmacodynamic interface (Part I). *Clin. Pharmacokinet.* **14**, 189-216 (1988).
- 64. Besunder, J.B., Reed, M.D. & Blumer, J.L. Principles of drug biodisposition in the neonate. A critical evaluation of the pharmacokinetic-pharmacodynamic interface (Part II). *Clin. Pharmacokinet.* **14**, 261-286 (1988).
- 65. Pang,K.S. & Rowland,M. Hepatic clearance of drugs. I. Theoretical considerations of a "well-stirred" model and a "parallel tube" model. Influence of hepatic blood flow, plasma and blood cell binding, and the hepatocellular enzymatic activity on hepatic drug clearance. *J. Pharmacokinet. Biopharm.* **5**, 625-653 (1977).
- 66. Izuishi,K., Wakabayashi,H., Maeba,T., Ryu,M. & Maeta,H. Lidocainemetabolizing activity after warm ischemia and reperfusion of the rat liver in vivo. *World J. Surg.* **24**, 49-52 (2000).
- 67. Gow, P.J. *et al.* Neonatal hepatic propranolol elimination: studies in the isolated perfused neonatal sheep liver. *J. Pharm. Sci.* **89**, 586-593 (2000).

- 68. Ring, J.A. *et al.* Propranolol elimination by right and left fetal liver: studies in the intact isolated perfused fetal sheep liver. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* **284**, 535-541 (1998).
- 69. Branch,R.A., Shand,D.G., Wilkinson,G.R. & Nies,A.S. Increased clearance of antipyrine and d-propranolol after phenobarbital treatment in the monkey. Relative contributions of enzyme induction and increased hepatic blood flow. *J. Clin. Invest* **53**, 1101-1107 (1974).
- Rudolph,A.M. Hepatic and ductus venosus blood flows during fetal life. *Hepatology* 3, 254-258 (1983).
- 71. Ring, J.A., Ghabrial, H., Ching, M.S., Smallwood, R.A. & Morgan, D.J. Fetal hepatic drug elimination. *Pharmacol. Ther.* **84**, 429-445 (1999).
- 72. Edelstone, D.I., Rudolph, A.M. & Heymann, M.A. Liver and ductus venosus blood flows in fetal lambs in utero. *Circ. Res.* **42**, 426-433 (1978).
- 73. Gleason, C.A., Roman, C. & Rudolph, A.M. Hepatic oxygen consumption, lactate uptake, and glucose production in neonatal lambs. *Pediatr. Res.* **19**, 1235-1239 (1985).
- 74. Townsend, S.F., Rudolph, C.D. & Rudolph, A.M. Changes in ovine hepatic circulation and oxygen consumption at birth. *Pediatr. Res.* **25**, 300-304 (1989).
- 75. Wynne,H.A. *et al.* The effect of age upon liver volume and apparent liver blood flow in healthy man. *Hepatology* **9**, 297-301 (1989).
- Morselli,P.L., Franco-Morselli,R. & Bossi,L. Clinical pharmacokinetics in newborns and infants. Age-related differences and therapeutic implications. *Clin. Pharmacokinet.* 5, 485-527 (1980).
- 77. Alcorn,J. & McNamara,P.J. Ontogeny of hepatic and renal systemic clearance pathways in infants: part II. *Clin. Pharmacokinet.* **41**, 1077-1094 (2002).
- 78. Bjorkman,S. Prediction of drug disposition in infants and children by means of physiologically based pharmacokinetic (PBPK) modelling: theophylline and midazolam as model drugs. *Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol.* **59**, 691-704 (2005).
- 79. Kurz,H., Mauser-Ganshorn,A. & Stickel,H.H. Differences in the binding of drugs to plasma proteins from newborn and adult man. I. *Eur. J. Clin. Pharmacol.* **11**, 463-467 (1977).
- 80. Echizen, H., Nakura, M., Saotome, T., Minoura, S. & Ishizaki, T. Plasma protein binding of disopyramide in pregnant and postpartum women, and in neonates and their mothers. *Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol.* **29**, 423-430 (1990).

- Pacifici,G.M., Viani,A. & Taddeucci-Brunelli,G. Serum protein binding of furosemide in newborn infants and children. *Dev. Pharmacol. Ther.* 10, 413-421 (1987).
- 82. Curry,S., Brick,P. & Franks,N.P. Fatty acid binding to human serum albumin: new insights from crystallographic studies. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* **1441**, 131-140 (1999).
- 83. Kremer, J.M., Wilting, J. & Janssen, L.H. Drug binding to human alpha-1-acid glycoprotein in health and disease. *Pharmacol. Rev.* **40**, 1-47 (1988).
- 84. Kanakoudi, F. *et al.* Serum concentrations of 10 acute-phase proteins in healthy term and preterm infants from birth to age 6 months. *Clin. Chem* **41**, 605-608 (1995).
- 85. Herngren, L., Ehrnebo, M. & Boreus, L.O. Drug binding to plasma proteins during human pregnancy and in the perinatal period. Studies on cloxacillin and alprenolol. *Dev. Pharmacol. Ther.* **6**, 110-124 (1983).
- Kurz,H., Michels,H. & Stickel,H.H. Differences in the binding of drugs to plasma proteins from newborn and adult man. II. *Eur. J. Clin. Pharmacol.* 11, 469-472 (1977).
- 87. Gugler, R., Shoeman, D.W. & Azarnoff, D.L. Effect of in vivo elevation of free fatty acids on protein binding of drugs. *Pharmacology* **12**, 160-165 (1974).
- 88. Ridd,M.J., Brown,K.F., Moore,R.G., McBride,W.G. & Nation,R.L. Diazepam plasma binding in the perinatal period: influence of nonesterified fatty acids. *Eur. J. Clin. Pharmacol.* **22**, 153-160 (1982).
- 89. McNamara, P.J. & Alcorn, J. Protein binding predictions in infants. *AAPS. PharmSci.* **4**, E4 (2002).
- 90. Vauzelle-Kervroedan, F. *et al.* Non invasive in vivo study of the maturation of CYP IIIA in neonates and infants. *Eur. J. Clin. Pharmacol.* **51**, 69-72 (1996).
- 91. Cazeneuve, C. *et al.* Biotransformation of caffeine in human liver microsomes from foetuses, neonates, infants and adults. *Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol.* **37**, 405-412 (1994).
- 92. Nakamura, H. *et al.* Changes in urinary 6beta-hydroxycortisol/cortisol ratio after birth in human neonates. *Eur. J. Clin. Pharmacol.* **53**, 343-346 (1998).
- 93. Treluyer, J.M., Gueret, G., Cheron, G., Sonnier, M. & Cresteil, T. Developmental expression of CYP2C and CYP2C-dependent activities in the human liver: invivo/in-vitro correlation and inducibility. *Pharmacogenetics* **7**, 441-452 (1997).

- 94. Stevens, J.C. *et al.* Developmental expression of the major human hepatic CYP3A enzymes. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* **307**, 573-582 (2003).
- 95. Renwick, A.G. Toxicokinetics in infants and children in relation to the ADI and TDI. *Food Addit. Contam* **15 Suppl**, 17-35 (1998).
- 96. Klinger, W. Developmental pharmacology and toxicology: biotransformation of drugs and other xenobiotics during postnatal development. *Eur. J. Drug Metab Pharmacokinet.* **30**, 3-17 (2005).
- 97. Andrew Parkinson. Casarrett and Doull's Toxicology. The basic science of poisons. Klaassen C.D (ed.), pp. 133-224 (McGraw Hill, New York, 2001).
- 98. Gonzalez, F.J. The molecular biology of cytochrome P450s. *Pharmacol. Rev.* **40**, 243-288 (1988).
- 99. Guengerich, F.P. Catalytic selectivity of human cytochrome P450 enzymes: relevance to drug metabolism and toxicity. *Toxicol. Lett.* **70**, 133-138 (1994).
- Guengerich, F.P. Cytochrome P450. Structure, Mechanism, and Biochemistry. Paul R.Ortiz de Montellano (ed.), pp. 377-498 (Kluwer Academic/Plenum Publishers, London, 2005).
- 101. Patten, C.J. *et al.* Cytochrome P450 enzymes involved in acetaminophen activation by rat and human liver microsomes and their kinetics. *Chem Res. Toxicol* **6**, 511-518 (1993).
- 102. Kim,H. *et al.* Cytochrome P450 isozymes responsible for the metabolism of toluene and styrene in human liver microsomes. *Xenobiotica* **27**, 657-665 (1997).
- 103. Kleiner,H.E. *et al.* Role of cytochrome p4501 family members in the metabolic activation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in mouse epidermis. *Chem Res. Toxicol* **17**, 1667-1674 (2004).
- Gebremichael, A., Chang, A.M., Buckpitt, A.R., Plopper, C.G. & Pinkerton, K.E. Postnatal development of cytochrome P4501A1 and 2B1 in rat lung and liver: effect of aged and diluted sidestream cigarette smoke. *Toxicol Appl. Pharmacol.* 135, 246-253 (1995).
- 105. Cresteil, T. Onset of xenobiotic metabolism in children: toxicological implications. *Food Addit. Contam* **15 Suppl**, 45-51 (1998).
- Talalay, P., Fahey, J.W., Holtzclaw, W.D., Prestera, T. & Zhang, Y. Chemoprotection against cancer by phase 2 enzyme induction. *Toxicol Lett.* 82-83, 173-179 (1995).

- Paolini, M., Biagi, G.L. & Cantelli-Forti, G. The many consequences of chemicaland genetic-based modulation of drug metabolizing enzyme activities. *Life Sci.* 65, L75-L79 (1999).
- 108. Shimada, T., Yamazaki, H., Mimura, M., Inui, Y. & Guengerich, F.P. Interindividual variations in human liver cytochrome P-450 enzymes involved in the oxidation of drugs, carcinogens and toxic chemicals: studies with liver microsomes of 30 Japanese and 30 Caucasians. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 270, 414-423 (1994).
- 109. Nebert, D.W. Proposed role of drug-metabolizing enzymes: regulation of steady state levels of the ligands that effect growth, homeostasis, differentiation, and neuroendocrine functions. *Mol. Endocrinol* **5**, 1203-1214 (1991).
- 110. Hakkola, J., Tanaka, E. & Pelkonen, O. Developmental expression of cytochrome P450 enzymes in human liver. *Pharmacol. Toxicol.* **82**, 209-217 (1998).
- 111. Shimada, T. *et al.* Characterization of microsomal cytochrome P450 enzymes involved in the oxidation of xenobiotic chemicals in human fetal liver and adult lungs. *Drug Metab Dispos.* **24**, 515-522 (1996).
- 112. Kitada, M., Kamataki, T., Itahashi, K., Rikihisa, T. & Kanakubo, Y. P-450 HFLa, a form of cytochrome P-450 purified from human fetal livers, is the 16 alphahydroxylase of dehydroepiandrosterone 3-sulfate. *J. Biol. Chem* 262, 13534-13537 (1987).
- Schuetz, J.D., Kauma, S. & Guzelian, P.S. Identification of the fetal liver cytochrome CYP3A7 in human endometrium and placenta. *J. Clin. Invest* 92, 1018-1024 (1993).
- 114. Imaoka,S., Fujita,S. & Funae,Y. Age-dependent expression of cytochrome P-450s in rat liver. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* **1097**, 187-192 (1991).
- 115. Borlakoglu, J.T., Scott, A., Henderson, C.J. & Wolf, C.R. Expression of P450 isoenzymes during rat liver organogenesis. *Int. J. Biochem.* **25**, 1659-1668 (1993).
- Czekaj, P., Wiaderkiewicz, A., Florek, E. & Wiaderkiewicz, R. Tobacco smokedependent changes in cytochrome P450 1A1, 1A2, and 2E1 protein expressions in fetuses, newborns, pregnant rats, and human placenta. *Arch. Toxicol.* **79**, 13-24 (2005).
- Shapiro,B.H., Agrawal,A.K. & Pampori,N.A. Gender differences in drug metabolism regulated by growth hormone. *Int. J Biochem Cell Biol* 27, 9-20 (1995).
- Pampori,N.A. & Shapiro,B.H. Feminization of hepatic cytochrome P450s by nominal levels of growth hormone in the feminine plasma profile. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 50, 1148-1156 (1996).

- Agrawal,A.K. & Shapiro,B.H. Differential expression of gender-dependent hepatic isoforms of cytochrome P-450 by pulse signals in the circulating masculine episodic growth hormone profile of the rat. *J Pharmacol. Exp Ther.* 292, 228-237 (2000).
- Engstrom,B.E., Karlsson,F.A. & Wide,L. Marked gender differences in ambulatory morning growth hormone values in young adults. *Clin Chem* 44, 1289-1295 (1998).
- 121. van den,B.G., Veldhuis,J.D., Frolich,M. & Roelfsema,F. An amplitude-specific divergence in the pulsatile mode of growth hormone (GH) secretion underlies the gender difference in mean GH concentrations in men and premenopausal women. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* **81**, 2460-2467 (1996).
- 122. Dhir,R.N., Dworakowski,W., Thangavel,C. & Shapiro,B.H. Sexually dimorphic regulation of hepatic isoforms of human cytochrome p450 by growth hormone. *J Pharmacol. Exp Ther.* **316**, 87-94 (2006).
- 123. Lieber, C.S. Cytochrome P-4502E1: its physiological and pathological role. *Physiol Rev.* **77**, 517-544 (1997).
- 124. Brzezinski, M.R., Boutelet-Bochan, H., Person, R.E., Fantel, A.G. & Juchau, M.R. Catalytic activity and quantitation of cytochrome P-450 2E1 in prenatal human brain. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* **289**, 1648-1653 (1999).
- 125. Chen,G.F., Ronis,M.J., Ingelman-Sundberg,M. & Badger,T.M. Hormonal regulation of microsomal cytochrome P4502E1 and P450 reductase in rat liver and kidney. *Xenobiotica* **29**, 437-451 (1999).
- 126. Casazza, J.P., Felver, M.E. & Veech, R.L. The metabolism of acetone in rat. J. Biol. Chem. 259, 231-236 (1984).
- 127. Wu,D. & Cederbaum,A.I. Induction of liver cytochrome P4502E1 by pyrazole and 4-methylpyrazole in neonatal rats. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* **264**, 1468-1473 (1993).
- Song,B.J., Veech,R.L., Park,S.S., Gelboin,H.V. & Gonzalez,F.J. Induction of rat hepatic N-nitrosodimethylamine demethylase by acetone is due to protein stabilization. J. Biol. Chem 264, 3568-3572 (1989).
- 129. Klotz, U. & Ammon, E. Clinical and toxicological consequences of the inductive potential of ethanol. *Eur. J. Clin. Pharmacol.* **54**, 7-12 (1998).
- 130. Eliasson, E., Johansson, I. & Ingelman-Sundberg, M. Ligand-dependent maintenance of ethanol-inducible cytochrome P-450 in primary rat hepatocyte cell cultures. *Biochem Biophys. Res. Commun.* **150**, 436-443 (1988).

- 131. Wang,Z. *et al.* Diabetes mellitus increases the in vivo activity of cytochrome P450 2E1 in humans. *Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol.* **55**, 77-85 (2003).
- 132. Johansson, I., Eliasson, E., Norsten, C. & Ingelman-Sundberg, M. Hydroxylation of acetone by ethanol- and acetone-inducible cytochrome P-450 in liver microsomes and reconstituted membranes. *FEBS Lett.* **196**, 59-64 (1986).
- Vieira, I., Sonnier, M. & Cresteil, T. Developmental expression of CYP2E1 in the human liver. Hypermethylation control of gene expression during the neonatal period. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 238, 476-483 (1996).
- 134. Jones, S.M., Boobis, A.R., Moore, G.E. & Stanier, P.M. Expression of CYP2E1 during human fetal development: methylation of the CYP2E1 gene in human fetal and adult liver samples. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* **43**, 1876-1879 (1992).
- 135. Bellward,G.D. *et al.* Hepatic cytochrome P-450j induction in the spontaneously diabetic BB rat. *Mol. Pharmacol.* **33**, 140-143 (1988).
- Dong,Z.G. *et al.* Mechanism of induction of cytochrome P-450ac (P-450j) in chemically induced and spontaneously diabetic rats. *Arch. Biochem Biophys.* 263, 29-35 (1988).
- 137. Kachula,S.O. & Pentiuk,O.O. [Effect of starvation and acetone on the enzyme systems of biotransformation and toxicity of xenobiotics--CYP2E1 substrates in rats]. *Ukr. Biokhim. Zh.* **76**, 114-122 (2004).
- Mandl,J., Banhegyi,G., Kalapos,M.P. & Garzo,T. Increased oxidation and decreased conjugation of drugs in the liver caused by starvation. Altered metabolism of certain aromatic compounds and acetone. *Chem Biol. Interact.* 96, 87-101 (1995).
- 139. Spracklin,D.K., Hankins,D.C., Fisher,J.M., Thummel,K.E. & Kharasch,E.D. Cytochrome P450 2E1 is the principal catalyst of human oxidative halothane metabolism in vitro. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* **281**, 400-411 (1997).
- 140. Njoku,D. *et al.* Biotransformation of halothane, enflurane, isoflurane, and desflurane to trifluoroacetylated liver proteins: association between protein acylation and hepatic injury. *Anesth. Analg.* **84**, 173-178 (1997).
- 141. Asai,H., Imaoka,S., Kuroki,T., Monna,T. & Funae,Y. Microsomal ethanol oxidizing system activity by human hepatic cytochrome P450s. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 277, 1004-1009 (1996).
- 142. Lieber, C.S. Susceptibility to alcohol-related liver injury. *Alcohol Alcohol Suppl* **2**, 315-326 (1994).

- Jeong,K.S. *et al.* Cytochrome P450 2E1 (CYP2E1)-dependent production of a 37kDa acetaldehyde-protein adduct in the rat liver. *Arch. Biochem Biophys.* 384, 81-87 (2000).
- 144. Koop,D.R. Oxidative and reductive metabolism by cytochrome P450 2E1. *FASEB J.* **6**, 724-730 (1992).
- Winters, D.K., Clejan, L.A. & Cederbaum, A.I. Oxidation of glycerol to formaldehyde by rat liver microsomes. *Biochem Biophys. Res. Commun.* 153, 612-617 (1988).
- Winters, D.K. & Cederbaum, A.I. Oxidation of glycerol to formaldehyde by rat liver microsomes. Effects of cytochrome P-450 inducing agents. *Biochem Pharmacol.* 39, 697-705 (1990).
- Leavens, T.L. *et al.* Genotoxicity and cytotoxicity in male B6C3F1 mice following exposure to mixtures of 1,3-butadiene and styrene. *Environ. Mol. Mutagen.* 29, 335-345 (1997).
- Kim,S.K. & Kim,Y.C. Effect of a single administration of benzene, toluene or mxylene on carboxyhaemoglobin elevation and metabolism of dichloromethane in rats. J. Appl. Toxicol 16, 437-444 (1996).
- Wong,F.W., Chan,W.Y. & Lee,S.S. Resistance to carbon tetrachloride-induced hepatotoxicity in mice which lack CYP2E1 expression. *Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol.* 153, 109-118 (1998).
- Nakajima, T. *et al.* Different contributions of cytochrome P450 2E1 and P450 2B1/2 to chloroform hepatotoxicity in rat. *Toxicol Appl. Pharmacol.* 133, 215-222 (1995).
- 151. Lipscomb,J.C., Garrett,C.M. & Snawder,J.E. Cytochrome P450-dependent metabolism of trichloroethylene: interindividual differences in humans. *Toxicol Appl. Pharmacol.* **142**, 311-318 (1997).
- Griffin,J.M., Lipscomb,J.C. & Pumford,N.R. Covalent binding of trichloroethylene to proteins in human and rat hepatocytes. *Toxicol Lett.* 95, 173-181 (1998).
- 153. Lin,H. & Hollenberg,P.F. N-nitrosodimethylamine-mediated formation of oxidized and methylated dna bases in a cytochrome P450 2E1 expressing cell line. *Chem Res. Toxicol.* **14**, 562-566 (2001).
- 154. Zaher, H. *et al.* Protection against acetaminophen toxicity in CYP1A2 and CYP2E1 double-null mice. *Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol.* **152**, 193-199 (1998).
- 155. Fujita,K. & Kamataki,T. Role of human cytochrome P450 (CYP) in the metabolic activation of N-alkylnitrosamines: application of genetically engineered

Salmonella typhimurium YG7108 expressing each form of CYP together with human NADPH-cytochrome P450 reductase. *Mutat. Res.* **483**, 35-41 (2001).

- Amato,G., Longo,V., Mazzaccaro,A. & Gervasi,P.G. Chlorzoxazone 6hydroxylase and p-nitrophenol hydroxylase as the most suitable activities for assaying cytochrome P450 2E1 in cynomolgus monkey liver. *Drug Metab Dispos*. 26, 483-489 (1998).
- 157. Hakkola, J. *et al.* Expression of xenobiotic-metabolizing cytochrome P450 forms in human adult and fetal liver. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* **48**, 59-64 (1994).
- 158. Tateishi, T. *et al.* A comparison of hepatic cytochrome P450 protein expression between infancy and postinfancy. *Life Sci.* **61**, 2567-2574 (1997).
- 159. Carpenter,S.P., Lasker,J.M. & Raucy,J.L. Expression, induction, and catalytic activity of the ethanol-inducible cytochrome P450 (CYP2E1) in human fetal liver and hepatocytes. *Mol. Pharmacol.* **49**, 260-268 (1996).
- 160. Gonzalez, F.J. Control of constitutively-expressed developmentally-activated rat hepatic cytochrome P450 genes. *Keio J. Med.* **41**, 68-75 (1992).
- Carpenter,S.P., Savage,D.D., Schultz,E.D. & Raucy,J.L. Ethanol-mediated transplacental induction of CYP2E1 in fetal rat liver. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* 282, 1028-1036 (1997).
- 162. Ding,X. & Kaminsky,L.S. Human extrahepatic cytochromes P450: function in xenobiotic metabolism and tissue-selective chemical toxicity in the respiratory and gastrointestinal tracts. *Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol* **43**, 149-173 (2003).
- 163. Tsuchiya,Y., Nakajima,M. & Yokoi,T. Cytochrome P450-mediated metabolism of estrogens and its regulation in human. *Cancer Lett.* **227**, 115-124 (2005).
- Maenpaa, J., Rane, A., Raunio, H., Honkakoski, P. & Pelkonen, O. Cytochrome P450 isoforms in human fetal tissues related to phenobarbital-inducible forms in the mouse. *Biochem Pharmacol.* 45, 899-907 (1993).
- Sonnier, M. & Cresteil, T. Delayed ontogenesis of CYP1A2 in the human liver. *Eur. J. Biochem* 251, 893-898 (1998).
- 166. Treluyer, J.M., Cheron, G., Sonnier, M. & Cresteil, T. Cytochrome P-450 expression in sudden infant death syndrome. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* **52**, 497-504 (1996).
- Chung, I. & Bresnick, E. Identification of positive and negative regulatory elements of the human cytochrome P4501A2 (CYP1A2) gene. *Arch. Biochem Biophys.* 338, 220-226 (1997).
- 168. Pickwell,G.V., Shih,H. & Quattrochi,L.C. Interaction of upstream stimulatory factor proteins with an E-box located within the human CYP1A2 5'-flanking gene

contributes to basal transcriptional gene activation. *Biochem Pharmacol.* **65**, 1087-1096 (2003).

- 169. Zhang, J., Zhang, Q.Y., Guo, J., Zhou, Y. & Ding, X. Identification and functional characterization of a conserved, nuclear factor 1-like element in the proximal promoter region of CYP1A2 gene specifically expressed in the liver and olfactory mucosa. J. Biol. Chem 275, 8895-8902 (2000).
- 170. Hankinson,O. The aryl hydrocarbon receptor complex. *Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol* **35**, 307-340 (1995).
- 171. Gonzalez, F.J., Tukey, R.H. & Nebert, D.W. Structural gene products of the Ah locus. Transcriptional regulation of cytochrome P1-450 and P3-450 mRNA levels by 3-methylcholanthrene. *Mol. Pharmacol.* **26**, 117-121 (1984).
- 172. Fukuhara, M., Sun, B., Kato, K., Kimura, M. & Yamazaki, S. Cytochrome P450 isoforms catalyzing benzo[a]pyrene metabolism in the Chinese hamster liver. *Toxicol Lett.* **110**, 85-93 (1999).
- 173. Arlt, V.M. *et al.* 3-aminobenzanthrone, a human metabolite of the environmental pollutant 3-nitrobenzanthrone, forms DNA adducts after metabolic activation by human and rat liver microsomes: evidence for activation by cytochrome P450 1A1 and P450 1A2. *Chem Res. Toxicol* **17**, 1092-1101 (2004).
- 174. Rendic,S. Summary of information on human CYP enzymes: human P450 metabolism data. *Drug Metab Rev.* **34**, 83-448 (2002).
- 175. Turesky,R.J., Guengerich,F.P., Guillouzo,A. & Langouet,S. Metabolism of heterocyclic aromatic amines by human hepatocytes and cytochrome P4501A2. *Mutat. Res.* **506-507**, 187-195 (2002).
- Kobayashi,K. *et al.* Involvement of CYP2E1 as A low-affinity enzyme in phenacetin O-deethylation in human liver microsomes. *Drug Metab Dispos.* 27, 860-865 (1999).
- 177. Von Moltke,L.L. *et al.* Phenacetin O-deethylation by human liver microsomes in vitro: inhibition by chemical probes, SSRI antidepressants, nefazodone and venlafaxine. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)* **128**, 398-407 (1996).
- Johnson, J.A., Herring, V.L., Wolfe, M.S. & Relling, M.V. CYP1A2 and CYP2D6 4-hydroxylate propranolol and both reactions exhibit racial differences. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* 294, 1099-1105 (2000).
- Yamazaki,H. & Shimada,T. Effects of arachidonic acid, prostaglandins, retinol, retinoic acid and cholecalciferol on xenobiotic oxidations catalysed by human cytochrome P450 enzymes. *Xenobiotica* 29, 231-241 (1999).

- 180. Nerurkar, P.V., Park, S.S., Thomas, P.E., Nims, R.W. & Lubet, R.A. Methoxyresorufin and benzyloxyresorufin: substrates preferentially metabolized by cytochromes P4501A2 and 2B, respectively, in the rat and mouse. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 46, 933-943 (1993).
- 181. Elangbam,C.S., Qualls,C.W., Jr. & Lochmiller,R.L. O-dealkylation of resorufin ethers as an indicator of hepatic cytochrome P-450 isoenzyme induction in the cotton rat (Sigmodon hispidus): a method for monitoring environmental contamination. *Bull. Environ. Contam Toxicol.* 47, 23-28 (1991).
- Matsubara, T., Otsubo, S. & Yoshihara, E. Liver microsomal cytochrome P-450dependent O-dealkylation reaction in various animals. *Jpn. J. Pharmacol.* 33, 1065-1075 (1983).
- Johnson, T.N., Tanner, M.S. & Tucker, G.T. Developmental changes in the expression of enterocytic and hepatic cytochromes P4501A in rat. *Xenobiotica* 32, 595-604 (2002).
- Hayes, J.D. & Pulford, D.J. The glutathione S-transferase supergene family: regulation of GST and the contribution of the isoenzymes to cancer chemoprotection and drug resistance. *Crit Rev. Biochem Mol. Biol.* 30, 445-600 (1995).
- de Wildt,S.N., Kearns,G.L., Leeder,J.S. & van den Anker,J.N. Glucuronidation in humans. Pharmacogenetic and developmental aspects. *Clin. Pharmacokinet.* 36, 439-452 (1999).
- Burchell,B., Brierley,C.H. & Rance,D. Specificity of human UDPglucuronosyltransferases and xenobiotic glucuronidation. *Life Sci.* 57, 1819-1831 (1995).
- Weiss, CF., GLAZKO, A.J. & WESTON, J.K. Chloramphenicol in the newborn infant. A physiologic explanation of its toxicity when given in excessive doses. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 262, 787-794 (1960).
- Onishi,S., Kawade,N., Itoh,S., Isobe,K. & Sugiyama,S. Postnatal development of uridine diphosphate glucuronyltransferase activity towards bilirubin and 2aminophenol in human liver. *Biochem J.* 184, 705-707 (1979).
- Burchell,B. & Coughtrie,M.W. Genetic and environmental factors associated with variation of human xenobiotic glucuronidation and sulfation. *Environ. Health Perspect.* 105 Suppl 4, 739-747 (1997).
- 190. Mikkelsen,S., Feilberg,V.L., Christensen,C.B. & Lundstrom,K.E. Morphine pharmacokinetics in premature and mature newborn infants. *Acta Paediatr.* **83**, 1025-1028 (1994).

- 191. Choonara,I.A., McKay,P., Hain,R. & Rane,A. Morphine metabolism in children. *Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol.* **28**, 599-604 (1989).
- 192. Burchell,B. *et al.* Development of human liver UDP-glucuronosyltransferases. *Dev. Pharmacol. Ther.* **13**, 70-77 (1989).
- 193. Patel,H.R., Hewer,A., Hayes,J.D., Phillips,D.H. & Campbell,F.C. Age-dependent change of metabolic capacity and genotoxic injury in rat intestine. *Chem Biol. Interact.* **113**, 27-37 (1998).
- 194. Mulder G.J. & Jakoby, W.B. Conjugation Reactions in Drug Metabolism. Mulder G.J. (ed.), pp. 107-161 (Taylor & Francis, London, 1990).
- 195. Coughtrie, M.W. *et al.* Sulfation of endogenous compounds and xenobiotics-interactions and function in health and disease. *Chem Biol. Interact.* **92**, 247-256 (1994).
- 196. Coughtrie, M.W., Sharp, S., Maxwell, K. & Innes, N.P. Biology and function of the reversible sulfation pathway catalysed by human sulfotransferases and sulfatases. *Chem Biol. Interact.* **109**, 3-27 (1998).
- 197. Richard, K. *et al.* Sulfation of thyroid hormone and dopamine during human development: ontogeny of phenol sulfotransferases and arylsulfatase in liver, lung, and brain. *J. Clin. Endocrinol Metab* **86**, 2734-2742 (2001).
- Barker, E.V., Hume, R., Hallas, A. & Coughtrie, W.H. Dehydroepiandrosterone sulfotransferase in the developing human fetus: quantitative biochemical and immunological characterization of the hepatic, renal, and adrenal enzymes. *Endocrinology* 134, 982-989 (1994).
- 199. Pacifici,G.M., Kubrich,M., Giuliani,L., de Vries,M. & Rane,A. Sulphation and glucuronidation of ritodrine in human foetal and adult tissues. *Eur. J. Clin. Pharmacol.* **44**, 259-264 (1993).
- Jang, I., Chae, K. & Cho, J. Effects of age and strain on small intestinal and hepatic antioxidant defense enzymes in Wistar and Fisher 344 rats. *Mech. Ageing Dev.* 122, 561-570 (2001).
- 201. Evans, D.A. N-acetyltransferase. Pharmacol. Ther. 42, 157-234 (1989).
- 202. Pacifici,G.M., Bencini,C. & Rane,A. Acetyltransferase in humans: development and tissue distribution. *Pharmacology* **32**, 283-291 (1986).
- 203. Pariente-Khayat, A. *et al.* Isoniazid acetylation metabolic ratio during maturation in children. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* **62**, 377-383 (1997).

- 204. Zielinska, E., Bodalski, J., Niewiarowski, W., Bolanowski, W. & Matusiak, I. Comparison of acetylation phenotype with genotype coding for Nacetyltransferase (NAT2) in children. *Pediatr. Res.* 45, 403-408 (1999).
- McQueen,C.A. & Chau,B. Neonatal ontogeny of murine arylamine Nacetyltransferases: implications for arylamine genotoxicity. *Toxicol Sci.* 73, 279-286 (2003).
- Pacifici,G.M., Warholm,M., Guthenberg,C., Mannervik,B. & Rane,A. Organ distribution of glutathione transferase isoenzymes in the human fetus: differences between liver and extrahepatic tissues. *Biochem Pharmacol.* 35, 1616-1619 (1986).
- 207. Hayes, J.D., Flanagan, J.U. & Jowsey, I.R. Glutathione transferases. *Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol* **45**, 51-88 (2005).
- 208. Daniel, V. Glutathione S-transferases: gene structure and regulation of expression. *Crit Rev. Biochem Mol. Biol.* **28**, 173-207 (1993).
- Yang,Y., Sharma,R., Zimniak,P. & Awasthi,Y.C. Role of alpha class glutathione S-transferases as antioxidant enzymes in rodent tissues. *Toxicol Appl. Pharmacol.* 182, 105-115 (2002).
- 210. Kim,H.G. *et al.* Age-related changes in the activity of antioxidant and redox enzymes in rats. *Mol. Cells* **16**, 278-284 (2003).
- 211. Faulder, C.G., Hirrell, P.A., Hume, R. & Strange, R.C. Studies of the development of basic, neutral and acidic isoenzymes of glutathione S-transferase in human liver, adrenal, kidney and spleen. *Biochem J.* **241**, 221-228 (1987).
- 212. Scully,N.C. & Mantle,T.J. Tissue distribution and subunit structures of the multiple forms of glutathione S-transferase in the rat. *Biochem J.* **193**, 367-370 (1981).
- 213. Pacifici,G.M., Norlin,A. & Rane,A. Glutathione-S-transferase in human fetal liver. *Biochem Pharmacol.* **30**, 3367-3371 (1981).
- 214. Tee,L.B. *et al.* Expression of glutathione S-transferase during rat liver development. *Biochem J.* **282** (**Pt 1**), 209-218 (1992).
- 215. Mukhtar, H. *et al.* Glutathione S-transferase activity in human fetal and adult tissues. *Pharmacology* **22**, 322-329 (1981).
- Strange,R.C. *et al.* The development expression of alpha-, mu- and pi-class glutathione S-transferases in human liver. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 993, 186-190 (1989).

- 217. Mathew, J. *et al.* Glutathione S-transferases in neonatal liver disease. *J. Clin. Pathol.* **45**, 679-683 (1992).
- 218. van Lieshout, E.M., Knapen, M.F., Lange, W.P., Steegers, E.A. & Peters, W.H. Localization of glutathione S-transferases alpha and pi in human embryonic tissues at 8 weeks gestational age. *Hum. Reprod.* **13**, 1380-1386 (1998).
- 219. Hiley, C., Fryer, A., Bell, J., Hume, R. & Strange, R.C. The human glutathione Stransferases. Immunohistochemical studies of the developmental expression of Alpha- and Pi-class isoenzymes in liver. *Biochem J.* **254**, 255-259 (1988).
- 220. Raijmakers, M.T., Steegers, E.A. & Peters, W.H. Glutathione S-transferases and thiol concentrations in embryonic and early fetal tissues. *Hum. Reprod.* **16**, 2445-2450 (2001).
- 221. Clewell,H.J., Gentry,P.R., Covington,T.R., Sarangapani,R. & Teeguarden,J.G. Evaluation of the potential impact of age- and gender-specific pharmacokinetic differences on tissue dosimetry. *Toxicol Sci.* **79**, 381-393 (2004).
- Ginsberg,G., Hattis,D., Miller,R. & Sonawane,B. Pediatric pharmacokinetic data: implications for environmental risk assessment for children. *Pediatrics* 113, 973-983 (2004).
- 223. Corley,R.A., Mast,T.J., Carney,E.W., Rogers,J.M. & Daston,G.P. Evaluation of physiologically based models of pregnancy and lactation for their application in children's health risk assessments. *Crit Rev. Toxicol* **33**, 137-211 (2003).
- 224. Ginsberg,G. *et al.* Evaluation of child/adult pharmacokinetic differences from a database derived from the therapeutic drug literature. *Toxicol Sci.* **66**, 185-200 (2002).
- 225. Houston, J.B. Utility of in vitro drug metabolism data in predicting in vivo metabolic clearance. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* **47**, 1469-1479 (1994).
- Scheuplein, R., Charnley, G. & Dourson, M. Differential sensitivity of children and adults to chemical toxicity. I. Biological basis. *Regul. Toxicol Pharmacol.* 35, 429-447 (2002).
- 227. Obach,R.S. *et al.* The prediction of human pharmacokinetic parameters from preclinical and in vitro metabolism data. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* **283**, 46-58 (1997).
- 228. Koren,G., Kearns,G.L., Reed,M. & Pons,G. Use of healthy children as volunteers in drug studies: the ethical debate. *Clin Pharmacol. Ther.* **73**, 147-152 (2003).
- 229. Barton, H.A. Computational pharmacokinetics during developmental windows of susceptibility. *J Toxicol Environ. Health A* 68, 889-900 (2005).
- 230. Chiou, W.L., Jeong, H.Y., Wu, T.C. & Ma, C. Use of the erythromycin breath test for in vivo assessments of cytochrome P4503A activity and dosage individualization. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* **70**, 305-310 (2001).
- 231. Fitzgerald,E.F., Hwang,S.A., Lambert,G., Gomez,M. & Tarbell,A. PCB exposure and in vivo CYP1A2 activity among Native Americans. *Environ. Health Perspect.* **113**, 272-277 (2005).
- Yamazaki,H., Inoue,K., Turvy,C.G., Guengerich,F.P. & Shimada,T. Effects of freezing, thawing, and storage of human liver samples on the microsomal contents and activities of cytochrome P450 enzymes. *Drug Metab Dispos.* 25, 168-174 (1997).
- 233. Kimmel,G.L. An overview of children as a special population-Relevance to predictive biomarkers. *Toxicol Appl. Pharmacol.* **206**, 215-218 (2005).
- 234. Johnson, T.N. Modelling approaches to dose estimation in children. *Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol.* **59**, 663-669 (2005).
- Bjorkman,S. Prediction of cytochrome p450-mediated hepatic drug clearance in neonates, infants and children : how accurate are available scaling methods? *Clin. Pharmacokinet.* 45, 1-11 (2006).
- Yengi,L.G. Systems biology in drug safety and metabolism: integration of microarray, real-time PCR and enzyme approaches. *Pharmacogenomics*. 6, 185-192 (2005).
- Bustin,S.A. Absolute quantification of mRNA using real-time reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction assays. J. Mol. Endocrinol 25, 169-193 (2000).
- 238. Bustin, S.A. & Nolan, T. Pitfalls of quantitative real-time reverse-transcription polymerase chain reaction. *J. Biomol. Tech.* **15**, 155-166 (2004).
- 239. Goodsaid, F.M. *et al.* Assessment of temporal biochemical and gene transcription changes in rat liver cytochrome P450: utility of real-time quantitative RT-PCR. *Pharm. Res.* **20**, 1373-1380 (2003).
- 240. Bowen, W.P. *et al.* Measurement of cytochrome P450 gene induction in human hepatocytes using quantitative real-time reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction. *Drug Metab Dispos.* **28**, 781-788 (2000).
- 241. Lacroix,D., Sonnier,M., Moncion,A., Cheron,G. & Cresteil,T. Expression of CYP3A in the human liver--evidence that the shift between CYP3A7 and CYP3A4 occurs immediately after birth. *Eur. J. Biochem* **247**, 625-634 (1997).
- 242. Treluyer, J.M., Jacqz-Aigrain, E., Alvarez, F. & Cresteil, T. Expression of CYP2D6 in developing human liver. *Eur. J. Biochem* **202**, 583-588 (1991).

- Ratanasavanh, D. *et al.* Intralobular distribution and quantitation of cytochrome P-450 enzymes in human liver as a function of age. *Hepatology* 13, 1142-1151 (1991).
- 244. Lamers,W.H., Gaasbeek Janzen,J.W., Kortschot,A.T., Charles,R. & Moorman,A.F. Development of enzymic zonation in liver parenchyma is related to development of acinar architecture. *Differentiation* **35**, 228-235 (1987).
- 245. Oinonen, T. & Lindros, K.O. Zonation of hepatic cytochrome P-450 expression and regulation. *Biochem. J.* **329** (**Pt 1**), 17-35 (1998).
- Buhler, R., Lindros, K.O., Nordling, A., Johansson, I. & Ingelman-Sundberg, M. Zonation of cytochrome P450 isozyme expression and induction in rat liver. *Eur. J. Biochem* 204, 407-412 (1992).
- 247. Kera,Y., Sippel,H.W., Penttila,K.E. & Lindros,K.O. Acinar distribution of glutathione-dependent detoxifying enzymes. Low glutathione peroxidase activity in perivenous hepatocytes. *Biochem Pharmacol.* **36**, 2003-2006 (1987).
- 248. Bengtsson,G., Julkunen,A., Penttila,K.E. & Lindros,K.O. Effect of phenobarbital on the distribution of drug metabolizing enzymes between periportal and perivenous rat hepatocytes prepared by digitonin-collagenase liver perfusion. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* **240**, 663-667 (1987).
- 249. Lindros, K.O. Zonation of cytochrome P450 expression, drug metabolism and toxicity in liver. *Gen. Pharmacol.* **28**, 191-196 (1997).
- 250. Lave, T., Coassolo, P. & Reigner, B. Prediction of hepatic metabolic clearance based on interspecies allometric scaling techniques and in vitro-in vivo correlations. *Clin. Pharmacokinet.* **36**, 211-231 (1999).
- 251. Ito,K. & Houston,J.B. Prediction of human drug clearance from in vitro and preclinical data using physiologically based and empirical approaches. *Pharm. Res.* **22**, 103-112 (2005).
- 252. Obach,R.S. Prediction of human clearance of twenty-nine drugs from hepatic microsomal intrinsic clearance data: An examination of in vitro half-life approach and nonspecific binding to microsomes. *Drug Metab Dispos.* **27**, 1350-1359 (1999).
- 253. Carlile, D.J., Zomorodi, K. & Houston, J.B. Scaling factors to relate drug metabolic clearance in hepatic microsomes, isolated hepatocytes, and the intact liver: studies with induced livers involving diazepam. *Drug Metab Dispos.* **25**, 903-911 (1997).
- 254. Boxenbaum, H. Interspecies pharmacokinetic scaling and the evolutionarycomparative paradigm. *Drug Metab Rev.* **15**, 1071-1121 (1984).

- 255. Nagilla, R. & Ward, K.W. A comprehensive analysis of the role of correction factors in the allometric predictivity of clearance from rat, dog, and monkey to humans. *J. Pharm. Sci.* **93**, 2522-2534 (2004).
- 256. Knibbe,C.A., Zuideveld,K.P., Aarts,L.P., Kuks,P.F. & Danhof,M. Allometric relationships between the pharmacokinetics of propofol in rats, children and adults. *Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol.* **59**, 705-711 (2005).
- 257. Andersen, M.E. Development of physiologically based pharmacokinetic and physiologically based pharmacodynamic models for applications in toxicology and risk assessment. *Toxicol Lett.* **79**, 35-44 (1995).
- 258. Iwatsubo, T. *et al.* Prediction of in vivo hepatic metabolic clearance of YM796 from in vitro data by use of human liver microsomes and recombinant P-450 isozymes. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* **282**, 909-919 (1997).
- 259. Cresteil, T. Regulation of drug-metabolizing enzymes during the perinatal period in rat and human liver. *Bioessays* **7**, 120-124 (1987).
- Gonzalez-Jasso, E. *et al.* CYP2E1 regulation by benzene and other small organic chemicals in rat liver and peripheral lymphocytes. *Toxicol. Lett.* 144, 55-67 (2003).
- Wauthier, V., Verbeeck, R.K. & Buc, C.P. Age-related changes in the protein and mRNA levels of CYP2E1 and CYP3A isoforms as well as in their hepatic activities in Wistar rats. What role for oxidative stress? *Arch. Toxicol* 78, 131-138 (2004).
- Wu,D. & Cederbaum,A.I. Ethanol consumption by the nursing mother induces cytochrome P-4502E1 in neonatal rat liver. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* 267, 560-566 (1993).
- Umeno, M., McBride, O.W., Yang, C.S., Gelboin, H.V. & Gonzalez, F.J. Human ethanol-inducible P450IIE1: complete gene sequence, promoter characterization, chromosome mapping, and cDNA-directed expression. *Biochemistry* 27, 9006-9013 (1988).
- Umeno, M., Song, B.J., Kozak, C., Gelboin, H.V. & Gonzalez, F.J. The rat P450IIE1 gene: complete intron and exon sequence, chromosome mapping, and correlation of developmental expression with specific 5' cytosine demethylation. *J. Biol. Chem* 263, 4956-4962 (1988).
- 265. Sueyoshi, T., Kawamoto, T., Zelko, I., Honkakoski, P. & Negishi, M. The repressed nuclear receptor CAR responds to phenobarbital in activating the human CYP2B6 gene. *J. Biol. Chem* **274**, 6043-6046 (1999).

- Wei,P., Zhang,J., Egan-Hafley,M., Liang,S. & Moore,D.D. The nuclear receptor CAR mediates specific xenobiotic induction of drug metabolism. *Nature* 407, 920-923 (2000).
- 267. Moore, J.T. & Kliewer, S.A. Use of the nuclear receptor PXR to predict drug interactions. *Toxicology* **153**, 1-10 (2000).
- 268. Blake, M.J., Castro, L., Leeder, J.S. & Kearns, G.L. Ontogeny of drug metabolizing enzymes in the neonate. *Semin. Fetal Neonatal Med.* **10**, 123-138 (2005).
- Iba,M.M., Soyka,L.F. & Schulman,M.P. Characteristics of the liver microsomal drug-metabolizing enzyme system of newborn rats. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 13, 1092-1104 (1977).
- 270. Lowry,O., Rosebrough N, Farr,A. & Randall,R. Protein measurement with the Folin phenol reagent. *J. Biol. Chem.* **193**, 265-275 (1951).
- 271. Omura, T. & Sato, R. The carbon monoxide-binding pigment of liver microsomes. I. Evidence for its hemeprotein nature. *J. Biol. Chem.* **239**, 2370-2378 (1964).
- Court MH, Von Moltke, L.L., Shader, R.I. & Greenblatt, D.J. Biotransformation of chlorzoxazone by hepatic microsomes from humans and ten other mammalian species. *Biopharm. Drug Dispos.* 18, 213-226 (1997).
- Elbarbry, F., Wilby, K. & Alcorn, J. Validation of a HPLC method for the determination of p-nitrophenol hydroxylase activity in rat hepatic microsomes. J *Chromatogr. B Analyt. Technol. Biomed. Life Sci.* 834 (1-2), 199-203 (2006).
- 274. Hanioka,N., Tatarazako,N., Jinno,H., Arizono,K. & Ando,M. Determination of cytochrome P450 1A activities in mammalian liver microsomes by highperformance liquid chromatography with fluorescence detection. *J. Chromatogr. B Biomed. Sci. Appl.* 744, 399-406 (2000).
- Habig, W.H., Pabst, M.J. & Jakoby, W.B. Glutathione S-transferases. The first enzymatic step in mercapturic acid formation. J. Biol. Chem. 249, 7130-7139 (1974).
- 276. Hahn-Obercyger, M., Stark, A.H. & Madar, Z. Grapefruit and oroblanco enhance hepatic detoxification enzymes in rats: possible role in protection against chemical carcinogenesis. J. Agric. Food Chem. 53, 1828-1832 (2005).
- Laemmli,U.K., Beguin,F. & Gujer-Kellenberger,G. A factor preventing the major head protein of bacteriophage T4 from random aggregation. J. Mol. Biol. 47, 69-85 (1970).
- 278. Wan, J., Ernstgard, L., Song, B.J. & Shoaf, S.E. Chlorzoxazone metabolism is increased in fasted Sprague-Dawley rats. *J Pharm. Pharmacol.* **58**, 51-61 (2006).

- 279. Leclercq,I., Horsmans,Y. & Desager,J.P. Estimation of chlorzoxazone hydroxylase activity in liver microsomes and of the plasma pharmacokinetics of chlorzoxazone by the same high-performance liquid chromatographic method. *J. Chromatogr. A* **828**, 291-296 (1998).
- Kobayashi,K., Urashima,K., Shimada,N. & Chiba,K. Substrate specificity for rat cytochrome P450 (CYP) isoforms: screening with cDNA-expressed systems of the rat. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 63, 889-896 (2002).
- Renwick,A.G., Dorne,J.L. & Walton,K. An analysis of the need for an additional uncertainty factor for infants and children. *Regul. Toxicol Pharmacol.* 31, 286-296 (2000).
- 282. Dorman,D.C. *et al.* Methods to identify and characterize developmental neurotoxicity for human health risk assessment. III: pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic considerations. *Environ. Health Perspect.* **109 Suppl 1**, 101-111 (2001).
- 283. Brent,R.L. Utilization of juvenile animal studies to determine the human effects and risks of environmental toxicants during postnatal developmental stages. *Birth Defects Res. B Dev. Reprod. Toxicol* **71**, 303-320 (2004).
- 284. Barton, H.A. *et al.* Assessing susceptibility from early-life exposure to carcinogens. *Environ. Health Perspect.* **113**, 1125-1133 (2005).
- 285. Kearns,G.L. & Reed,M.D. Clinical pharmacokinetics in infants and children. A reappraisal. *Clin. Pharmacokinet.* **17 Suppl 1**, 29-67 (1989).
- 286. Kishi,R., Sata,F., Katakura,Y., Wang,R.S. & Nakajima,T. Effects of pregnancy, age and sex in the metabolism of styrene in rat liver in relation to the regulation of cytochrome P450 enzymes. *J. Occup. Health* **47**, 49-55 (2005).
- Chen,Y.Y., Chen,C.M., Chao,P.Y., Chang,T.J. & Liu,J.F. Effects of frying oil and Houttuynia cordata thunb on xenobiotic-metabolizing enzyme system of rodents. *World J. Gastroenterol.* 11, 389-392 (2005).
- 288. Wilson,Z.E. *et al.* Inter-individual variability in levels of human microsomal protein and hepatocellularity per gram of liver. *Br. J Clin Pharmacol.* **56**, 433-440 (2003).
- 289. Schmucker, D.L. *et al.* Effects of age and gender on in vitro properties of human liver microsomal monooxygenases. *Clin Pharmacol. Ther.* **48**, 365-374 (1990).
- Lipscomb,J.C., Teuschler L & Swartout J. Variance of Microsomal Protein and Cytochrome P450 2E1 and 3A Forms in Adult Human Liver. *Toxicol Mechanisms Meth* 13, 45-51 (2003).

- 291. Baarnhielm,C., Dahlback,H. & Skanberg,I. In vivo pharmacokinetics of felodipine predicted from in vitro studies in rat, dog and man. *Acta Pharmacol. Toxicol (Copenh)* 59, 113-122 (1986).
- 292. Hakooz, N. *et al.* Determination of a human hepatic microsomal scaling factor for predicting in vivo drug clearance. *Pharm. Res.* **23**, 533-539 (2006).
- 293. Pollak, J.K. & Duck-Chong, C.G. Changes in rat liver mitochondria and endoplasmic reticulum during development and differentiation. *Enzyme* **15**, 139-160 (1973).
- 294. Dallner, G., Siekevitz, P. & Palade, G.E. Biogenesis of endoplasmic reticulum membranes. I. Structural and chemical differentiation in developing rat hepatocyte. *J Cell Biol* **30**, 73-96 (1966).
- 295. Dallner,G., Siekevitz,P. & Palade,G.E. Biogenesis of endoplasmic reticulum membranes. II. Synthesis of constitutive microsomal enzymes in developing rat hepatocyte. *J Cell Biol* **30**, 97-117 (1966).
- 296. Ito,K., Iwatsubo,T., Kanamitsu,S., Nakajima,Y. & Sugiyama,Y. Quantitative prediction of in vivo drug clearance and drug interactions from in vitro data on metabolism, together with binding and transport. *Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol* 38, 461-499 (1998).
- 297. Liederer, B.M., Phan, K.T., Ouyang, H. & Borchardt, R.T. Significant differences in the disposition of cyclic prodrugs of opioid peptides in rats and guinea pigs following IV administration. *J Pharm. Sci.* **94**, 2676-2687 (2005).
- 298. Sun,H., Huang,Y., Frassetto,L. & Benet,L.Z. Effects of uremic toxins on hepatic uptake and metabolism of erythromycin. *Drug Metab Dispos.* **32**, 1239-1246 (2004).
- Tassaneeyakul, W., Veronese, M.E., Birkett, D.J. & Miners, J.O. High-performance liquid chromatographic assay for 4-nitrophenol hydroxylation, a putative cytochrome P-4502E1 activity, in human liver microsomes. *J. Chromatogr.* 616, 73-78 (1993).
- Lu,A.Y., Wang,R.W. & Lin,J.H. Cytochrome P450 in vitro reaction phenotyping: a re-evaluation of approaches used for P450 isoform identification. *Drug Metab Dispos.* 31, 345-350 (2003).
- Kalvass, J.C., Tess, D.A., Giragossian, C., Linhares, M.C. & Maurer, T.S. Influence of microsomal concentration on apparent intrinsic clearance: implications for scaling in vitro data. *Drug Metab Dispos.* 29, 1332-1336 (2001).
- 302. Margolis, J.M. & Obach, R.S. Impact of nonspecific binding to microsomes and phospholipid on the inhibition of cytochrome P4502D6: implications for relating

in vitro inhibition data to in vivo drug interactions. *Drug Metab Dispos.* **31**, 606-611 (2003).

- 303. Irwin H.Segel. Enzyme kinetics : behavior and analysis of rapid equilibrium and steady state enzyme systems. Wiley, New York (1975).
- 304. Romer, J. & Bickel, M.H. A method to estimate binding constants at variable protein concentrations. *J Pharm. Pharmacol.* **31**, 7-11 (1979).
- 305. Kapitulnik, J., Weil, E. & Rabinowitz, R. Glucocorticoids increase the fluidity of the fetal-rat liver microsomal membrane in the perinatal period. *Biochem J* 239, 41-45 (1986).
- 306. Kapitulnik, J., Tshershedsky M & Barenholz Y. Microsomes, Drug Oxidations, and Chemical Carcinogens. Minor J et al. (eds.), pp. 549-562 (Academic Press, New York, 1980).
- 307. Tang, W., Wang, R.W. & Lu, A.Y. Utility of recombinant cytochrome p450 enzymes: a drug metabolism perspective. *Curr. Drug Metab* 6, 503-517 (2005).
- 308. Iba,M.M. *et al.* Effect of gestational and lactational 2,3,7, 8-tetrachlorodibenzo-pdioxin exposure on the level and catalytic activities of hepatic microsomal CYP1A in prepubertal and adult rats. *Biochem Pharmacol.* 59, 1147-1154 (2000).
- Eliasson, E., Mkrtchian, S. & Ingelman-Sundberg, M. Hormone- and substrateregulated intracellular degradation of cytochrome P450 (2E1) involving MgATPactivated rapid proteolysis in the endoplasmic reticulum membranes. *J Biol Chem* 267, 15765-15769 (1992).
- 310. Oesch-Bartlomowicz, B. & Oesch, F. Cytochrome-P450 phosphorylation as a functional switch. *Arch. Biochem Biophys.* **409**, 228-234 (2003).
- Nong A, McCarver, D.G., Hines, R.N. & Krishnan K. Modeling interchild differnces in pharmacokinetics on the basis of subject-specific data on physiology and hepatic CYP2E1 levels: A case study with toluene. *Toxicol Appl.Pharmacol.* 214 (1), 78-87 (2006).
- Ikeya,K. *et al.* Human CYP1A2: sequence, gene structure, comparison with the mouse and rat orthologous gene, and differences in liver 1A2 mRNA expression. *Mol. Endocrinol* **3**, 1399-1408 (1989).
- 313. Rockich,K. & Blouin,R. Effect of the acute-phase response on the pharmacokinetics of chlorzoxazone and cytochrome P-450 2E1 in vitro activity in rats. *Drug Metab Dispos.* 27, 1074-1077 (1999).

- 314. Clewell,H.J. *et al.* Review and evaluation of the potential impact of age- and gender-specific pharmacokinetic differences on tissue dosimetry. *Crit Rev. Toxicol* **32**, 329-389 (2002).
- 315. Jarabek,A.M., Asgharian,B. & Miller,F.J. Dosimetric adjustments for interspecies extrapolation of inhaled poorly soluble particles (PSP). *Inhal. Toxicol* **17**, 317-334 (2005).
- Johnson, T.N. The development of drug metabolising enzymes and their influence on the susceptibility to adverse drug reactions in children. *Toxicology* **192**, 37-48 (2003).
- 317. Snell,K. Developmental Toxicology. K,S. (ed.), pp. 301-339 (Croom Helm, London,1982).
- 318. Chappell,W. & Mordenti,J. Advances in Drug Research., pp. 1-116 (Academic Press, San Diego, 1991).
- 319. Waddell,C.A. & Desai,I.D. The use of laboratory animals in nutrition research. *World Rev. Nutr Diet.* **36**, 206-222 (1981).
- 320. Ueno, T. & Gonzalez, F.J. Transcriptional control of the rat hepatic CYP2E1 gene. *Mol. Cell Biol.* **10**, 4495-4505 (1990).
- 321. Komori, M. *et al.* Fetus-specific expression of a form of cytochrome P-450 in human livers. *Biochemistry* **29**, 4430-4433 (1990).
- 322. Giachelli,C.M. & Omiecinski,C.J. Developmental regulation of cytochrome P-450 genes in the rat. *Mol. Pharmacol.* **31**, 477-484 (1987).
- 323. Couroucli,X.I., Liang,Y.W., Jiang,W., Barrios,R. & Moorthy,B. Attenuation of oxygen-induced abnormal lung maturation in rats by retinoic acid: possible role of cytochrome P4501A enzymes. *J Pharmacol. Exp Ther.* **317**, 946-954 (2006).
- 324. Johnsrud, E.K. *et al.* Human hepatic CYP2E1 expression during development. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* **307**, 402-407 (2003).
- Chow, T., Imaoka, S., Hiroi, T. & Funae, Y. Developmental changes in the catalytic activity and expression of CYP2D isoforms in the rat liver. *Drug Metab Dispos.* 27, 188-192 (1999).
- 326. Balasubramaniyan, N., Shahid, M., Suchy, F.J. & Ananthanarayanan, M. Multiple mechanisms of ontogenic regulation of nuclear receptors during rat liver development. *Am. J Physiol Gastrointest. Liver Physiol* **288**, G251-G260 (2005).
- 327. Jahn,F., Reuter,A., Karge,E., Danz,M. & Klinger,W. Age dependent different influence of carbon tetrachloride on biotransformation of xenobiotics, glutathione

content, lipid peroxidation and histopathology of rat liver. *Exp Toxicol Pathol.* **45**, 101-107 (1993).

- 328. Anand,S.S. *et al.* Characterization of deltamethrin metabolism by rat plasma and liver microsomes. *Toxicol Appl. Pharmacol.* **212**, 156-166 (2006).
- 329. Anand,S.S. *et al.* Ontogeny of hepatic and plasma metabolism of deltamethrin in vitro: role in age-dependent acute neurotoxicity. *Drug Metab Dispos.* **34**, 389-397 (2006).
- Jacqz-Aigrain, E. & Cresteil, T. Cytochrome P450-dependent metabolism of dextromethorphan: fetal and adult studies. *Dev. Pharmacol. Ther.* 18, 161-168 (1992).
- Anundi, I., Lahteenmaki, T., Rundgren, M., Moldeus, P. & Lindros, K.O. Zonation of acetaminophen metabolism and cytochrome P450 2E1-mediated toxicity studied in isolated periportal and perivenous hepatocytes. *Biochem Pharmacol.* 45, 1251-1259 (1993).
- 332. Huang, W. *et al.* Soy protein isolate increases hepatic thyroid hormone receptor content and inhibits its binding to target genes in rats. *J Nutr* **135**, 1631-1635 (2005).
- 333. Thais de Castro Barbosa, Leonice Lourenco Poyares & Maria Tereza Nunes. Chronic oral administration of arginine induces GH gene expression and insulin resistance. Life Sci. 2006 (in press).
- Gyamfi,M.A., Tanaka,T. & Aniya,Y. Selective suppression of cytochrome P450 gene expression by the medicinal herb, Thonningia sanguinea in rat liver. *Life Sci.* 74, 1723-1737 (2004).

# **Appendix I**

# Ontogeny of Hepatic and Renal Systemic Clearance Pathways in Infants Part II

## Jane Alcorn and Patrick J. McNamara

Division of Pharmaceutical Sciences, College of Pharmacy, University of Kentucky, Lexington, Kentucky, USA

## Contents

Abstract								1077
1 Theoretical Framewo	ork of Clearance Co	ncents				 	 	 1078
1.1 Hepatic Cleara	nca					 	 	 1070
1.1 Liptripsic Ck	earance as a Euncti	on of Enzvi	ne Activ	/itv		 	 	 1079
1.1.2 Hopatic Sc	ediance as a ranch edian Easter	On or crizyi		iy .		 	 	 1000
1.1.2 Repaire se	Sealing Factor					 	 	 1000
1.1.3 Onlogeny	Scaling Factor					 	 • • •	 1001
1.1.4 Infant Sca	ing factor	 Information and	· · · ·			 	 • • •	 . 1081
1.1.5 Developm	ental Model for the	intant sca	ing Faci	or		 	 • • •	 . 1081
1.2 Renal Clearanc	е					 	 • • •	 . 1082
1.3 Systemic Cleard	ance					 	 •••	 . 1082
2. Data Analysis						 	 •••	 . 1083
2.1 Infant Hepatic	Metabolic Clearanc	е				 	 •••	 . 1083
2.1.1 Relative He	epatic Scaling Facto	or				 	 • • •	 . 1084
2.1.2 Ontogeny	Scaling Factor					 	 	 . 1085
2.1.3 Infant Sca	ling Factor					 	 	 . 1085
2.1.4 Predicted	Values for Infant He	patic Meto	ibolic C	learan	ce	 	 	 . 1085
2.2 Hepatic Blood F	low					 	 	 . 1086
2.3 Renal Clearanc	е					 	 	 . 1087
2.4 Plasma Protein I	Binding					 	 	 . 1088
<ol><li>Application of the In</li></ol>	ifant Model					 	 	 . 1088
3.1 Cvtochrome P4	50 Enzvme-Mediate	d Clearan	се			 	 	 . 1088
3.1.1 CYP1A2						 	 	 . 1089
3.1.2 CYP2C						 	 	 1090
3.1.3 CVP2D6						 	 	 1090
3.1.4 CVP3A4						 	 	 1090
3.2 Repai Clearana	·····					 	 	 1001
3.3 Model Limitation	~					 	 	 1001
4 Conclusion						 	 	 1002
4. Conclusion						 	 	 . 1092

## Abstract

Maturation of drug systemic clearance mechanisms during the postnatal period produces dramatic and rapid changes in an infant's capacity to eliminate drugs. A tentative general mathematical model describing the ontogeny of hepatic cytochrome P450 (CYP) enzyme-mediated clearance and renal clearance due to glomerular filtration in the first 6 months of life was elaborated from age-specific *in vitro* hepatic microsomal activity data (normalised to amount of hepatic microsomal protein) for enzyme-specific probe substrates and *in vivo* probe substrate data for glomerular filtration (normalised to bodyweight), respectively. The model predicts an age- and clearance pathway-specific Infant Scaling Factor (ISF) for the first 6 months of life. The ISF reflects functional maturation of a specific clearance pathway (normalised to bodyweight) relative to adult values. Therefore, the ISF directly correlates adult clearance values with an infant's capacity to eliminate drugs. Substitution of appropriate model parameter estimates and the age of the infant into the model provides an estimated ISF value, which may then be used to predict the contribution of a particular clearance pathway to total systemic clearance in the infant when adult systemic clearance values are known.

The model was tested for its ability to predict infant systemic clearance of drugs whose elimination is principally mediated by a single CYP enzyme or by glomerular filtration. The model performed reasonably well for CYP1A2 and CYP3A4, but poorer predictions were obtained for CYP2D6 and CYP2C because of lack of model complexity and/or inadequate hepatic microsomal activity data to fully describe the maturational process of functional enzyme. For renal clear-ance due to glomerular filtration, data normalised to bodyweight (kg) showed a limited maturational trend, suggesting that adult renal clearances normalised to bodyweight might reasonably predict infant renal clearances in the first 6 months of life. The model provided reasonable predictions of renal clearance due to glomerular filtration in the infant.

As described in part I of this review,<sup>[1]</sup> dramatic and rapid improvements in the efficiency of drug elimination occur during the first months of postnatal development. The consequences of clearance pathway ontogenesis remain incompletely known because of the paucity of clinical pharmacokinetic data specific for infant populations. Recently, in vitro data for cytochrome P450 (CYP) enzyme activity in fetal and infant livers and in vivo data for probe substrates of renal function have become available.[1] Part II of this review uses data presented in part I to develop a tentative general mathematical model that describes the ontogeny of individual systemic clearance pathways in the infant up to the first 6 months of life. This model may help to estimate an infant's capacity to eliminate a drug when age-specific clinical pharmacokinetic data are lacking.

As highlighted in part I of the review, developmental patterns of most hepatic and renal elimination pathways exhibit an age-dependent increase until an asymptotic state is reached at the adult level. This maturation pattern parallels the devel-

opmental pattern observed with many other biological processes. Consequently, mathematical equations that describe the developmental pattern of biological processes in general<sup>[2]</sup> were modified to mathematically describe the maturation of renal glomerular filtration and hepatic CYP enzymemediated metabolism in the first 6 months of life. In vivo marker substrate data for glomerular filtration efficiency and in vitro-in vivo extrapolation of hepatic microsomal activity data in infant livers were used to develop this tentative model describing the development of these systemic clearance pathways. The theoretical basis for extrapolating in vitro hepatic microsomal enzyme activity data to in vivo CYP enzyme-specific hepatic clearance is well established in the literature, [3-13] and similar approaches were applied in the present paper.

### 1. Theoretical Framework of Clearance Concepts

Drug response often correlates well with steady state plasma drug concentrations. Following an infusion regimen, the steady-state concentration  $(C_{ss})$  is determined by the infusion rate  $(R_0)$  and systemic clearance (CL) [equation 1a]. Similarly, bioavailability (F), dose (D), administration interval  $(\tau)$  and CL determine the average steady-state plasma concentration of a drug  $(\overline{C})$  during sustained oral administration (equation 1b). Systemic clearance reflects the efficiency of elimination pathways and plays a pivotal role in determining the steady state plasma drug concentration and corresponding response in the infant.

Equation 1a:

$$C_{SS} = \frac{R_0}{CL}$$

Equation 1b:

$$\bar{C} = \frac{FD_{\tau}}{CL}$$

Since most drugs are eliminated from the body by hepatic and/or renal clearance mechanisms, systemic drug clearance becomes an additive function of hepatic ( $CL_H$ ) and renal ( $CL_R$ ) elimination pathways (equation 2). The exact contribution of each pathway to systemic clearance is drugspecific.

 $CL = CL_H + CL_R$ 

A comparison of clearance pathways between adults and infants must consider the large differences in body size and elimination organ mass. To minimise size-associated differences in pharmacokinetic estimates, the literature generally reports clearance estimates normalised to bodyweight. Clearance pathway comparisons between the adult and the infant must not only consider differences in body and organ size, but must additionally acknowledge the influence of elimination pathway ontogenesis. This developmental phenomenon is the main focus of the paper.

#### 1.1 Hepatic Clearance

In addition to hepatic enzyme activity, nonenzymatic factors determine the *in vivo* hepatic clearance of a drug. The well-stirred model of hepatic clearance offers a simple model describing the interrelationships between all physiological determinants that govern hepatic clearance (equation 3):

$$CL_{H} = \frac{Q_{H}f_{u}CL_{int}}{Q_{H} + f_{u}CL_{int}}$$

where  $Q_H$  represents hepatic blood flow,  $f_u$  is the fraction of drug unbound in plasma and  $CL_{int}$  is intrinsic clearance.<sup>[14,15]</sup> Each physiological determinant undergoes maturation whose rate of change may be described by some developmental rate process. This paper principally focuses on the development of enzyme activity as the primary determinant of hepatic clearance in infants.

#### 1.1.1 Intrinsic Clearance as a Function of Enzyme Activity

Most drugs are low hepatic clearance drugs. Hepatic enzyme activity, and not hepatic blood flow, is the rate-limiting step in the hepatic elimination of low clearance drugs (equation 3). Intrinsic clearance ( $CL_{int}$ ) is a measure of the total metabolic enzyme activity towards a drug and represents the sum of all individual pathways of metabolism involved in hepatic elimination of that drug ( $\Sigma CL_{int}$ ). Consequently, for low clearance drugs, hepatic clearance becomes the sum of all individual intrinsic clearance terms ( $CL_{int(j)}$ ) governing the various pathways of drug metabolism (equation 4):

$$\mathrm{CL}_{H} \Rightarrow f_{u}\mathrm{CL}_{int} = f_{u}\sum_{j=1}^{n}\mathrm{CL}_{int(j)}$$

Typically, one or more metabolic processes (i.e. hydroxylation; reduction) or enzymes contribute to the hepatic metabolic elimination of most drugs.

In vivo intrinsic clearance may be expressed in terms of the *in vivo* Michaelis-Menten enzyme parameters shown in equation 5:

$$\mathrm{CL}_{int(j)} = \frac{\mathrm{V}^{*}_{max(j)}}{\mathrm{K}_{m(j)} + \mathrm{f}_{u}\mathrm{C}}$$

© Adis International Limited. All rights reserved.

where the *in vivo*  $V_{max(j)}^*$  represents the maximal enzyme rate,  $K_{m(j)}$  is the plasma drug concentration at half maximal activity,  $f_u$  is the unbound fraction of drug and C is the plasma drug concentration. Under linear conditions (i.e.  $K_{m(j)} > f_uC$ ), equation 5 simplifies to equation 6:

$$CL_{int(j)} = \frac{V_{max(j)}^*}{K_{m(j)}}$$

In vivo CL<sub>int(j)</sub> may be predicted from *in vitro* estimates of CL<sub>int</sub> using *in vitro-in vivo* extrapolation methods described in the literature.<sup>[3-13]</sup>

#### 1.1.2 Hepatic Scaling Factor

Intrinsic clearance serves as the foundation for the *in vitro-in vivo* extrapolation of hepatic microsomal enzyme activity data.<sup>[3]</sup> Extrapolations are possible because, in general, a proportional relationship exists between both the *in vivo*  $V^*_{max(j)}$  parameter (which has units of activity per kg bodyweight) and the *in vitro*  $V_{max(j)}$  parameter (which has units of activity per mg of microsomal protein). The *in vitro* CL<sub>int</sub> (i.e.  $V_{max(j)}/K_{m(j)}$ ) may predict the *in vivo* CL<sub>int</sub> when appropriate hepatic scaling factors (HSF) are applied (equation 7):

$$CL_{int(j)} = \frac{V_{max(j)}^*}{K_{m(j)}} = \frac{HSFV_{max(j)}}{K_{m(j)}}$$

The HSF accounts for the contribution of hepatic microsomal protein content and liver weight normalised to body size to the metabolic function of the whole liver and has units of mg of microsomal protein per kg bodyweight. Hepatic scaling factors must be calculated for each infant age group and for adults prior to extrapolation of *in vitro* metabolism data to account for age-dependent growth processes in infants.

Infants possess a genetically similar complement of hepatic drug-metabolising enzymes as the adult. A basic underlying assumption in the development of the model is the  $K_{m(j)}$  value for a particular CYP enzyme remains constant with adult values throughout infant development. As well, infants and adults express the same complement of hepatic CYP enzymes; therefore, activity levels do not reflect differences in the affinity of the enzyme for a particular substrate. Rather, functional immaturity of the specific CYP enzyme and agedependent growth processes (HSF) explain the observed differences in CL<sub>int(j)</sub> between the infant and adult. If these assumptions hold true, then equation 7 yields equation 8a and equation 8b for the infant and the adult, respectively:

Equation 8a:

$$\label{eq:clinfant} \mathrm{CL}_{int(j)}^{infant} = \frac{\mathrm{HSF}^{infant} \ \mathrm{V}_{max(j)}^{infant}}{\mathrm{K}_{m(j)}}$$

Equation 8b:

$$CL_{int(j)}^{adult} = \frac{HSF^{adult} V_{max(j)}^{infant}}{K_{m(j)}}$$

Since adult and infant  $K_{m(j)}$  values are assumed to be similar, rearrangement of equation 8b and substitution for  $K_{m(j)}$  in equation 8a yields equation 9:

$$\begin{split} \mathrm{CL}_{int(j)}^{infant} &= \frac{\mathrm{HSF}^{infant}}{\mathrm{HSF}^{adult}} \frac{\mathrm{V}_{max(j)}^{infant}}{\mathrm{V}_{max(j)}^{adult}} \mathrm{CL}_{int(j)}^{adult} \\ &= \mathrm{RHSF}_{(t)} \frac{\mathrm{V}_{max(j)}^{infant}}{\mathrm{V}_{max(j)}^{adult}} \mathrm{CL}_{int(j)}^{adult} \end{split}$$

where  $RHSF_{(t)}$ , the relative hepatic scaling factor, is a unitless parameter that relates the abundance of microsomal protein content per bodyweight in the infant to the adult. Due to organ and body growth processes, RHSF may be a function of developmental age (t).

To calculate a  $\text{RHSF}_{(t)}$  for a particular infant age,  $\text{HSF}_{(t)}$  is estimated from the product of microsomal protein yield (MP; mg of microsomal protein per g of liver) and liver weight (LW; g) normalised to a bodyweight (BW; kg) as a function of t (equation 10):

$$HSF_{(t)} = MP \frac{LW_{(t)}}{BW_{(t)}}$$

Liver and body weight change as a function of age, and equation 11 approximates liver or body weight at any age, t (in days), from birth to the first year of life:

$$\begin{split} W_{(t)} &= W_0 + W_1 (1 - e^{-k_1 t}) \\ &+ (W_a - W_0 - W_1) (1 - e^{-k_2 t}) \end{split}$$

where  $W_{(t)}$  is the liver (g) or body (kg) weight at any age (days),  $W_0$  is the liver or body weight at birth,  $W_1$  is a fitted parameter,  $W_a$  is the average adult liver or body weight and  $k_1$  and  $k_2$  are the firstorder rate constants governing the age-dependent increase in the liver or body weight.

#### 1.1.3 Ontogeny Scaling Factor

Equation 9 suggests that infant intrinsic clearance may be predicted from knowledge of the agespecific RHSF, the relative magnitude of infant and adult Vmax terms, and the adult intrinsic clearance value for a given hepatic enzyme pathway. Unfortunately, this type of detailed in vitro (or in vivo) assessment is rarely available for paediatric populations. However, the literature presents some in vitro data on the relative abundance and functional activities (Vmax) of enzyme-specific model substrates for a number of hepatic drugmetabolising enzymes (see part I of this review).[1] If it is assumed that enzyme activity reflects the relative abundance of functional enzyme (J), then the ratio of Vmax values (infant to adult) of one substrate (s1) metabolised by enzyme J will be proportional to another J substrate (s2) as shown in equation 12:

$$OSF_{(j,t)} = \frac{V_{max\,(j,t),s1}^{infant}}{V_{max\,(j),s1}^{adult}} \propto \frac{V_{max\,(j,t),s2}^{infant}}{V_{max\,(j),s2}^{adult}} \propto \frac{J^{infant}}{J^{adult}}$$

where OSF is defined as an ontogeny scaling factor and represents the elimination capacity of a specific enzyme in the infant relative to the adult.  $OSF_{(j,t)}$  becomes a unitless fraction of adult activity and is a function of both infant age and the particular enzyme or elimination pathway (j) measured. If the assumption holds true, then differences in functional enzyme levels between infant and adult livers account solely for the differences in infant and adult enzyme activities  $(V_{max})$ , and maturation of CYP enzymes relates directly to enhancements in functional enzyme content.

#### 1.1.4 Infant Scaling Factor

Equation 13 proposes a model to estimate intrinsic clearance in the infant for a specific hepatic pathway:

$$\begin{split} \mathrm{CL}_{\mathrm{int}(j,t)}^{\mathrm{infant}} &= \mathrm{RHSF}_{(t)} \operatorname{OSF}_{(j,t)} \mathrm{CL}_{\mathrm{int}(j)}^{\mathrm{adult}} \\ &= \mathrm{ISF}_{(j,t)} \operatorname{CL}_{\mathrm{int}(j)}^{\mathrm{adult}} \end{split}$$

where  $ISF_{(j,t)}$ , the infant scaling factor, is the product of  $RHSF_{(t)}$  and  $OSF_{(j,t)}$ .  $ISF_{(j,t)}$  reflects the development of a specific functional enzyme normalised to a bodyweight. Therefore, a prediction of infant clearance due to a specific hepatic metabolic pathway may be made based on the relative contribution of that clearance pathway and the scaling factor for liver content  $(RHSF_{(t)})$  and ontogenesis of a specific enzyme  $(OSF_{(j,t)})$ .

#### 1.1.5 Developmental Model for the Infant Scaling Factor

The mathematical concepts underlying the ontogenesis of clearance pathways are similar to those described in modelling phenomena of developmental biology.<sup>[2]</sup> A general model describing the age-dependent increase in CYP enzyme-mediated systemic clearance in infants from birth to 6 months of age is shown in equation 14:

$$ISF_{(i,t)} = ISF_{(i,0)} + ISF_D(1 - e^{-k_1 t})$$

where  $ISF_{(j,t)}$  is the predicted hepatic CYP enzymespecific infant scaling activity *in vivo* at age t (in days),  $ISF_{(j,0)}$  is the scaled *in vivo* CYP enzyme activity present at birth,  $ISF_D$  is a fitted parameter and k<sub>1</sub> is the first-order rate constant describing the rate of increase in CYP enzyme pathway efficiency (day<sup>-1</sup>). Insufficient data prevented the development of a predictive model that could describe the ontogeny of CYP enzyme-mediated metabolism beyond the first 6 months of age, or predictive models for other non-CYP-mediated pathways.